
 
 

                       Meeting of the City Council 

Rochester Christmas Tree Lighting 
Central Square 

North Main Street 
6:00 PM 

 
Agenda 

 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Rochester Tree Lighting Ceremony taking place 5:30 PM – 6:30 
PM 

 
3. Adjournment  

 

 
Regular City Council Meeting 

December 5, 2023 
Council Chambers  

31 Wakefield Street 

Immediately following the Tree Lighting  
 

Agenda 
 

1. Call to Order   
 

2. Opening Prayer 
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance  
  

4. Roll Call 
 

5. Acceptance of Minutes 
 

5.1 Regular City Council Meeting: November 8, 2023 

consideration for approval P. 7  
   

6. Communications from the City Manager 
 

6.1  City Manager’s Report P. 85  
 

7.   Communications from the Mayor 

11/30/2023 

Page 1 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 2 of 150 



 
 

 

8.   Presentation of Petitions and Council Correspondence 
 

9. Nominations, Appointments, Resignations, and Elections 

 

9.1. Resignation: Dana Berlin, City Council Ward 6, Seat A 

consideration for approval P. 99 
 

   
  

 

     
 

  
 

  

 
 

 
 

  

 

 
 

   
 

   
 

10.3.1 Committee Recommendation: To approve the 
FY24 proposed paving list consideration for 

approval P. 130  
 

11. Unfinished Business 
 

11.1. Amendment to Chapter 7-83 of the General Ordinances 

of the City of Rochester Regarding the Code of Ethics and 
Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials – Board of 

Ethics second reading and consideration for adoption P. 135 
 

11.2. Amendments to Chapter 223 of the General Ordinances 
of the City of Rochester regarding Streets and Sidewalks 

second reading and consideration for adoption P. 33 

9.2.  Resignation:  Michael  Scala,  Ward  6  Selectman
consideration for approval P. 101

10. Reports  of  Committees

10.1  Finance Committee P. 103

10.1.1  Resolution  Authorizing  Supplemental
Appropriation  of  $45,000  to  the  Recreation 

Special  Events  Fund  –  Lilac  Family  Fun 

Festival  first   reading   and  refer   to
public hearing  12/19 P. 111

10.1.2  Resolution  Authorizing  the  Repurposing  of

One  Million  Five  Hundred  Thousand  Dollars
($1,500,000.00)  of   ARPA   Funds  first
reading and consideration for adoption P. 115

10.2  Planning  Board P. 117

10.3  Public Works P. 127

11/30/2023 

Page 3 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 4 of 150 



 
 

 

 Consent Calendar 
 

 New Business 
 

13.1. Resolution Deauthorizing $1,305.59 of the Rochester 

Police Department Highway Safety Mobilization Grant 
first reading and consideration for adoption P. 137 

 
13.2. Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of 

the City of Rochester Regarding the Capital 
Improvements Program Committee first reading and 

consideration for adoption P. 143 

 

13.3. Councilor Gray Agenda Item: City Council Ward 6, Seat 

A vacancy discussion  
 

  
 

     
 

  

11/30/2023 

Page 5 of 150 

12.

13.

14.

15.

Non-Meeting/Non-Public Session

Adjournment



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 6 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

1 
 

                                                         Regular City Council Meeting 

                                   November 8, 2023 
                                   Council Chambers 

                                            6:00 PM 
  

COUNCILORS PRESENT OTHERS PRESENT 
Councilor Beaudoin 
Councilor Berlin  
Councilor de Geofroy 
Councilor Desrochers 
Councilor Fontneau 
Councilor Gilman 

Katie Ambrose, City Manager 
Terence O’Rourke, City Attorney 
Mark Sullivan, Finance Director 
Peter Nourse, Director of City Services 
 

Councilor Gray 
Councilor Hainey 
Councilor Hamann 
Councilor Larochelle 
Councilor Malone 

     

Mayor Callaghan  
 
COUNCILORS EXCUSED 
Deputy Mayor Lachapelle 
 
 

 

  

Minutes 
 

 
1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Callaghan called the Regular City Council meeting to order at 
6:00 PM.  

 
2. Opening Prayer 

 
Mayor Callaghan asked all to stand for a moment of silence.  

 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
 Mayor Callaghan asked Councilor Beaudoin to lead the Pledge of 

Allegiance.  
  

4. Roll Call 
 

  Kelly Walters, City Clerk, took the roll call attendance. All Councilors 

were present except for Deputy Mayor Lachapelle who had been excused.  

11/30/2023 

Page 7 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

2 
 

 

5. Acceptance of Minutes 
   

5.1 Regular City Council Meeting: October 3, 2023 
consideration for approval  

 
Councilor Hainey MOVED to ACCEPT the October 3, 2023, Regular 

City Council meeting minutes. Councilor Fontneau seconded the motion. 
The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.  

 
5.2 Special City Council Meeting: October 17, 2023 

consideration for approval     
 

Councilor Hainey MOVED to ACCEPT the October 17, 2023, Special 
City Council meeting minutes. Councilor de Geofroy seconded the motion. 

The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.  

 
6.   Communications from the City Manager 

 
 Katie Ambrose, City Manager, thanked all volunteers who supported 

the Municipal Election for the City of Rochester. She announced that there 
was a 22.3% citywide voter turnout.  

 
City Manager Ambrose announced that the deadline to request a 

recount is extended by one day due to the observation of Veterans Day 
and that all potential recounts shall be held on November 18, 2023, at the 

Community Center.  
 

 City Manager Ambrose’s report is as follows:  
  

6.1  City Manager’s Report  

 
Contracts and documents executed since last month: 

 
• Department of Public Works 

• NHDOT Sidewalk Maintenance Agreement 
Rt202/Rt 11 Corridor  

• Change Order, Tara Estates Sewer Pump 
Station.  

• Change Order, Rt202A Water Main Extension & 
Tank project – D&C   

• Change Order #11, Rt 202A Water Main – D&C 
P.  

Estimate, Demolition Chlorinator Building – 

11/30/2023 

Page 8 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

3 
 

S.U.R. 

• Submetering Utility Billing Agreement – Prescott 
Estates MHP  

• Change Order, City Hall & Opera House egress 
remediation – Careno  

• Letter of Commitment, Household Hazardous 
Waste Day  

• Agreement for Engineering Services, Salmon 
Falls Sewer Pump Station – Weston & Sampson  

 
• Economic Development 

• FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Tradewind   
• FY24 CAP Weatherization , CDBG Grant  
• FY23-24 RHA Environmental Review  
• Contract for Economic Development Strategic 

Plan – RKG Services  
• FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Olde Farm Lane  

 
• Finance 

▪ Engineering Services/Ground Borings @ Nancy 
Loud School – S.W. Cole Engineering  
 

▪   Police 

▪ Agreement for engineering services, Dispatch 
renovations - Weston & Sampson  

 

                          The following standard report has been enclosed: 
 

o Personnel Action Report Summary  
 

7.  Communications from the Mayor  
 

  Mayor Callaghan announced an event to be held at the Rochester 
Common in honor of Veterans’ Day, November 11, 2023, starting at 11:00 AM.  

 
7.1. Citation of Merit – Rochester Firefighters, dispatchers, 

and paramedics   
 

  Chief Dube read the North Main Street Narrative (Addendum A) and 

presented several Citations of Merit from the State of NH for the following 
members of the Public Dispatch Safety Center, Frisbee EMS Partners, and 

members of the Rochester Fire Department:  
 

                   

Public Safety Dispatch Center: Fire Department:  

11/30/2023 

Page 9 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

4 
 

• Alisha Wood 

• Ellen Spicer 
 

Frisbie EMS: 
• Amanda Woodbury 

• Stephanie Ladd 
• John McClain 

• Bob Frechette 
• Dave Emmons 

• Jarod Wheeler 

• Joseph Burns 
• Eric Lenzi 

• Nick Marique 
• Patick Couch 

• Matthew Parker 
• Matthew Woodbury 

• Colin Hickman 
• Larry Coon 

• John Boodey 

 

 

 
8.   Presentation of Petitions and Council Correspondence 

 
     No discussion.  

 
9. Nominations, Appointments, Resignations, and Elections 

 
9.1. Municipal Election Vote Returns – Canvass of Votes 

motion to accept results 

 
 Kelly Walters, City Clerk, presented the Vote returns, which included 

the following write-in candidates being declared the winner of their races as 
follows:  

• Ward 2 
o Ward Clerk 

▪ Shelly Back (9 Votes) 
o Selectman 

▪ Dennis Jepsen (18 Votes) 
 

• Ward 3  
o Supervisor of the Checklist 

▪ Aiden Ankarberg (13 Votes) 
 

• Ward 6 

o Moderator 
▪ Sara Eames (6 Votes) 

    
 Ms. Walters said with the canvass of votes this evening, the Filing 

Period for requesting a recount would be open until Thursday, November 
16, 2023, at 5:00 PM.   She added that all recounts shall be scheduled to 

occur on Saturday, November 18, 2023, at the James Foley Community 
Center. The starting time of the recounts shall be announced soon.  

11/30/2023 

Page 10 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

5 
 

 

 Attorney O’Rourke gave a brief description of how a tie vote would 
be handled “by lot” once the recount is completed. The winner shall be 

determined through the process of a simple bingo drawing, whereas 
numbers 1 through 20 shall be placed in a bingo drum. Each candidate will 

be assigned the even or odd numbers. The first number drawn shall 
determine the winner, based upon whether even or odd.   

 
 Councilor Beaudoin MOVED to accept the tie breaking process as 

proposed by the City Attorney. Councilor Hamann seconded the motion. 
The Council briefly discussed the matter. The MOTION CARRIED by a 

unanimous voice vote.  
 

 Councilor Desrochers MOVED to ACCEPT the Vote Returns as 
presented by the City Clerk. Councilor de Geofroy seconded the motion. 

The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.   

 
10 Reports of Committee  

 
10.1    Appointments Review Committee:  

 
10.1.1 Appointment: Dennis Raymond – Conservation 

Commission, Seat I, New Alternate member, 
term to expire 1/2/2025 consideration for 

approval  
 

 Mayor Callaghan MOVED to APPOINT Dennis Raymond to the  
Conservation Commission, Seat I, as a New Alternate Member, with a 

term to expire on January 2, 2025. Councilor Hamann seconded the 
motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.  

 

10.1.2 Reappointment: Alexandra Van Binsbergen – 
Recreation & Arena, Seat C, Regular Member, 

term to expire 1/2/2026 consideration for 
approval  

 
10.1.3 Reappointment: Kevin Barry – Recreation & 

Arena, Seat D, Regular Member, term to expire 
1/2/2027 consideration for approval  

 
10.1.4 Reappointment: Dale Bickford – Recreation & 

Arena, Seat F, Regular Member, term to expire 
1/2/2027 consideration for approval  

 

11/30/2023 

Page 11 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

6 
 

 Mayor Callaghan said if there are no objections, he would call for a 

vote on all three reappointments as stated above. Mayor Callaghan asked 
for a vote on all three reappointments. The MOTION CARRIED by a 

unanimous voice vote.  
 

10.2 Codes & Ordinances Committee 
  

10.2.1 Amendment to Chapter 7-35 of the General 
Ordinances of the City of Rochester Regarding 

the Economic Development Commission first 
reading and consideration for adoption   

 
  Mayor Callaghan read the Amendment by title only as follows:  

 

Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of 

 the City of Rochester Regarding 

 the Economic Development Commission 

THE CITY OF ROCHESTER ORDAINS: 
 

That Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester and 

currently before the Rochester City Council, be amended as follows 

(deletions struckout additions in RED): 

§ 7-35 Economic Development Commission. 

A. The Economic Development Commission shall consist of 11 members, 

two of which members shall be ex officio members. Nine of the initial 

members of the Commission shall be those currently serving on the 
Commission. Thereafter, three members shall be elected annually for a 

term of three years with vacancies being filled by the City Council for any 
unexpired terms. The initial election shall be so arranged that 1/3 of the 

members may be elected each year. After the initial election, the three 
annual vacancies shall be filled by the Mayor in accordance with Section 

74 of the City Charter. The Economic Development Commission shall 
recommend at least two persons from the private sector to the Mayor 

each year as potential nominees. In all cases, election shall be by the City 
Council. Members shall be chosen for their expertise, experience and 

abilities in business, industry, finance, real estate, government and law. 
A majority of the members shall reside within the City of Rochester and 

up to four of the elected members may reside outside of the City; 
provided, however, that any elected member residing outside of the City 

shall maintain a place of business or shall be employed within the City, 

while serving as a member of the Commission. The Mayor and the 

11/30/2023 

Page 12 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

7 
 

Economic Development Director shall be ex officio, nonvoting members of 

the Commission. 
 

B. The Chairperson shall be appointed annually by the Mayor, and the 
Commission shall elect from its members such other officers and 

committees as it deems necessary. 
 

C. The Economic Development Commission shall perform the 

following functions: 
 

(1) Promote the City of Rochester, through advertising, prospect 
development and other means, as an attractive location for 

industrial and business development and/or expansion and 
residential uses related thereto; 

 

(2) Assist prospects interested in evaluating Rochester as a potential 

industrial or commercial business location; act as the official agent 
of the City government in matters pertaining to economic 

development; 

                    Amendments are effective upon passage. 

 

 Attorney O’Rourke explained that the Codes and Ordinances 
Committee met to discuss amending the City Ordinance to change some 

of the language as outlined above in red ink. Councilor Hamann MOVED 
to APPROVE the Amendments. Councilor Fontneau seconded the motion. 

The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.  
 

10.2.2 Committee Recommendation: To approve the 
language of the Amendment to Chapter 7-63 

Regarding the Economic Development Reserve 
Fund to be codified into the General Ordinances 

of the City of Rochester consideration for 
approval  

 
  Mayor Callaghan read the Amendment by title only, see attached 

(Addendum B).  

 
 Attorney O’Rourke stated that the City Council adopted a resolution 

on July 5, 2022, to create the Economic Development Non-Capital 
Reserve Fund. Attorney O’Rourke explained that this is the same 

resolution broken down into paragraphs to be codified into the City 
Ordinances.   Councilor Hamman MOVED to APPROVE the Amendment. 

Councilor Fontneau seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a 
unanimous voice vote.  

11/30/2023 

Page 13 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

8 
 

 

10.2.3 Amendment to Chapter 7-83 of the General 
Ordinances of the City of Rochester Regarding the 

Code of Ethics and Conduct for Elected and 
Appointed Officials – Board of Ethics first reading 

and refer to November 21 Workshop for discussion  
 

 Mayor Callaghan read the Amendment and referred the matter to 
the City Council Workshop to be held on November 21, 2023.  

 

Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City 

of Rochester Regarding the Code of Ethics and Conduct for 

Elected and Appointed Officials 

THE CITY OF ROCHESTER ORDAINS: 
 

That Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester and 

currently before the Rochester City Council, be amended as follows 

(deletions struckout additions in RED): 

ARTICLE XI 
 

Code of Ethics and Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials 
 

§ 7-83 Board of Ethics. 

A. A Board of Ethics (“BOE”) is hereby created. This BOE shall consist 

of three (3) persons: one member shall be appointed by the Mayor from 

the City Council, one member shall be appointed by the Chair of the 
School Board from the School Board, and one member shall be 

appointed by the Chair of the Police Commission from the Police 
Commission. 
 

B. Each BOE Member selected is required to serve unless the BOE 
Member is the subject of the Complaint, has a conflict of interest, or is 

excused due to unavailability or exceptional causes (such as a health 
issue). 
 

C. The BOE Members shall elect a chairperson and the BOE may 

adopt such rules for the conduct of its business as it sees fit. The BOE 
shall have the power to draw upon City departments for reports and 

information and stenographic and clerical help. 
 

§ 7-84 Ethics Investigation Officer. 

A. The position of Ethics Investigation Officer (“EIO”) is hereby 

11/30/2023 

Page 14 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

9 
 

created. The City Manager shall have the power to identify and retain 

an EIO, with approval from the BOE, to assist with the investigation and 
prosecution of any Complaint which has been referred for investigation. 

The EIO, with approval of the BOE, shall have sufficient experience and 
training to conduct the investigation. 
 

§ 7-85 Complaints, Investigations, and Hearing. 

A. Complaint Requirements. Any City official may submit a written 
complaint alleging one or more violations of the Code of Ethics and 

Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials (“Ethics Code”). Such 

complaint must be based on personal knowledge, and set forth facts 
with enough specificity and detail for a determination of sufficiency for 

investigation. The Written Complaint must be signed under oath. The 
Complaint shall be delivered to the City Attorney with a copy to the 

Mayor and City Clerk. The City Attorney shall promptly provide a copy 
of the Complaint to the Charged Party. 
 

B. Review for Sufficiency. 
 

1. A Review for Sufficiency of the Complaint will be completed 
within thirty (30) days of receipt. This review will be based on the 

allegations contained in the Complaint and the immediately available 
public meetings or records referenced in the Complaint. 
 

2. The City Attorney, Mayor, and City Manager in the case of a 

City Board, the City Attorney, Mayor, and Superintendent in the case of 
the School Board, or the City Attorney, Mayor, and Police Chief in the 

case of the Police Commission shall conduct the Review of Sufficiency, 
except in cases in which the Mayor is the subject of the Complaint. 

Complaints against the Mayor, School Board Chair, or Police Commission 
Chair shall be reviewed by the City Attorney and the Deputy Mayor, 

School Board Vice Chair, or Police Commission Vice Chair, respectively. 
 

3. If the Complaint is deemed insufficient, the Complainant will 
be notified in writing of that decision with a copy provided to the Charged 

Party. A Complaint will be deemed sufficient if it is determined that the 

Complaint establishes on its own that it is more probable than not that 
a violation of the Ethics Code may have occurred. 
 

4. If the Complaint is deemed sufficient for further 

investigation, it shall be referred to the EIO for further action and all 

parties will be notified of this step through communication in writing. 
 

C. Investigation Phase. The EIO shall be provided the full cooperation 
of the City government to conduct such investigation as may be 

11/30/2023 

Page 15 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

10 
 

necessary to determine whether any violation may have occurred and 

next steps. The Charged Party shall have an opportunity to provide a 
response to the Complaint. 
 

The EIO’s investigation shall be completed within forty-five (45) days of 

the date of referral unless the Charged party and the Chair of the BOE 
mutually agree to a longer period. 
 

The EIO shall provide a written report with the conclusions reached in 
the completed investigation to the BOE. The EIO shall provide a non-

binding recommendation as to the disposition of the Complaint to the 
BOE. Thereafter, all action with regard to the Complaint shall be taken 

by the BOE. 
 

D. Board of Ethics Hearing. 
 

1. The BOE shall take no further evidence on any Complaint, 

but shall make its determination based upon the report received by the 
EIO. However, the BOE shall hold at least one (1) public hearing at which 

the EIO, the Complainant, and the Charged Party shall be afforded an 
opportunity to present oral and written argument to the BOE. The BOE 

may hear from such other and further parties as it determines 
appropriate. 
 

2. Any party may be represented by legal counsel at his or her 

own expense at any stage of proceedings related to the Ethics Code. 
 

3. The BOE shall issue a written decision within thirty (30) days 
of the final public hearing with findings and a disposition, dismissal, or 

referral for further action if a violation found. If a violation has been 
found, the BOE shall recommend a sanction or penalty and refer the 

matter to the City Council, School Board, or Police Commission for 

disposition, sanction, or other action as set forth in the Ethics Code. 
 

§ 7-86 Conflict Between Ethics Code and this Article. To the extent 
a conflict arises between the Ethics Code and this Article, this Article 

shall prevail. 

 
 Amendments are effective on January 1, 2024. 

 

10.3 Community Development Committee 
   

 Councilor Hainey said the Community Development Committee is 
starting to receive applications for next Fiscal Year’s CDBG Grant funding. 

She reminded non-profit organizations to send in their applications. Mayor 

11/30/2023 

Page 16 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

11 
 

Callaghan thanked Councilor Hainey for her work on the Committee over 

the past two years.  
 

10.4  Finance Committee  
 

  No discussion.   
 

10.5  Planning Board  
 

 No discussion.  
 

10.6  Public Safety  
 

         Councilor Gilman read the Committee recommendations as outlined 
below.  Mayor Callaghan said if there are no objections, the three items 

could be voted upon all at once. Councilor Beaudoin requested a separate  

discussion on 10.6.1.  
 

10.6.1 Committee Recommendation: To remove the 
broken speed limit sign from Salmon Falls Road 

and replace it with a 25 mph sign down by the 
telephone pole consideration for approval  

 
 Councilor Beaudoin asked where the sign would be placed on 

Salmon Falls Road and questioned if the entire road would be set at 25 
mph.  Councilor Berlin stated that the radar speed sign is the one in 

question that is broken and being replaced; however, the replacement 
sign would not be another radar sign; it would be a standard speed limit 

sign (25 mph).  
 

 Councilor Fontneau said some residents are confused with the 

speed limit on Salmon Falls Road, which changes up/down within a half 
mile range. He MOVED to remove the broken sign and to wait to replace 

the sign until the speed limit is reviewed and the appropriate standard 
signs are placed.  Councilor Beaudoin seconded the motion.  

 
 Councilor de Geofroy suggested that the broken sign should be 

replaced and that there should be a separate discussion about the overall 
speed limit on that street.  

 
 Councilor Berlin agreed and said DPW would remove the broken 

radar sign and replace it, two feet down the road, with a standard pole 
sign. He felt it was important to replace the broken sign now and review 

the speed limit signs posted for Salmon Falls Road at another Public 

11/30/2023 

Page 17 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

12 
 

Safety meeting.  

 
 Mayor Callaghan called for a vote to amend the motion to remove 

the broken radar speed limit sign and not to replace that sign at this time. 
The MOTION CARRIED by a majority voice vote. Mayor Callaghan called 

for a vote on the motion as amended. The MOTION CARRIED by a 
majority voice vote.  

  
10.6.2 Committee Recommendation: To install a 

streetlight on the existing pole at the 
intersection of Tebbetts and Roberts Road 

consideration for approval  
 

 Councilor Hamann MOVED to APPROVE the Committee 
recommendation as stated above. Councilor Desrochers seconded the 

motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.   

 

10.6.3 Committee Recommendation: To add a “dead 

end” sign at the entrance of Roberts Road 
consideration for approval  

 
 Councilor Hamann MOVED to APPROVE the Committee 

recommendation as stated above. Councilor Desrochers seconded the 

motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.   
 

 
10.7   Public Works  

 
10.7.1 Resolution Authorizing Supplemental 

Appropriation of $17,414.03 to FY24 General 
Fund CIP Fund for Ground Water Monitoring first 

reading and consideration for adoption   
 

 Mayor Callaghan read the resolution for the first time by title only 
as follows:  

 
Resolution Authorizing Supplemental Appropriation of 

$17,414.03 to FY24 General Fund CIP Fund For Ground Water 

Monitoring 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
That the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rochester hereby 

11/30/2023 

Page 18 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

13 
 

appropriate Seventeen Thousand Four Hundred Fourteen and 03/100 

Dollars ($17,414.03) to the General Fund CIP for the purpose of paying 
costs associated with Groundwater Monitoring. The entirety of this 

supplemental appropriation shall be derived from the Monsanto Class 
Action lawsuit payment.  

 
To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance 

Director is hereby authorized to establish and/or designate such multi-
year, non-lapsing accounts and or account numbers as are necessary to 

implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution. 
 

 Councilor Gray referred to the back-up information, which could be 
found in the packet on page 119. Councilor Desrochers MOVED to 

ADOPT the resolution. Councilor de Geofroy seconded the motion. The 
MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.  

 

11 Unfinished Business 
 

11.1 Resolution Authorizing Transfer of $250,000 from 
the General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance to the 

Trustees of the Trust Fund for the Public Works 
Large Vehicle Capital Reserve Fund (CRF) second 

reading and consideration for adoption  
 

 Mayor Callaghan read the resolution for the second time by title 
only as follows:    

 
Resolution Authorizing Transfer of $250,000 from the General 

Fund Unassigned Fund Balance to the Trustees of Trust Funds 
for the Public Works Large Vehicle Capital Reserve Fund (CRF) 

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
That the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rochester hereby transfer 

Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) to the Trustees of the 
Trust Funds for the purpose of funding the Public Works Large Vehicles 

CRF. The source of funding shall be the General Fund Unassigned Fund 
balance.   

 
To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance 

Director is hereby authorized to establish and/or designate such multi-
year, non-lapsing accounts and or account numbers as are necessary to 

implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution. 

11/30/2023 

Page 19 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

14 
 

 

 Councilor Hamman MOVED to ADOPT the resolution. Councilor 
Fontneau seconded the motion. Mark Sullivan, Director of Finance, gave 

a brief overview of how the funds would be transferred into three 
different Capital Reserve Funds as stated in the resolutions.  Councilor 

Beaudoin said that he initially supported the concept of setting up these 
Capital Reserve Funds; however, he realized that these funds 

($1,500,000) would not be included with the annual budget calculations, 
which he felt was a way to elude the Tax Cap. He said he would not 

support the resolutions unless the process could somehow include the 
funding of such accounts through the annual budget process. Mr. 

Sullivan gave details about the Tax Cap calculation process.  
 

Councilor Beaudoin asked if the purchase of a new Fire Truck in a 
future year would still be bonded.  Mr. Sullivan said in the past, the 

purchase of a new fire truck would have been bonded; however, it does 

not make sense to bond for that type of purchase. He said it is wiser to 
pay cash, use the unassigned fund balance, or to use Capital Reserve 

Funds to purchase a fire truck. He gave details regarding the benefit to 
the taxpayers to have the City properly plan these large purchases. He 

explained that it takes the pressure off the tax cap in the particular year 
in which the purchase is made because the funds are already earning 

interest and saved for that specific purpose. He added that the purchase 
of a Fire Truck must still be approved by the full City Council, which 

means the City Council still has control over the expenditures. He 
clarified that a resolution would be drafted, which must outline the 

funding source; if the Capital Reserve Fund is chosen, then the burden 
is decreased from the property tax levy for the tax year in which the 

large purchase occurs.   He explained that the Finance Department is not 
proposing the expenditure of any of the funds until 2027 in order to allow 

the money to earn interest.  

 
Councilor Desrochers thanked Mr. Sullivan for the explanation and 

clarified for the public that the motion is to transfer funds into these 
three Capital Reserve Funds, not to authorize the purchase of specific 

equipment at some point in the future.  
 

Mr. Sullivan displayed a PowerPoint Slide outlining the Capital 
Reserve Fund Process. He said setting up Capital Reserve Funds is not 

uncommon in NH and he used the Municipality of Dover, NH as an 
example.  

 
Councilor Berlin wished to clarify if the next funding installments 

proposed to occur in future fiscal years would be included as a 

11/30/2023 

Page 20 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

15 
 

Supplemental Appropriation or if it would be included with the budget 

process. Mr. Sullivan gave reasons why the FY 24 installment was not 
included with the CIP Budget; however, in subsequent years, the intent 

is to include these requests to transfer funds within the CIP Budget. 
 

Councilor Gray said the City Ordinances regulate the unassigned 
fund balance and stipulate what the maximum amount ought to be; 

however, that maximum amount has been far exceeded for a number of 
years. He listed several projects which have been placed on hold because 

of lack of funding in the City’s annual budget process.  He said setting 
up these Capital Reserve Funds only gives the illusion of decreasing the 

unassigned fund balance.  
 

  Mr. Sullivan reiterated that the City Council has full authority over 
these funds and any expenditures would follow the City Council process, 

which includes a resolution outlining the funding source for the large 

purchase/project or to repurpose funds out of that account all together.  
 

Mayor Callaghan called for a roll call vote. The MOTION CARRIED 
by a 9 to 3 roll call vote as follows: Councilors de Geofroy, Hainey, 

Larochelle, Berlin, Fontneau, Hamann, Desrochers, Malone, and Mayor 
Callaghan voted in favor of the motion. Councilors Gilman, Gray, and 

Beaudoin voted against the motion.  
 

11.2 Resolution Authorizing Transfer of $250,000 from 
the General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance to the 

Trustees of the Trust Fund for the Fire Department 
Apparatus Capital Reserve Fund (CRF) second 

reading and consideration for adoption  
 

        Mayor Callaghan read the resolution for the second time, by title 

only as follows:   
  

Resolution Authorizing Transfer of $250,000 from the General 
Fund Unassigned Fund Balance to the Trustees of Trust Funds 

for the Fire Department Apparatus Capital Reserve Fund (CRF) 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
That the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rochester hereby transfer 

Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) to the Trustees of the 
Trust Funds for the purpose of funding the Fire Department Apparatus 

11/30/2023 

Page 21 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

16 
 

CRF. The source of funding shall be the General Fund Unassigned Fund 

balance.   
 

To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance 
Director is hereby authorized to establish and/or designate such multi-

year, non-lapsing accounts and or account numbers as are necessary to 
implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution. 

 

 Councilor Hamann MOVED to ADOPT the resolution. Councilor 

Desrochers seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a 9 to 3 roll 

call vote. Councilors de Geofroy, Hamann, Desrochers, Malone, Berlin, 

Hainey, Larochelle, Fontneau, and Mayor Callaghan voted in favor of the 

motion. Councilors Beaudoin, Gray, and Gilman voted against the motion.   

   

11.3 Resolution Authorizing Transfer of $250,000 from 
the General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance to the 

Trustees of the Trust Fund for the Public Buildings 
Capital Reserve Fund (CRF) second reading and 

consideration for adoption  

 
 Mayor Callaghan read the resolution for the second time by title 

only as follows:   
 

 Resolution Authorizing Transfer of $250,000 from the 
General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance to the Trustees of Trust 

Funds for the Public Buildings Capital Reserve Fund (CRF) 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
That the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rochester hereby transfer 

Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) to the Trustees of the 
Trust Funds for the purpose of funding the Public Buildings CRF. The 

source of funding shall be the General Fund Unassigned Fund balance.   

 
To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance 

Director is hereby authorized to establish and/or designate such multi-
year, non-lapsing accounts and or account numbers as are necessary to 

implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution. 
 

Councilor Desrochers MOVED to ADOPT the resolution. Councilor 
Malone seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a 9 to 3 roll 

call vote. Councilors Hainey, Malone, Fontneau, Larochelle, de Geofroy, 

11/30/2023 

Page 22 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

17 
 

Desrochers, Berlin, Hamann, and Mayor Callaghan voted in favor of the 

motion. Councilors Gray, Gilman, and Beaudoin, voted against the 
motion.   

 
11.4 Resolution Authorizing Donation to the Veterans of 

Foreign Wars (VFW) Concord in the amount of 
$49,640.57 second reading and consideration for 

adoption  

 

Mayor Callaghan read the resolution for the second time by title 

only as follows:   

 
Resolution Authorizing Donation to the Veterans of Foreign 

Wars (VFW) Concord in the amount of $49,640.57 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
That the City of Rochester hereby makes a donation to the Veterans of 

Foreign Wars (VFW)- Concord in the amount of Forty Nine Thousand Six 
Hundred Forty Dollars and Fifty Seven Cents ($49,640.47).  The source 

of funds shall be derived from General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance. 
 

To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance 

Director is hereby authorized to establish and/or designate such multi-
year, non-lapsing accounts and or account numbers as are necessary to 

implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution. 
 

Councilor Desrochers MOVED to ADOPT the resolution. Councilor 
Malone seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a 12 to 0 roll 

call vote. Councilors Berlin, Desrochers, Gray, Fontneau, Hamann, 
Hainey, Larochelle, Beaudoin, Malone, Gilman, de Geofroy, and Mayor 

Callaghan voted in favor of the motion.  

 

12 Consent Calendar 

 
 No discussion.  

 
13. New Business   

 
13.1. Amendments to Chapter 223 of the General 

Ordinances of the City of Rochester regarding 
Highways and Sidewalks first reading and refer to 

November 21 Workshop for discussion  

11/30/2023 

Page 23 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

18 
 

 

 Mayor Callaghan read the Amendment by title only for a first time 
and referred the matter to the November 21, 2023, City Council 

Workshop, see attached (Addendum C).  
 

13.2. Resolution Authorizing Supplemental 
Appropriation of Five Million Seven Hundred Fifty 

Seven Thousand Six Hundred Ninety Three Dollars 
($5,757,693) in relation to the JUUL E-Cigarette 

Litigation first reading and consideration for 
adoption 

 
 Mayor Callaghan read the Amendment by title only. See attached 

(Addendum D).  
 

 Councilor Hamann MOVED to ADOPT the resolution. Councilor 

Malone seconded the motion. Councilor Beaudoin understood that both 
the City and School Department would be entitled to certain portions of 

the funding. He questioned if there were any stipulations regarding how 
the funding could be utilized. City Attorney O’Rourke read a portion of 

the settlement stating specifications of how the funding could be spent.  
He added that any/all attorney fees have already been paid and the 

remaining funds ($5,757,693) would be utilized to address problems of 
youth vaping and nicotine addiction. Councilor Desrochers questioned 

how the funds would be distributed and how the determinations of 
expenditures would be decided. City Attorney O’Rourke stated that it 

will be determined by the City Council as ideas for expenditures are 
presented. City Manager Ambrose stated that the disbursements would 

be kept in a multi-year/non-lapsing fund.  She indicated that the 
anticipation is that the first installment is estimated at $1,800,000, with 

additional installments being received annually through December 

2026.  The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.  
 

13.3. Resolution Authorizing the Application for and 
Acceptance of a State of New Hampshire 

Department of Environmental Services (NHDES) 
Drinking Water and Groundwater  Trust Fund 

(DWGTF) Loan for the Salmon Falls Water Booster 
Station Upgrade Project in an amount up to 

$3,700,000.00 first reading and consideration for 
adoption  

 
 Mayor Callaghan read the resolution for the first time, by title only 

as follows:   

11/30/2023 

Page 24 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

19 
 

 

Resolution Authorizing the Application for and Acceptance of a 
State of New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services 

(NHDES) Drinking Water and Groundwater Trust Fund (DWGTF) 
Loan for the Salmon Falls Water Booster Station Upgrade Project 

in an amount up to $3,700,000.00 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 

 
That the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rochester, by adoption of 

this Resolution, authorize the Department of Public Works to submit a 
loan application in the amount of up to Three Million Seven Hundred 

Thousand Dollars ($3,700,000) to the NHDES DWGTF Loan program in 
order to finance the Salmon Falls Water Booster Station Upgrade Project.  

 

Further, the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rochester, by adoption 
of this Resolution authorize the City Manager and/or the Finance Director 

to act as the City's representative(s) for the execution of all documents 
necessary to complete the application, process disbursements and 

execute loan documents associated with DWGTF. 
 

To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance 
Director is hereby authorized to designate and/or establish such accounts 

and/or account numbers as necessary to implement the transactions 
contemplated by this Resolution and to establish special revenue, non-

lapsing, multi-year fund account(s) as necessary to which said sums shall 
be recorded.  

 
 Councilor Hamann MOVED to ADOPT the resolution. Councilor 

Fontneau seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a 

unanimous voice vote.  
 

13.4. Resolution Authorizing Acceptance of a Vest Grant 
from the State of New Hampshire in the amount of 

$10,060.88 first reading and consideration for 
adoption 

 
 Mayor Callaghan read the resolution for the second time, by title 

only as follows:   
 

Resolution Authorizing the Acceptance of a Vest Grant from the 
State of New Hampshire in the amount of $10,060.88 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 25 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

20 
 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ROCHESTER: 
 

The City hereby accepts a Vest Grant of Ten Thousand Sixty and 88/100 
Dollars ($10,060.88) from the State of New Hampshire to be used by the 

Rochester Police Department for the purchase of new ballistic vests. 
 

To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance 
Director is hereby authorized to establish and/or designate such accounts 

and or account numbers as are necessary to implement the transactions 
contemplated in this Resolution and to establish special revenue, non-

lapsing, multi-year fund accounts(s) as necessary to which said sums 
shall be recorded.  

 
Councilor Desrochers MOVED to ADOPT the resolution. Councilor 

de Geofroy seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a 

unanimous voice vote.   
 

14. Non-Meeting/Non-Public Session 
 

14.1   Non-Public Session – Land, RSA 91-A:3, II (d) 
 

 Councilor Hainey MOVED to enter a Non-Public Session under 
Land, RSA 91-A:3, II (d), at 6:52 PM. Councilor de Geofroy seconded 

the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a roll call vote of 12 to 0 as 
follows: Councilors Hamann, Desrochers, Gilman, Malone, Fontneau, 

Larochelle, Gray, de Geofroy, Berlin, Hainey, Beaudoin, and Mayor 
Callaghan voted in favor of the motion.  

 
 Councilor Hamann MOVED to exit the Non-Public Session at 8:14 

PM. Councilor Hainey seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by 

a unanimous voice vote.  
 

 Councilor Hamann MOVED to seal the minutes indefinitely 
because disclosure would render the proposed action ineffective.  

Councilor de Geofroy seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by 
a 12 to 0 roll call vote as follows: Councilors Desrochers, Gray, Hamann, 

de Geofroy, Beaudoin, Gilman, Hainey, Malone, Fontneau, Larochelle, 
Berlin, and Mayor Callaghan voted in favor of the motion.  

 
15.   Adjournment 

 
 Mayor Callaghan ADJOURNED the Regular City Council meeting 

at 8:15 PM.   

11/30/2023 

Page 26 of 150 



City of Rochester  Regular City Council Meeting 
Draft  November 8, 2023 

21 
 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 

 
Kelly Walters, CMC 

City Clerk 
 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 27 of 150 



132 North Main Street, Rochester NH, Building Fire with Entrapment, 12/3/2022 

On Saturday, December 3 at 8:23 AM, the Rochester Fire Department was dispatched to 132 
North Main Street for a reported building fire. Firefighters arrived on scene to find a working 
bedroom fire in the 2nd floor apartment. Firefighters were immediately advised that there were 
still occupants in the fire apartment. Engine-4 conducted an immediate search without the 
protection of a hose line. Engine-2 and Truck-6 combined operations to get a hose line 
stretched to the fire room, protecting the stairwell, knocking the fire down, and ventilating the 
building to assist with rescues. Engine-4 found two occupants still in the apartment. The first 
victim was assisted from the building. The 2nd victim was physically disabled and became 
combative with rescuers due to the effects of smoke inhalation. Firefighters made attempts to 
assist the victim out, but eventually resorted to carrying the victim down a steep, narrow set of 
stairs and out of the building. 

All occupants were treated by Frisbie Paramedics and transported to Frisbie Memorial Hospital 
for injuries sustained in the fire. One patient was admitted to the hospital for multiple days 
until recovered. Two others were treated and released.  

The initial actions of first arriving firefighters, the professional and efficient actions of 
dispatchers, and expert emergency medical treatment and transport of victims, made a 
dramatic effect on the positive outcome of this situation. Quick decisions, actions and 
teamwork seriously reduced the exposure of victims to the fire and smoke conditions. One of 
the victims suffered from lung related medical concerns, and any additional time in that 
environment would have been detrimental to the chance of survival. The victim spent many 
days in the hospital recovering from injuries. 

All personnel performed their duties with honor and skill, representative of the finest 
traditions of emergency services, and reflecting great credit upon themselves, the City of 
Rochester, Frisbie Memorial Hospital and first responders everywhere. For their actions, they 
have received a Unit Citation from the NH Fire and Emergency Services Committee of Merit.  

 

Dispatchers: 

- Alisha Wood 

- Ellen Spicer 

Frisbie EMS: 

- Amanda Woodbury 

- Stephanie Ladd 

- John McClain 

- Bob Frechette 

- Dave Emmons 

 

 

 

Fire Department: 

- Jarrod Wheeler 

- Joseph Burns 

- Eric Lenzi 

- Nick Marique 

- Patrick Couch 

- Matthew Parker 

- Matthew Woodbury 

- Colin Hickman 

- Larry Coon 

- John Boodey 

11/30/2023 

Page 28 of 150 

cassie.givara
Typewriter
ADDENDUM A



Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester Regarding the Economic 

Development Reserve Fund 

THE CITY OF ROCHESTER ORDAINS: 

That Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester and currently before the Rochester City 

Council, be amended as follows (deletions struckout additions in RED): 

§ 7-63 Economic Development Special Reserve Fund.  

 

A. Statement of purpose. 

(1) The City of Rochester currently serves as the "Host Community" for the Turnkey Recycling and 

Environmental Enterprises Waste Disposal Facility (TREE) currently operated by Waste Management of 

New Hampshire, Inc., and located on the Rochester Neck Road. By virtue of its status as Host Community 

for TREE, the City of Rochester, in addition to incurring significant expenses in connection with such 

facility, receives significant financial benefits in the form of real property taxes, user fees (in the form of so-

called "host community fees") and various other benefits relative to the cost to the City and its inhabitants of 

the disposal and/or recycling of various solid waste, including reduced and/or eliminated fees for the disposal 

and/or recycling of solid waste generated within the City of Rochester. It is currently estimated that the 

permitted capacity of the TREE Waste Disposal Facility (TLR-Ill) will be reached in approximately the year 

2023. When such facility is filled to its permitted capacity, it is anticipated that the City will experience a loss 

in revenues, and the City and its inhabitants will experience increased costs associated with the disposal 

and/or recycling of solid waste, particularly in the form of reduced and/or lost user fees and reduced property 

tax revenues, as well as increased costs associated with the disposal and/or recycling of solid waste. 

Therefore, in an effort to offset the expected loss of revenues and increased costs occurring to the City as a 

result of the anticipated filling of the TREE Waste Disposal Facility to its permitted capacity and to promote 

the general fiscal strength and well-being of the City, it is necessary that economic development in the City 

of Rochester be promoted and/or maintained to ensure the existence and/or expansion of a vibrant economic 

base for the City and its inhabitants.  

(2) Therefore, the City Council of the City of Rochester, pursuant to the authority granted by RSA 47:1-b and 

47:1-c, hereby establishes a special revenue reserve fund from the specific source identified in Subsection B 

of this section for capital expenditures or expenditures for capital projects, transfers to capital projects, 

transfers to capital reserve, or for any other appropriation of a nonrecurring nature in support of economic 

development as determined by the City Council. The special reserve fund established in Subsection B of this 

section shall be known as the "City of Rochester Economic Development Special Reserve Fund." No 

expenditure from said City of Rochester Economic Development Special Reserve Fund shall be made 

without an appropriation of such funds having been adopted by the Rochester City Council, which 

appropriation shall provide that such appropriation is for economic development purposes and shall contain a 

statement and/or finding by the City Council indicating the manner in which it is anticipated that such 

appropriation is related to the economic development of the City of Rochester.  

B. There is hereby created a non-lapsing budgetary account within the City of Rochester, pursuant to the 

authority granted to the City by the provisions of RSA 47:1-b, such special reserve fund to be known as the 

"City of Rochester Economic Development Special Reserve Fund." Such fund shall be funded on an annual 

basis by the appropriation by the City Council to such special reserve fund of an amount not less than one 

hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.) from the funds annually payable to the City of Rochester by Waste 

Management of New Hampshire, Inc., from the so-called "host community fees" payable to the City pursuant 

to the provisions of the Host Agreement between the City and Waste Management of New Hampshire, Inc., 

or of any successor to such agreement. In addition to such minimum funding level, the City Manager may, 

during any fiscal year of the City, upon written notification to, and appropriation by, the City Council, 

11/30/2023 

Page 29 of 150 

cassie.givara
Typewriter
ADDENDUM B



transfer to said City of Rochester Economic Development Special Reserve Fund unappropriated host 

community fees in an amount not to exceed the difference between the total amount of host community fees 

received from Waste Management of New Hampshire, Inc., during such fiscal year and the amount of such 

host community fees previously appropriated by the Rochester City Council during such fiscal year (having 

in mind the minimum funding/appropriation requirement provided for herein and any other appropriation of 

such fiscal year's host community fees by the City Council during such fiscal year).  

A. By Resolution adopted on July 5, 2022, the City Council established a Non-Capital Reserve Fund pursuant 

to RSA 34:1-a for the purpose of encouraging economic development within the City, encouraging the 

development of industrial and commercial sites, promoting the City as an attractive location for businesses and 

residents, and acquisition of land related to the same. The name of the fund is the Economic Development 

Reserve Fund. 

 

B. The City Council, at its sole discretion, may appropriate funds into said Economic Development Reserve 

Fund through supplemental appropriations or the annual budgeting process, however, in no case shall said 

annual appropriation be less than One Hundred Thousand Dollars ($100,000.00).  Revenue sources can be 

Waste Management Host Fee Revenues, or General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance. In addition, other 

unanticipated revenue sources, and proceeds from transactions that were originally derived from the Economic 

Development Reserve Fund, may also be appropriated into the fund upon a majority vote of the City Council.  

 

C. Pursuant to RSA 34:6, the Trustees of Trust Funds shall have custody of all non-capital reserves transferred 

to the Economic Development Reserve Fund. The Trustees of the Trust Fund will hold the monies appropriated 

to the Economic Development Reserve Fund in a separate liquid investment account. Appropriations made to 

the Economic Development Reserve Fund will be submitted to the Trustees of the Trust Fund within the same 

fiscal year of the appropriation. 

 

D. Pursuant to RSA 34:10, the City Council names the Economic Development Commission as its agent to 

carry out the objects of the Economic Development Reserve Fund.  All expenditures made by the Economic 

Development Commission shall be made only for or in connection with the purposes for which said Fund was 

established and only in accordance with §7-38-40 of the City Code. All requests for expenditures shall be 

approved by the 2/3rds vote of the Economic Development Commission prior to being presented to City 

Council for final approval. Upon said 2/3rds vote expenditure requests may then be presented to City Council. 

Expenditure requests shall identify expense categories, or specific project scope detail. General administrative, 

travel and conference activities shall be ineligible expense activities. Expenditure requests can be presented as 

part of the annual budget process, or through supplemental appropriations. All approved expenditures shall 

follow the City’s Purchasing Policy.  

 

E. The City Council may dissolve the Economic Development Reserve Fund at its sole discretion. Upon 

dissolution of any portion of said fund appropriated from the General Fund said funds will lapse to surplus 

(General Fund Unassigned Fund balance) and cannot be repurposed directly to a different capital fund or 

project. 

 

Amendments are effective upon passage. 

 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 30 of 150 



Resolution Authorizing Supplemental Appropriation of Five Million Seven Hundred Fifty 

Seven Thousand Six Hundred Ninety Three Dollars ($5,757,693) in relation to the JUUL E-

Cigarette Litigation 
 

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

That the Mayor and City Council of the City of Rochester hereby appropriates Five Million 

Seven Hundred Fifty Seven Thousand Six Hundred Ninety Three Dollars ($5,757,693) the 

purpose of addressing the problem of youth vaping and nicotine addiction. The entirety of this 

supplemental appropriation shall be derived from payments received as part of the City’s 

settlement of the JUUL E-Cigarette lawsuit.  

 

The total School & City Settlement award is Five Million Seven Hundred Fifty Seven Thousand 

Six Hundred Ninety Three Dollars ($5,757,693). The School Department’s allocation is Four 

Million Seven Hundred Thirty Eight Thousand One Hundred Ninety One Dollars ($4,738,191), 

and the City’s allocation is One Million Nineteen Thousand Five Hundred Two Dollars 

($1,019,502). The initial settlement payments shall be disbursed in November-2023, with the 

remainder disbursed annually each December from 2023 to 2026. Below is the anticipated 

disbursement schedule. 

 

School Department Settlement $4,738,191

City Settlement $1,019,502

Total $5,757,693

Initial Disbursement Amount

Nov-23 School Department $1,528,848.53

Nov-23 City $328,957.74

$1,857,806.27

Remaining Disbursements-Estimate

Dec-23 School Department $802,335.62

Dec-23 City $172,636.07

$974,971.68

Dec-24 School Department $802,335.62

Dec-24 City $172,636.07

$974,971.68

Dec-25 School Department $802,335.62

Dec-25 City $172,636.07

$974,971.68

Dec-26 School Department $802,335.62

Dec-26 City $172,636.07

$974,971.68  
 

11/30/2023 

Page 31 of 150 

cassie.givara
Typewriter
ADDENDUM C



 

To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance Director is hereby 

authorized to establish and/or designate such multi-year, non-lapsing accounts and or account 

numbers as are necessary to implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution. 

 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 32 of 150 



 City of Rochester, New Hampshire 
PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

45 Old Dover Road    • Rochester, NH 03867 
(603) 332-4096  Fax (603) 335-4352 

www.rochesternh.net 

 
 
 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO:  City Council 

FROM: Peter C. Nourse, Director of City Services 

DATE: 02 November 2023 

SUBJECT: Update to Chapter 223 Streets and Sidewalks 

CC:  Katie Ambrose, City Manager 

  Terence O’Rourke, Cit Attorney 

  Shanna Saunders, Director of Planning 

________________________________________________________________ 

In 2020 the City Council directed the Department to update the City Ordinances  

under its charge. Enclosed are the proposed changes to the Streets and Sidewalks 

ordinance. In formulation of the proposed changes, I reviewed all State RSAs 

pertaining to public highways. The proposed changes were further developed with 

other departments including Planning, Building and Licensing. Fire and Police. The 

City Attorney has reviewed all proposed changes.   

 

The proposed changes provide a much-improved ordinance. In general, the 

current ordinance has a very old feel, is difficult to interpret in places, and does not 

reflect current City practices, modern methods of highway regulation, nor current 

terminology. For example, about ½ of the current ordinance is dedicated to the 

regulation of news racks.  

 

The proposed changes reflect a complete overhaul of the existing ordinance. 

Some of the proposed changes include: 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 33 of 150 

http://www.rochesternh.net/
cassie.givara
Typewriter
ADDENDUM D



 

BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS  ·  HIGHWAY  ·  WATER  ·  SEWER  ·  ENGINEERING 

• A new process for obstructions in the right of way, sidewalks and City 

parking lots 

• More comprehensive street acceptance requirements for developers 

• More comprehensive construction standards 

• Addressing traffic calming techniques 

• Addressing requirements of private roads 

• Addressing winter maintenance practices  

• Addressing licensure of utility companies excavating in right of way 

• Addressing surety requirements for excavations and pavement restoration 

• A process to evaluate oversize and overweight vehicles 

• A process for Outdoor dining impacts to the right of way 

• Addressing invasive plant species  

• Addressing general street lighting requirements 

• Private construction on Class VI roads 

 

All proposed changes are supported by Revised Statures Annotated. 

 

There is no tracked-changed version of the current ordinance as a reference of 

changes since the proposed version is a near complete overhaul, and because the 

electronic file of the current ordinance was unstable and did not track well. The 

attached Registry of Proposed Changes provides the Council a concordance 

of proposed changes and their reasoning. This document provides an 

expedited overview of the proposed changes.  

 

Enclosures:  

 
1. Registry of Proposed Changes; Updates to Chapter 223 Streets and 

Sidewalks 
2. Chapter 223 Highways and Sidewalks (revised ordinance) 
3. Current Chapter 223 Streets and Sidewalks (for reference)  

 

11/30/2023 

Page 34 of 150 



Updates to Chapter 223 Streets and Sidewalks 

Registry of Proposed Changes 

v. 02NOV 23 

Proposed Title Change: 

Chapter 223 Highways and Sidewalks 

Any reference to “street” or “road(way)” in the current ordinance to include its title has been 

revised to reference of “highway”.  Term “highway” is the proper legal definition of public rights 

of way.  

 

223-1. Definitions: 

Added several new definitions to support recommended changes to the ordinance.  

 

223-2 Repair of highway, bridge or sidewalk, is replaced here with 223-2 Regulations of Use of 

Highways. This new section provides the overarching regulating authority of the City Council per 

RSA 47:17. 223-2 Repair of highway, bridge or sidewalk is proposed to be shifted to 223-18 

(see 223-18 below).  

 

223-3 Prohibiting use of highways is replaced with 223-3 Standard of Care. This new section 

makes clear the City’s limits of liability for damages. It cites authorities of RSA 231:90, 231-91, 

231:92, and 231: 92-a. Prohibiting use of highways is proposed to be covered under new sections 

223-4, 5, 6. See below.  

 

223-4 Elevation is removed. Modern techniques are well established in highway work and 

reference here is unnecessary.  Elevation is replaced with 223-4 Prohibiting Use of Highways. 

This new section cites the Department’s use of rules and regulations to limit damage to highways 

by certain vehicles and cites authority of RSA 231:190, 231:191.  

 

223-5 Permit for excavation upon highway or sidewalk is replaced with 223-5 Oversized and 

Overweight Loads on Public Highways which builds on the previous new section 223-4, 

Prohibiting use of highways and RSA references 41:11 and 266:18. Revised contents of Permit 

for excavation upon highway or sidewalk are included in the new section 223-11 Excavation 

on Highways, Right of Ways and Pavement Disturbance Moratorium. 

 

223-6 Fire Chief to be notified is replaced with 223-6 No Through Trucks Zones. . This new 

section cites City authority to restrict the travel of certain truck classes per RSA 41:11. 223-6 Fire 

Chief to be notified is proposed to be addressed under 223-22 Emergency Services Dispatch to be 

Notified. 

11/30/2023 

Page 35 of 150 



 

223-7 Moving of buildings through streets is replaced with 223-7 Highway Damage and 

Obstructions. This new section introduces a new permit for obstructions to highways, sidewalks 

and public parking areas. Cited is authority per several RSAs. Recommended based on recent 

events where large private projects have taken public parking spaces without prior detailed City 

review. Proposed included is snow and ice. Moving of buildings through streets has been revised 

with Moving of Buildings Along Highways and Erection of Scaffolding which is proposed to be 

new section 223-23. 

 

223-8 Conduct on public streets is proposed to be shifted to 223-25 Conduct on Public 

Highways,  (see 223-25 below). New section at 223-8 is 223-8 Obstruction of Sidewalks. This 

new section is a revision of the current 223-13 Obstruction of Sidewalks. The revision 

specifically addresses sidewalk obstructions including ice and snow, unlawful use or altering of 

sidewalks and is recommended based on experience. 

 

223-9 Proposal for new street or highway or public improvements; sewer and water 

assessments has been replaced with 223-9 Authorized Seasonal Periods of Work Within Right 

of Way. This is a new section which specifies work during authorized seasonal periods. The period 

mirrors the stipulated period of the water ordinance. Proposal for new street or highway or 

public improvements; sewer and water assessments is replaced with revised new section, 223-

33 Acceptance of Privately Constructed Highways as Public Highways. 

 

223-10 Naming of public streets and rights of way has been replaced with 223-10 Reserved. 

Naming of public streets and right of ways is proposed to be revised to 223-34 Naming of Public 

Highways.   

 

223-11 Address numbers on streets, highways and right of ways is replaced with 223-11 

Excavation on Highways, Right of Ways and Pavement Disturbance Moratorium. Revised 

language for this section is improved. Pavement moratorium language is clearer than current 

language of 223-5 Permit for excavation upon any highway or sidewalk, and directly indicates 

intent of City Council authority to issue waivers to the moratorium as is per long-standing practice. 

Also includes statutory requirements for Dig-Safe, clarification on who the permittee is, 

inspections, temporary pavement restoration maintenance, posting of security, and the ability of 

the Department to deny permits or require surety of entities who have a poor performance history.  

Address numbers on streets, highways and right of ways has been revised and shifted to 223-

35 Address Numbers on Highways and Right-of-Ways..  

 

223-12 Construction of sidewalks has been replaced with 223-12 Drainage. This new section 

cites the limitations of the City’s obligations regarding drainage from the right of way onto an 

abutting property. It is supported by RSA 231:75 which is cited. This inclusion is based on multiple 

11/30/2023 

Page 36 of 150 



experiences with abutting private property. Construction of sidewalks is revised and shifted to  

223-36. Construction of Sidewalks. 

 

223-13 Obstruction of Sidewalks has been replaced with 223-13 Winter Storm Management. 

This new section cites the City’s maintenance of a winter storm policy and the limits of liability 

afforded by law, citing RSA 231:92-a. 223-13 Obstruction of Sidewalks is proposed to be 

reviewed by 223-8 Obstruction of Sidewalks. 

 

223-14 Streetlighting is replaced with 223-14 Off Highway Recreational Vehicles and 

Snowmobile Use of Public Highways. Although not known to be an issue, its presence and that of 

the supporting RSA’s here is proposed for consistency. Streetlighting is revised and shifted to  

section 223-37 Highway Lighting.  

 

223-15 Prohibited use of poles is replaced by 223-15 Public Highway Maintenance. This new 

section sets forth the Department’s standard of practice per authority granted by RSA 231:75 and 

231:92. Cited is the capital improvements program. Included is the prohibition of highways 

traversing watersheds per RSA 485:9. Prohibited us of poles is proposed to be covered and 

improved under 223-20 Utilities.  

 

223-16 “Adopt a Spot” areas is replaced with 223-16 Highway Roadside Clearing. This new 

section addresses the City’s obligation to maintain highway site clearances and the statutory 

obligations of the City to inform abutters when tree removal is deemed necessary. Included based 

on experience.  RSA’s 231:145, 231:146 and 231:150 cited. Adopt-A-Spot Areas is shifted to 

223-39. 

 

223-17 Bonds is replaced with new section 223-17 Invasive Plant Species. This new section is a 

natural follow-on to the proposed 223-16 Highway Roadside Clearing. This cites the City’s 

authority to remove such species to maintain a safe highway. Cited are RSA’s 430:53 and 430:51-

57. Included based on experience. Bonds is proposed to be shifted to and addressed under new 

section 223-39 Security.  

 

223-18 Violations and penalties is replaced with 223-18 Repair of Public Highway, Bridge or 

Sidewalk. This section is the current section, 223-2, moved to 223-18. Violations and penalties 

is proposed to be shifted to new section 223-40 with revised language.  

 

223-19 Purpose (Article II Newsracks and Public Way Obstructions) is replaced with 223-19 

Pubic Highway Access – Driveways. This new section addresses private highways and driveways 

and the City’s jurisdiction to regulate such connections to public highways. It also stipulates the 

11/30/2023 

Page 37 of 150 



maintenance requirements that are born by abutters to the public highway. Supporting RSA’s are 

cited: 236:13, 236:19.  Purpose (Article II Newsracks and Public Way Obstructions) is 

proposed to be struck from the ordinance as it deals exclusively with newsracks.  

 

223-20 Definitions (Article II Newsracks and Public Way Obstructions) is replaced with 223-

20 Utilities. This new section covers the obligations of utility providers to obtain City permits for 

work and includes prohibitions on the operation of City utilities. It also supports the water and 

sewer ordinances’ requirements for City-licensed persons only to work on City utilities. Cited 

RSA’s 231:160, 231: 172, 2321:75. 

 

223-21 Prohibited Acts is replaced with 223-21Revocation or Suspension of Permits. This new 

section states the authority of the City to suspend or revoke permits for violations including 

towards health and safety. Supporting RSA cited: 236:32. Prohibited Acts currently falls under 

ARTICLE II which is proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-22 Permit required; application for permit is replaced with 223-22 Emergency Services 

Dispatch to be Notified. This is a similar section to the current 223-6 Fire Chief to be notified but 

with modern references. Permit required; application for permit currently falls under ARTICLE 

II which is proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-23 Standards for installation, maintenance and operation is replaced with 223-23 Moving 

of Buildings Along Highways and Erection of Scaffolding. This section is a re-titled version of 

current 223-7, Moving buildings through streets, for which scaffolding has been added. Proposed 

change is that the Department of Public Works will regulate such operations vs. Department of 

Building and Licensing. This proposal per mutual department agreement. Excavation and 

encumbering of highways and sidewalks have been removed from the current section as 

excavation/encumbering and their permitting are proposed under new sections 223-11 and 223-7, 

respectively. Standards for installation, maintenance and operation currently falls under 

ARTICLE II which is proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-24 Identification required is replaced with 223-24 Traffic Calming Controls. This new 

section addresses various traffic calming measures that the City may employ and the general 

Departmental guidelines for implementation. Specific processes can be handled outside of the 

ordinance with City policies. Identification required currently falls under ARTICLE II which is 

proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-25 Hold harmless agreement; insurance is replaced with 223-25 Conduct on Public 

Highways. This section is actually in the current ordinance as 223-8. It has been shifted to 223-25. 

Existing language remains. Hold harmless agreement; insurance currently falls under ARTICLE 

II which is proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

11/30/2023 

Page 38 of 150 



 

223-26 Removal of newsrack or public way obstruction is replaced with 223-6 Outdoor Dining. 

This new section references recent revisions to Chapter 80 and stipulates that the Department shall 

review all such request to assess potential damages and impacts to drainage or traffic operations. 

Removal of newsrack or public way obstruction currently falls under ARTICLE II which is 

proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-27 Severability is replaced with 223-27 Public Highway Construction Standards. This new 

section outlines the basic construction standards for highways and sidewalks with technical 

references. Further details are available in the City’s construction standards. Severability currently 

falls under ARTICLE II which is proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-28 Injunction is replaced with 223-28 Class VI Highways. This new section addresses the 

City’s regulation of these highways and how they may change classification. Cited are RSA’s 

231:21-a, 236:9-11, 231:191, 231:222-a. Injunction currently falls under ARTICLE II which is 

proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-29 Damage to newsracks and public way obstructions is replaced with 223-29 Reserved. 

Damage to newsracks and public way obstructions currently falls under ARTICLE II which is 

proposed to be struck from the ordinance.  

 

223-30 Violations and penalties is replaced with 223-30 Discontinuance of Public Highways is 

a new section that outlines the Council’s authority to discontinue highways per RSA 231:43. 

Violations and penalties currently falls under ARTICLE II which is proposed to be struck from 

the ordinance.  

 

223-31 is a new section, 223-31 Private Highways. Private Highways cites the limitations of the 

City’s liability for adequacy or safety on a private highway. Also addressed is that the City shall 

not furnish rubbish removal on private highways. Case law indicates that although not public, 

private highways may be required to accommodate public emergency and service vehicles. Also 

included is Council’s authority to change the name of a private highway and the abutters’ 

obligations under RSA 231:81-a to contribute equally to reasonable costs of maintaining the 

highway.  

 

223-32 is a new section, 223-32 Private Construction on a Class VI or Private Highway. This 

new section notes Chapter 275 Zoning authority and the procedure for construction on a Class VI 

highway. Referenced is RSA 674:41.  

 

11/30/2023 

Page 39 of 150 



223-33 Acceptance of Privately Constructed Highways as Public Highways. This new section 

cites the requirements for any such highway to be subject to review and approval by the Planning 

Board, recommended acceptance by the Department and approved by the Council. Cited is RSA 

674:36. The acceptance procedure here enhances current practice and proposes to replace the 

convoluted procedure currently under current section 223-9. Proposal for new street or highway 

or public improvements; sewer and water assessments. The requirements are enhanced by 

prohibiting the acceptance of highways or segments that would be subsequently used by 

developers to further build out highways and infrastructure that may be considered for acceptance 

as City highways or facilities. Included also is a security from the developer of 2% of the 

infrastructure value to be in force for 3 years following acceptance. Also included as a qualification 

for petition of acceptance is 75% build-out of dwelling units or structures.  

 

223-34 Naming of Public Highways and Rights of Way. This is currently under 223-10, Naming 

of public streets and rights of way, and proposed to be shifted to 223-34. Proposed language 

reflects the processes recently adopted by the City E911 Committee and Planning Department.  

 

223-35 Address Numbers on Highways and Right of Ways. This is currently under 223-11,  

Address numbers on streets, highways and rights of way. Shifted to 223-35, new proposed 

language reflects the processes recently adopted by the City E911 Committee and Planning 

Department.  

 

223-36 Construction of Sidewalks. Most of this language is under the current section, 223-12, 

Construction of Sidewalks. Added language is that the Council shall approve where new sidewalks 

are to be installed, to reflect current practice. Also added is that the City will not maintain 

“floating” sidewalks which are limited in practical size, contiguous only to a singular frontage and 

are not served by adjacent sidewalks.   

 

223-37 Highway Lighting. This is a new section that is based off of an internal Department policy 

and years of its practice.  It sets the basic criteria to qualify the installation of new public street 

lighting.  

223-38 Prohibited Use of Poles. This has been deleted and covered under 223-20 Utilities. It is 
replaced with 223-38 Adopt-A-Spot Areas. This is the current section 223-16. Current language 

remains.  

 

223-39 Security. This new section replaces the current section 223-17, Bonds. Proposed is to 

enable the City to required cash, letter of credit (LOC). Bonds can be difficult to call therefore 

cash or LOC is preferred. However, by State law, options for at least 2 forms must be given.  

 

11/30/2023 

Page 40 of 150 



223-40 Violations and Penalties. This is current section 223-18. Current language states $100 

fines not to be exceeded. Proposed language replaces this with the reference of RSA 47:17 and 

fines cited in City Code Chapter 54-3. RSA 47:17 is independent of Chapter 54-3 and allows the 

City to levy greater penalties.  

 

ARTICLE II Newsracks and Public Way Obstructions: Proposed is to remove this article. 

Newsracks are outdated in this media age and obstructions are proposed to be covered in the 

recommended changes above.  

 

 

 

XX 

11/30/2023 

Page 41 of 150 



:

1 
 

§ 223-1  

ARTICLE I 

General Regulations 

 

§ 223-5 

 

§ 223-1. Definitions.  

The following definitions shall be applicable for the purpose of this article: 

BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICE- (BMP): A device, practice, or method used to manage stormwater 

runoff by controlling peak runoff rate, improving water quality and managing runoff volume. 

CLASS, CLASSIFICATION (Highway) – The legislative classification of highways per State statute, RSA 

229:5.  

 

DEPARMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS - (Department). The City department which has the direct 

responsibility to operate, maintain and improve the public highway and sidewalk and related infrastructure 

of the City. 

 

DEPARTMNET STANDARDS – The technical standards promulgated by the Department which prescribe 

the materials, devices, construction methods, trade coordination , appurtenances and operations of highway, 

sidewalk and related infrastructure. 

 

E911 COMMITTEE – The Enhanced 911 (E911) Addressing Committee of the City of Rochester. A body 

with the purpose of ensuring the City adopts and maintains the state standards of addressing. This provides 

for a comprehensive and uniform system of naming and addressing throughout the City. Such body shall 

liaise with the State E911 Unit within the Division of Emergency Services and Communications.  

 

 

FEDERAL HIGHWAY ADMINISTRATION – A division of the United States Department of 

Transportation that specializes in highway transportation. The agency supports state and local governments 

in the design, construction, and maintenance of the nation’s highway system.  

 

HIGHWAY (PUBLIC) – The term used herein in reference to streets, roads and roadways and the term that 

is used to classify roads in accordance with RSA 229:5. . As defined in RSA 229:1. City public highways 

are highways laid out in the mode prescribed per state statue, or roads which have been constructed for 

public travel over land which has been dedicated to public use and accepted by the City, or roads which have 

been used for public travel, other than travel to and from a toll bridge or ferry, for 20 yers prior to January 

1. 1968. Including the bridges thereon. Highway shall include pavement and drainage features and may 

include sidewalks and pedestrian facilities.   

 

HIGHWAY (Class IV) – As defined in RSA 229:5, Class IV highways shall consists of all public highways 

with-in the compact sections of the City and are portions of State highways for which the City is responsible 

to maintain. 

 

HIGHWAY (Class V) – As defined in RSA 229:5, Class V highways consist of public highways other than 

Class IV and Class VI which the City has a duty to maintain. Most public highways in the City  are Class V. 

 

HIGHWAY (Class VI) - A public highway in which the City has no statutory authority to maintain but does 

have statutory authority to regulate travel, excavation, disturbance, abutting property improvements, 

11/30/2023 

Page 42 of 150 



:

2 
 

driveways and wight limits thereon. Class VI highways are created through a layout, a discontinuance subject 

to gates and bars, or by  the City’s failure to maintain and repair such highway in suitable condition for travel 

thereon for five successive years or more. (RSA 229:5, 231:21, 231:21-a, 231: 45, 231:93, 231:191, 236:9-

11, 236:13, RSA 674:41).  

 

HIGHWAY (Private) - A highway that is not a public way and may consist of driveways or easements on 

private property.  The City shall regulate the portions of such highways within the public right of way but 

has no responsibility to maintain such a highway unless such a highway is declared an Emergency Lane per 

RSA 231:59-a. The City may require certain construction features of such highway to be maintained by its 

private owner(s) for emergency services. 

 

 

INSTITUTE OF TRANSPORTATION ENGINEERS – A trade association of transportation professionals 

including, transportation engineers, transportation planners, consultants, educators, technologists, and 

researchers which provides technical guidance to the Federal Highway Administration and communities. 

 

INSUFFECIENCY- For a highway or sidewalk is defined per RSA 231:90, as a case where it is not passable 

in any safe manner by those persons or vehicles permitted on such highway or sidewalk by state law or by 

any more stringent local ordinance or regulation: or there exists a safety hazard or impassibility which is not 

reasonably discoverable by a person who is traveling upon such highway at posted speeds or upon such 

sidewalk and in a manner which is reasonable and prudent as determined by the condition and stat or repair 

of the highway or sidewalk. An insufficiency shall not be the result of the City’s failure to construct , 

maintain or repair it to the same standard as another highway or sidewalk, or to a level of service 

commensurate with its current level of public use. 

 

MANUAL ON UNIFORM TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICES (MUTCD) – Issued by the Federal Highway 

Administration, the purpose of the MUTCD is to set minimum standards for all Traffic Control Devices 

used on U.S. roads and highways. Traffic Control Devices (TCD) include all road signs, highway markings, 

electronic traffic signals, railroad crossings, and road-way construction zone areas.   

 

 

NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES – The primacy agency for the 

state which administers environmental regulation. 

 

NEW HAMPSHIRE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION – The State agency with statutory authority 

to plan, develop and maintain State highway and related infrastructure. 

 

OFF HIGHWAY RECRETIONAL VEHICLE  (OHRV) Use of public Highways. As defined in RSA 215-

A-1 VI as any mechanically propelled vehicle used for pleasure of recreational purposes running on rubber 

tires, tracks, or cusion of air and dependent on the ground or surface for travel, or other unimproved terrain 

whether covered by ices or snow or not, where the operator sits in or on the vehicle. OHRV’s do not include 

snowmobiles. 

 

 

REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED (RSAs cited herein generally are from XX Transportations: Title 

231 Cities, Towns and Village District Highways, and Title 236 Highway Regulation, Protection and Control 

Regulations. 

 

RIGHT OF WAY – A public easement for travel placed across property which may be owned by a 

11/30/2023 

Page 43 of 150 



:

3 
 

municipality or privately, for which usually contains a public highway. The easement is held in trust by the 

government for the use of the public.  

 

 

SNOWMOBILE – As defined by RSA 215-C as any vehicles propelled by mechanical power that is 

designed to travel over ice or snow supported in part by skis, tracks or cleats. Such vehicles may be no more 

than 54” in width and no more than 1200 pounds in weight.  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 44 of 150 



:

4 

 

 

§ 223-2. Regulations of Use of Highways. 

 

The City Council shall regulate the use of all public highways, sidewalks and commons in the 

City and may exercise all the powers conferred (RSA 47:17).  

 

§ 223-3. Standard of Care. 

 

The City’s liability for damages in an action to recover for personal injury or property damage 

arising out of its construction, maintenance, or repair of a public highway or sidewalks shall 

only be considered if an such injury or damage was the result of an insufficiency (RSA 231:91, 

231:92, 231: 92-a). The City is not responsible to implement corrective actions to improve 

pedestrian and motor vehicle travel or safety on highways and access between highways and 

abutting private property where prudent attention of the travelling public is otherwise required 

for safe travel or footing (RSA 231:90). 

 

 

§ 223-4. Prohibiting Use of Highways. 

 

The Department may make rules and regulations prohibiting the use of any or all highways to 

such vehicles as he/she may prescribe in order to prevent the use of said highways when said 

highways are unsuitable for travel thereon, or when such highways may be damaged under 

certain circumstances regarding condition and/or types of vehicles which may travel thereupon. 

Such rules and regulations shall be posted on each highway so regulated and at two other public 

places in the City. Any person violating the provisions of such posted rules and regulations shall 

be subject to a fine not more than five hundred dollars ($500.) and shall be liable for all damage 

occasioned thereby (RSA231:190; 231:191). 

 

§ 223-5. Oversized and Overweight Loads on Public Highways. 

 

In general oversized and overweight loads on City highways shall be regulated by and routed by 

the New Hampshire Department of Transportation in accordance with RSA 41:11. Oversized 

and/or overweight carriers shall prescribe to all such regulation, routing and requirements. 

Restrictions may include “No Through Truck” zones. Heavy vehicles shall comply with the 

weight restrictions of RSA 266:18. The Department may require special permits for oversized 

and overweight loads that may not be regulated by the New Hampshire Department of 

Transportation. 

 

§ 223-6. No Through Trucks Zones. 

 

The City may restrict travel of trucks, classes 5 and above as defined by the Federal Highway 

Administration from segments of any public highway.  Such restrictions shall not apply to 

terminal sources and destinations such as retrieval and delivery points. Non-compliance 

violations may be issued (RSA 41:11). 

 

 

§ 223-7. Highway Damage and Obstructions. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 45 of 150 



:

5 

 

Parking or loading, vending or servicing of vehicles shall not take place in the public right of 

way. Items including but not limited to permanent or portable buildings, signs, lights, basketball 

hoops, hockey goals, blinds or other sports structures, signs, lights, displays, fuel tanks or septic 

systems shall not be permitted on, over, or under public highways to include any Class IV or 

Class VI highways. 

 

Temporary obstructions on highways, sidewalks or in public parking areas for purposes not 

limited to building construction, rehabilitation or utility maintenance shall only be approved 

through a permit issued by the Department. All measures required to protect public safety shall 

be at applicant’s expense. Such permits will be issued if such requested conditions are deemed 

not to be adverse to public travel. Any damage sustained shall be repaired at the offender’s 

expense and the Department shall have the right to require adequate surety for restoration 

purposes.   

 

No obstructions shall be placed onto the highway or sidewalks which may cause any defect, 

insufficiency or want of repair which renders it unsuitable for public travel or affects is integrity 

or operation or affects the vision of the travelling public as determined by the Department. No 

person shall cover a fire hydrant with snow, ice or any debris. Violators are subject to 

misdemeanor (RSA 236:21). 

 

The Department shall have full authority to remove obstructions. Persons placing obstructions 

onto the highway or sidewalks or damaging guardrails, signs, traffic controls, bridge or markers 

shall be guilty of a violation or misdemeanor. Such person shall be liable for injuries sustained 

and damages made (RSA 236:39, 236:38, 236:32, 236:29, 236:28, 236:8). 

 

Any person erecting or continuing any building, structure or fence which interferes with, hinders 

or obstructs public travel shall be guilty of a violation (RSA 236:16).  

 

Any non-public access or private frontage to a public highway that becomes or may become a 

potential threat to the integrity of the highway or its surface, ditches, embankments, bridges, or 

other structures, or a hazard to the safety of the traveling public, by reason of siltation, flooding, 

erosion, frost, vegetative growth, improper grade or the failure of any culvert, traffic control 

device, drainage structure, or any other feature, shall have issued to its owner a notice of 

correction by the Department. If such order does not result in a cure of the situation, the 

Department may implement corrective action and owner shall be civilly liable for costs in such 

corrective action (RSA 236:39, 236:38, 236:32, 236:29, 236:19).  

 

Abutters to public highways shall not alter the ground along their frontage within the right of 

way to include addition of pavement, plantings or ditches. Driveway aprons may be installed or 

modified per the conditions of §223-19.  

 

 

§223-8. Obstruction of sidewalks. 

 

No person shall unnecessarily place any obstruction on any foot pavements or sidewalks. No 

person shall be permitted to construct a ramp up to and across the sidewalk adjacent to his/her 

property or place any other obstructions thereon without first securing a permit from the 

Department to do so.  Snow and ice shall not be placed onto sidewalks. No person shall traverse 

sidewalks with motorized vehicles. Any modifications to sidewalks to accommodate ingress 

11/30/2023 

Page 46 of 150 



:

6 

 

and/or egress by motorized vehicles shall be restored by the responsible party to the satisfaction 

of the Department.  

 

 

§ 223-9. Authorized Seasonal Periods of Work Within Right of Way. 

 

Construction, maintenance and repair work of highways, sidewalks and appurtenant 

infrastructure within the right of way will normally be conducted by the City from April 1 – 

November 31 unless deemed an emergent need as determined by the Department. The same 

period shall apply for similar work on private infrastructure that may in the future be considered 

for acceptance by the City. 

 

§ 223-10. Reserved. 

 

 

§ 223-11. Excavation on Highways, Right of Ways and Pavement Disturbance Moratorium. 

 

For a period of five years, beginning with the date of completion of the final paving of a public 

highway relating to the construction, maintenance overlay or reconstruction of said highway, no 

person, firm or corporation of any agent or thereof shall excavate or disturb the paved or traveled 

portion of the highway in the City of Rochester at any time, except for emergencies as may be 

deemed necessary solely by the Department then only upon the posting by such entity of 

sufficient security, as determined by the Department and the agreement of such entity, to pay the 

cost of restoring such highway of way to its original condition. Such period shall be the pavement 

disturbance moratorium. 

 

Excavations to the highway within the period of the pavement disturbance moratorium shall 

require majority vote of the City Council approval. Such requests shall be furnished to the 

Department through the permit application process. The Department shall review and either 

recommend approval or disapproval to the City Council.   

 

An excavation permit shall be required for all earth disturbances within the right of way including 

to pavement, sidewalks and any transportation facilities. The permittee shall detail all aspects of 

the work including safety and traffic control measures.  

 

The permittee shall be the contractor of record executing the work.  

 

Permits will not normally be issued between December 1st and March 31st unless determined solely by 

the Department to be an urgent need.  

 

Permits that have been authorized but where work has not commenced shall expire on December 31st of 

the year issued. In such cases a new permit and application fee shall be required for the original proposed 

work.  

 

Excavation activities shall not occur on Fridays, weekends or designated holidays without the 

prior written approval of the Department. A 48-hour notice shall be required by the permittee to 

the Department prior to the start of work and any key activities that warrant Department review.  

 

11/30/2023 

Page 47 of 150 



:

7 

 

The Department may require sufficient restoration security for excavations prior to permit 

approval. A restoration security of $5,000 shall be required to be posted for any excavation 

approved that may impact the pavement of a highway which receives a pavement disturbance 

moratorium waiver.  

 

Excavations shall be suitably covered during operations to prevent injury or impact to 
travel. Anyone performing excavation within one hundred feet of an underground facility 
shall participate in and comply with the State of New Hampshire’s damage prevention 
system, commonly referred to as Dig-Safe, in accordance with Title XXXIV, Chapter 374 
General Regulations, Underground Facility Damage Prevention System. 

 

Pavement restoration shall be completed in accordance with this ordinance and the Department’s 

standards. Native materials shall be used as backfill and may be supplemented with approved processed 

materials if native quantities or quality are not adequate as determined by the Department.  

 

All open trenches shall be stabilized with pavement no later than the Friday of the week of the work.  

Application of proper binder course pavement as specified herein shall be completed within 5 days of the 

completion of utility work. Application of wear course pavement may occur any time following 

application of binder course but prior to final approval.  

 

When an excavation disturbance impacts a concrete sidewalk, minimum restoration shall consist of all 

impacted panels in whole and any curbing.  

 

Compaction tests may be required by the Department when it has reason to doubt suitable compaction 

standards have been achieved. Such tests may be required to be executed following pavement restoration 

by an independent testing agency if the Department believes adequate compaction was not achieved 

during the work. Such costs including pavement disturbance, testing and adequate restoration shall be 

borne by the permittee.   

 

The Department may inspect utility work in progress. The Department may require the permittee to 

furnish photographic evidence of key aspects of the work. Permittee shall notify the Department 

immediately following pavement restoration activities so that the Department may perform the initial 

inspection.   

 

The Department will inspect the restoration again between 6 months and 1 year following immediate 

restoration to determine if defects such as settlement, pavement damage or impacts to other infrastructure 

have occurred over time. Defective work that is noted at the second inspection shall be corrected by the 

permittee within 10 working days. Permit shall be closed when acceptable restoration is verified. 

 

Defective work noted by the Department during the interim time between initial inspection and second 

inspection shall be corrected by the permittee at their cost within 5 working days of notice or the 

implementation of an approved restoration plan. Correction of interim defects shall not relieve the 

contractor from the requirements of the second inspection and any corrective work required at that time 

to close the permit.  

 

Any work that is not corrected by the permittee may be executed by the Department and billed to the 

permittee at full cost which shall be uncontestable.  

 

11/30/2023 

Page 48 of 150 



:

8 

 

Permittees which have a history of defective work may be denied future permits. Such future permits may 

be considered solely by the Department if adequate security is furnished by the permittee. Permittees 

which have a history of defective work may have their City utility license(s) revoked. 

 

Nothing in this section limits the authority of the Director Planning from their authority 
per Chapter 275, Zoning, Article 22 regarding abandoned excavation sites. 

Any other provision of this article notwithstanding, any person, firm or corporation or any 
agent thereof that shall violate the provisions of this section shall be subject to a fine of 
not more than five hundred dollars ($500.) and full restoration costs. 

 

 

§ 223-12 Drainage. 

 

Stormwater quality and control shall for private development be per the administration and 

requirements of Chapter 218 of the City Ordinances. The City is its own compliance agency and 

shall meet the requirements of permits issued by the New Hampshire Department of 

Environmental services and/or the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 

 

The City has the right and legal duty to ensure that the impact of flowage to the highway from 

areas outside of the right of way is minimized. This may be accomplished by the installation and 

maintenance of ditches, culverts, bridges and other facilities.  

 

Drainage flowage from private properties shall be directed such that such flowage does not 

adversely impact the right of way. Such impacts shall be corrected by the property owner at their 

expense.  

 

Unless City work occasions additional flowage from the highway onto an abutting 
property for which a degradation in property use can be verified, the City shall not be 
responsible for flowage onto an abutting property which is due to that property’s elevation 
in relation to the highway. The City shall use a reasonable standard of care in their 
highway work to minimize flowage onto abutting properties. Nothing herein shall relieve 
the City from its requirements under RSA 231:75. 

Drainage easements for the City to access private property shall be required as necessary 
for the City to operate and maintain drainage features which are appurtenant to flowage 
from right of ways or City infrastructure.   

Culverts beneath driveways whichabut public highways shall be maintained at owner’s 

privateinhe right ofway (RSA 23 

§ 223-13 Winter Storm Management. 

 

Snow and ice shall not be placed into the highway or upon sidewalks or in a manner which 

impacts accessibility of a hydrant unless such placement is temporary and immediately 

appurtenant to the removal efforts of the abutter. Snow or ice that remains on the highway or 

sidewalk that does not comply with this section shall subject the abutter or responsible party to a 

violation (RSA 236:21). 

 

The Department shall implement and maintain a winter storm maintenance policy for City public 

11/30/2023 

Page 49 of 150 



:

9 

 

highways and sidewalks which describes to the public the intended priorities and actions of ice 

and snow removal and processing. The Department shall not be held liable for damages arising 

from insufficiencies or hazards on public highways, bridges or sidewalks when Department 

operations in accordance with such policy are effectuated (RSA 231:92-a). 

 

The Department is not obligated to replace mailboxes that are damaged by City winter storm 

management operations. The Department may replace damaged mailboxes using economical 

replacement materials and following storms when operations allow. 

 

 

§223-14 Off Highway Recreational Vehicle and Snowmobile Use of Public Highways. 

 

Off highway recreational vehicles shall be prohibited on all public highways and sidewalks with 

the exception of bridges per RSA 215-A:8. Snowmobiles may be allowed on highways and may 

cross bridges per RSA 215-A:8, however cannot operate in the travelled portion of the highway. 

On public ways snowmobiles shall travel in the extreme right and travel at 20 miles per hour or 

less. Licensure shall be obtained and operation shall comply with the requirements of RSAs 215-

C:6, II, 215-C:1 XIX, 482:A-3 VIII, 215-C:8 III(b)(2), 215-C:8 IX and 215-C:8 X. 

 

 

§ 223-15.   Public Highway Maintenance. 

  

Public highways shall be maintained by the Department at their discretion on frequency and using 

practices commonly used by similar municipalities and those endorsed by associated 

maintenance and engineering trade organizations. For work within the right of way, that consists 

of maintenance grading or cleaning or repairing of existing ditches or culverts without affecting 

their size or positioning, the Department will not normally notify abutters (RSA 231:75, 231:92). 

 

The City Council shall annually approve a capital improvements plan for public highways as 

recommended by the Department.  (RSA 231:92, 674:5) 

 

Abutters to highways are responsible for their access and any grades, culverts or other structures 

pertaining to such access whether or not located in the public right of way. (RSA 236:13). 

 

No public highway, access highways or private highways shall be constructed so as to traverse 

any watershed tributary to a lake, pond or reservoir used for the storage of public drinking water 

without obtaining the approval of the Department of Environmental Services (RSA 485:9).  

 

§ 223-16. Highway Roadside Clearing. 

 

The City shall maintain a regular program of roadside clearing within the right of way to reduce 

safety hazards or otherwise damage to the highway. Any tree with a circumference of 15 inches 

or more at a point four feet from the ground will not be removed by the City without due 

notification to the owner unless such tree presents an immanent threat to safety or property. 

Notification shall follow the procedures set forth in RSA 231:145 and 231:146.  The City may 

require utilities which may have lines in such trees to assist in removal at their expense. Such 

rights of the City extend to Class VI highways (RSA 231:145, 231:150). 

 

§ 223-17. Invasive Plant Species. 

11/30/2023 

Page 50 of 150 



:

10 

 

 

Invasive plant species are alien plant species whose introduction causes or is likely to cause a 

variety of harm to the public. They constitute trees, vines, shrubs and grasses. The Department 

will remove invasive species from the right-of-way when found and upon request when such 

presence may inhibit safe travel or otherwise be harmful to the physical highway (RSA 430:53) 

and will have no duty of care to replace such plantings with non-invasive species. The 

Department shall restore grounds beneath removed plantings in a reasonable manner. Invasive 

plant species are unlawful to plant or transport (RSA 430:51-57).  

 

 

§ 223-18. Repair of Public Highway, Bridge or Sidewalk.  

 

Whenever any public highway, bridge, or sidewalk shall, from want of necessary repair, or 

because of any repairs or construction being made therein by the Department become unsafe 

for travel, the Department shall have erected a suitable fence or railing to exclude all travelers 

from passing over the same and shall require the maintenance at night such lights as may be 

necessary to warn the traveler of the hazard. If said repairs or construction is being made by 

any other department or person, the head of such other department or person shall erect and 

maintain the same guard fence, rails and lights. 

 

 

§ 223-19. Public Highway Access - Driveways. 

 

The Department shall retain continuing jurisdiction over the adequacy and safety of every 

existing driveway, entrance, exit and approach to a public highway or right of way, whether or 

not such access was constructed or installed pursuant to a permit (RSA 236:13). Private highways 

where they intersect with public highways shall be considered driveways and subject to the 

requirements of this section and ordinance.  

 

All new driveways including private highways and driveways intersecting Class IV, V and VI 

shall be subject to approval by the Department through a permit process. Applicants shall provide 

details on locations, approaches, grades, construction materials, any traffic control and drainage 

features. Applicants shall adhere to any City regulations regarding setbacks.  

 

The Department shall approve through a permit process proposed changes to existing driveways 

in grade, approach angle, location and size and drainage.  Requirements and process shall follow 

those outlined in RSA 236:13. 

 

Stormwater permits may be required in cases of proposed driveways which service commercial, 

multi-family, industrial or institutional facilities, or for single family homes in which unique 

characteristics of driveway and highway grades or drainage appurtences may require stormwater 

management for the benefit of the public highway. 

 

The owners of property abutting a public highway shall be responsible for the adequacy of the 

access to the public highway, and any grades, culverts, or other structures pertaining to such 

access, whether or not located in the right of way. If any such access is or becomes a potential 

threat to the integrity or operation of the highway or becomes a hazard to the travelling public, 

the Department may issue an order to the owner or other party responsible for such access to 

repair or remove the condition of hazard and obtain all required permits. Such order shall be 

11/30/2023 

Page 51 of 150 



:

11 

 

enforceable to the same extent as a permit. If the order is not complied with within the time 

prescribed, the Department may cause to be taken whatever action is necessary to correct the 

deficiency and the owner or responsible party shall be civilly liable to the City for its cost in 

taking such action. (RSA 236:13 and RSA 236:19). In addition the City may issue a violation.  

 

Setbacks of driveways from property lines shall be in accordance with 275-26.  

 

§ 223-20. Utilities. 

 

Work on City owned utilities such as water and sewer shall be done only by entities that are 

licensed by the City to perform such work. Licensure requirements for sewer and water are set 

forth in Chapters 200 and 260 of the City Ordinances, respectively. Gas and electrical utility 

work shall be done by persons licensed by their respective trades and appropriate State agency.  

 

No person shall erect, construct, put up or maintain any poles, wire, terminal, underground 

conduits and cables, structures or other electrical appurtenances for television, telephonic, 

telegraphic, electric power or electric lighting, or any water, sewer, drainage or gas lines along, 

across, under or over any public highway, sidewalk, in any right of way or City property without 

obtaining a City license.  

 

In-ground utility work shall require an excavation permit from the Department for installation, 

relocation, augmentation or alteration of in-ground utilities.  

 

Easements for underground utilities when outside of the public right of way shall be at least 30 

feet in width. 

 

Only City employees shall operate fire hydrants, valves or any other operable element of the 

City’s water, wastewater or drainage utilities.  

 

 

Utility companies shall have authority to install or erect their utilities in the City’s right of ways 

as licensees of the City (RSA 231:160).   

 

Aerial utility companies shall obtain a license from the City for the erection, augmentation or 

relocation of poles. Utilities shall be responsible for owner consent regarding tree cutting or 

pruning per RSA 231:172. 

 

No person shall use said poles for the posting of bills or other advertising purposes or for any other 

purpose except that for which permission is given by the Department.

11/30/2023 

Page 52 of 150 



:

12 

 

 

 

 

The City shall be indemnified against all damages, costs and expenses to which it may be 

subjected due to the location, construction, maintenance of any pole, structure, conduit, cable, 

wire or other apparatus of the utility and the utility shall indemnify the City against all damages, 

and expenses to which it may be subjected to by reason of any insufficiency or defect in the 

highway occasioned by the presents of wires and supports (RSA 231:168, 231:175).  

 

 

 

 

§ 223-21. Revocation or Suspension of Permits. 

 
If the terms or conditions of a permit are violated by a permit holder and the Department finds 
that the violation does not constitute an immediate hazard to public health, safety or welfare, the 
Department shall give written notice to the permit holder in writing by email of an intention to 
suspend or revoke the permit, and a statement of the facts or conduct upon which the Department 
intends to base its action.  If corrective action is not implemented to the Department’s 
satisfaction in a reasonable time, the Department may implement corrective action it deems 
necessary within the right of way to   restore the right of way and charge such costs to the 
permittee. The City may use any security posted to implement corrective action. (RSA 236:32).  

 
If terms or conditions of a permit are violated by the permit holder and constitute a danger to 
public health, welfare or safety, the Department shall immediately suspend the permit and   all 
work by the permittee shall be ceased and corrective measures implemented by the permittee to 
the satisfaction of the Department. Notice of suspension shall be issued in writing by email and 
communicated by telephone. If corrective action is not implemented to the Department’s 
satisfaction in a reasonable time, the Department may implement corrective action it deems 
necessary within the right of way to restore the right of way and charge such costs to the 
permittee. (RSA 236:32, 236:39).  
 
 
§ 223-22. Emergency Services Dispatch to be Notified. 

 

Any person or private or public entity or department of the City, before digging up, obstructing 

or encumbering and/or redirecting common or convenient traffic patterns in any way any 

highway, lane, alley, sidewalk, or other public place in the City, shall, before beginning such 

work, notify the City’s Emergency Services Dispatch Center as to where such work is to be done 

and shall, immediately upon the completion of such work and the restoration of the place to its 

normal condition, notify same. A permit shall be required from the Department prior to any such 

disruption or encumbrance. 

 

§ 223-23. Moving of Buildings Along Highways and Erection of Scaffolding.  

 

No person shall move, or assist in moving, any house, shop or other building through any 

highway, lane, or alley or erect scaffolding without first obtaining a written license from the 

Department. Whenever the Department  shall as aforesaid grant permission to any person to 

encumber any highway, sidewalk, or public square for the purpose of erecting, altering or moving 

buildings or scaffolding, it may, as a condition to granting such permission, require the party 

obtaining the same to furnish a surety of indemnity in a form acceptable to the Department, in such 

11/30/2023 

Page 53 of 150 



:

13 

 

sum and with such securities as the Department may deem proper. Applicant is responsible for 

all safety and traffic control measures. The Department of Public Works may require an 

obstruction permit for such work.  

 

§ 223-24. Traffic Calming Controls. 

 
Traffic calming controls may be implemented by the Department   on public highways as 
approved by the City Council. Implementation may be through the capital process or by request.  
 
In its implementation the Department will employ engineering judgement as guided by the 
Institute of Transportation Engineers, FHWA Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices and 
any other applicable transportation technical trade or agency organizations.  Traffic calming 
practices may include the installation of speed tables, raised crosswalks, speed humps, bump 
outs, pedestrian refuges, speed cushions, roundabouts, or other crosswalk safety enhancements. 
Roundabout consideration shall require engineering study. 
 
 
§ 223-25. Conduct on Public Highways. 

The following conduct with respect to the use of the City highways and highways shall be 
regulated as more fully set forth below: 

A. No person shall place, establish, or maintain any sign, awning or shade before his/ her 
place of business, dwelling house or tenement, over any part of any highway or sidewalk, 
unless the same is safely fixed and supported so as in no way to endanger persons passing 
upon such highway or sidewalk, and so that the lowest part of such sign, awning or shade 
shall be at least seven feet above the sidewalk; nor shall any person hang, affix, fasten, 
place or allow to remain upon the outer edge of any sidewalk any sign or showcase 
whatever, or there display any goods, merchandise, or samples of any business calling, 
trade, art or craft, so as to obstruct the free passage and view to and from the highway and 
sidewalk. 

B. No person shall sell at auction or otherwise upon any highway or public square in the City 
any furniture, goods, wares or merchandise whatever, or place or in any manner encumber 
such highway or square therewith, without first obtaining a permit from the Department 
and obtaining a secondhand dealer's/hawker's license from the Building and Licensing 
Services Department. 

C. No person shall draw or cause to be drawn, move or cause to be moved, upon any public 
highway or highway, any equipment or instrument or implement liable to cause damage to 
the surface of said public highway or highway, unless the same is being transported upon 
a vehicle or other conveyance.  Any damage resulting from such action shall be remedied 
by such person to the satisfaction of the Department, or the Department will effect 
corrections and charge the such person for the cost of corrections. 

D. No theatrical or dramatic representation shall be performed or exhibited, and no parade or 
procession upon any public highway or way, unless a special license shall first be obtained 
from the Building and Licensing Services Department. (See Chapter 22, Amusements and 
Entertainment, Article III, Public Dances, Circuses and Parades.). 

E. Dumping on highway, highway, lane, alley, sidewalk, or other public place within the City 
limits of Rochester is prohibited.  

 

§ 223-26. Outdoor Dining. 

11/30/2023 

Page 54 of 150 



:

14 

 

 

Outdoor dining on City property or appurtenant to public highways and sidewalks shall comply 

with Chapter 80, Article II of the City Ordinances. The Department in its review of such requests 

for outdoor dining shall consider the effects on existing drainage, potential damage to highways 

and sidewalks and any impacts to multi-modal traffic operations. The Department may issue 

directives to the requestor to ensure infrastructure operation, safe, effective travel and restorative 

actions. The Department may require an obstruction permit.  

 

§ 223-27. Public Highway Construction Standards. 

 

The City Council shall have full authority over the construction, maintenance and repair 
standards of the City which shall be at least as stringent as those of the State (RSA 231:92). 

    City public highways shall have the following basic minimum design elements: 

    Highways: 

Wearing course:  Hot Mix Pavement; one and one half inch (NHDOT Items 401, 

403); ½”  aggregate             

            Binder course:    Hot Mix Pavement; two and one half inch (NHDOT Items 401, 
403); ¾”   aggregate 

            Base:    Crushed gravel: six inches (NHDOT Item 304.3) 

            Subbase:  Bank run gravel: twelve inches (NHDOT Item 304.2) 

            Compaction:  95% (NHDOT Item 304; 3.6 and 3.7) 

Curbing: Granite. At least 18 inches depth and at least 5 inches wide set 
in concrete over ¾     inch crushed stone; vertical or sloped 
(NHDOT Item 609) 

            Sidewalks:: 

                  Portland cement concrete – Class AA; 4,000 psi; 4 inches thick; 
6 inches thick at tip downs; fiber or steel mesh (NHDOT Item 
520 and 608), reinforcement (NHDOT Item 544.2), Base: 
crushed gravel: nine inches (NHDOT Item 304.3), protective 
coating silane or siloxane (NHDOT Item 534.2.); maximum 
running slope 12:1; cross slope 2%; or 

                                   Hot Mix Pavement; (NHDOT Item 401 and 608 (2.5), 1 1/2 inch 
finish thickness; 1 ½ inch binder thickness; base 10 inches 
crushed gravel (NHDOT Item 304.3) 

                                   All features compliant with the Americans with Disabilities Act.  

  Other features shall be per the City’s technical standards and/or 
Subdivision Regulations and Site Regulations 

Driveways and private highways which intersect public highways: 

                           

11/30/2023 

Page 55 of 150 



:

15 

 

Shall be evaluated for approval referencing the geometric 
requirements of the New Hampshire Department of 
Transportation Policy Relating to Driveways and Access to  
State Highway System or its successor document(s). 

 

 
§ 223-28. Class VI Highways. 

 

Class VI highways are public highways for which the City has no duty of care, however has full 
authority to regulate use, excavation or disturbance or driveways and to regulate weight limits 
(RSA 231-21-a, 231:93, 236:9-11, 236:13, 231:191).  

 

Class V highways which became Class VI highways due to a five or more year lapse in 
maintenance by the City, but which subsequently has been regularly maintained and repaired by 
the City on more than a seasonal basis and in suitable condition for year round travel thereon 
for at least five successive years shall become a Class V highway upon vote of the City Council  
(RSA 231:45-a). 

 

Class VI highways may be reclassified by the City Council as a Class V highway per RSA 
231:22-a. Petitions for the layout of a Class V highway over a Class VI highway shall follow 
the betterment assessment procedures of RSA 231:28-33.  

 

Emergency Lanes may be created out of the improvement of a Class VI highway. (RSA 231-
59-a). 

 
§ 223-29. Reserved. 

 
 

§ 223-30. Discontinuance of Public Highways. 

 

The City Council has full authority to discontinue any Class IV, V and VI highways (RSA 
231:43). 

 

§ 223-31. Private Highways. 

 

Unless existing as of the effective date of this paragraph, private highways are prohibited from 
these requirements unless part of a plan approved by the Planning Board and noted as such.  

 

The City shall have no requirement for care nor liability for adequacy or safety thereupon a 
private highway. The City may require certain geometric features and construction materials 
and methods for private highways to aid emergency vehicle access.  

 

The City will not collect rubbish on a private highway. Until a highway is officially accepted as 
a City highway, the owner of the highway has the sole responsibility to collect rubbish, 
themselves, or other private agreement. No rubbish shall be placed on a public highway or right-

11/30/2023 

Page 56 of 150 



:

16 

 

of-way without approval from the Department. 
 

Safe passage shall be maintained for all vehicles once a certificate of occupancy is issued on a 

private highway. The highway shall be accessible for residences, emergency vehicles, and 

service vehicles as determined by the Department of Public Works and the Fire Department. 

Safe passage shall include winter maintenance, general highway surface repair, and 

maintenance of all infrastructure such as lighting, fire hydrants, and sidewalks.  

 

The City Council may change the name or address assignment of any private highway when 
necessary to confirm to the requirements of the enhanced 911 telecommunications system (RSA 
F231:133, 231:133-a).  
 

Residential owners of property which derive enjoyment from a highway not maintained by the 
City shall contribute equally to the reasonable cost of maintaining the private road and damaged 
occasioned to the highway by an abutter shall be corrected at that abutter’s expense (RSA 
231:81-a).  

 

 

§ 223-32. Private Construction on a Class VI or Private Highway: 

 

Private construction on Class VI highways shall be restricted to the approved uses per Chapter 

275 Zoning and City process procedures. 

 

The procedure for construction on a Class VI or private highway shall be: 

 
The developer or its agent shall submit a Site Plan or Subdivision application to the Planning 

Department to request the authorization of Building Permits on a Class VI or private highway. 

The application shall address all requirements of Site Plan or Subdivision Regulations.  

 

The application shall also include: 

 
Draft language to be recorded which clearly states the municipality neither assumes 

responsibility for maintenance of said class VI highway nor liability for any damages resulting 

from the use thereof in accordance with RSA 674:41. 

 

After review and comment by the Planning Board, City Council shall vote to authorize 

Building Permits. 

 

Prior to the issuance of a Building Permit, the applicant shall file with the Registry of Deeds a 

notice of the limits of municipal responsibility and liability in accordance with RSA 674:41. 

 

§ 223-33. Acceptance of Privately Constructed Highways as Public Highways. 

 

No proposed new public highway with or without new public sewer or water, public 

improvements, developer contributions, or any combination of the above, shall be laid out , 

accepted or constructed which is not subject to review and approval by the Planning Board, 

11/30/2023 

Page 57 of 150 



:

17 

 

recommend for acceptance by the Department of Public Works and approved by the City 

Council (RSA 674:36). 

 

A private highway shall not be considered for acceptance until a minimum of 75% of dwelling 

units or structures have obtained certificate of occupancy and any infrastructure required to 

support full function of at least such number of units is completed and functioning adequately 

as determined solely by the Department. Notwithstanding this section, the City shall release 

surety partially as appropriate to reflect achievement of progress goals towards completion of 

the infrastructure in accordance with approved plans and City construction standards.  

All private highway construction which may be intended for acceptance as City highways 
shall be subject to surveillance by the City. Developers shall accommodate all such 
inspections and execute any corrective action required by the City to comply with City 
Standards. 

 

The City will not normally accept highways or segments of highways for acceptance that 
would be subsequently used to support construction activities related to further build out 
of private highways and infrastructure that may be considered for acceptance.  

 

Developers are responsible for all maintenance and services to highways intended to be 
petitioned for acceptance until such acceptance is final. Such services include but are not 
limited to trash pickup and snow and ice removal.  

 

The degradation of a highway intended to be petitioned for acceptance shall not be 
considered for acceptance until it has been rebuilt or restored to the Department’s 
standards.  

 

 

The procedure for public highway acceptance shall be: 

A. The developer or its agent shall submit a written petition to the City Clerk on 
behalf of the City Council for acceptance of a private highway as a City highway. 
The developer or its agent shall provide three copies of the letter each for the 
Planning Department, Public Works Department and Legal Department.  

B. The letter shall include: 

a. Construction reports of materials testing data, certified by an independent, 
qualified source in paper and electronic format. 

b. All inspection reports and photos.  

c. Technical literature and data for all elements of the infrastructure including 
pavement design, pavement bases, utility pipes, water test results of 
pressure, disinfection, sewer manhole vacuum, sewer mandrel, video of 
water and sewer pipe interiors, pump stations and appurtances in paper and 
electronic format. 

d. Drainage maintenance agreement signed by the owner.  

11/30/2023 

Page 58 of 150 



:

18 

 

e. Descriptive deed, which details any fee title property and infrastructure that 
will be owned by the City and that which will be owned and maintained by 
a Homeowner’s Association, if applicable,  in paper and electronic format  

f. Copy of drainage/utility and/or other easements in descriptive language in 
paper and electronic format 

g. Recordable as-built plans in paper and electronic format 

h. Full set of record drawings to include final survey plan showing all project 
improvements in paper and electronic format 

i. A security in the form of an irrevocable letter of credit or passbook to 
guaranty that all site work was properly done to be posted by the applicant 
with the Department, which shall place the security with the City Treasurer. 
Such maintenance guaranty shall be in an amount of 2% of the value of the 
infrastructure intended to be conveyed to the City established in the City’s 
schedule of values for such improvements and such values as are updated 
to reflect current values at the time of the petition. Elements shall include 
full cost of replacement for all street trees and other landscaping required, 
roadway, drainage and pedestrian facilities, and in force for three years 
after the date of City acceptance. If such repairs are required of the City 
following acceptance due to improper installation by the developer, such 
guaranty shall be used to implement corrective actions.  

C. The Department of Public Works will make a recommendation to the City Council 
for public highway acceptance when the following have been met: 

a. Resolution of any construction quality issues to the satisfaction of the 
Department to include restoration of damaged pavement even if such 
damage is due to age, consistent with sound trade practice.  

b. All on or off-site improvements or contributions required by the Planning 
Board and Department of Public Works are complete and functioning as 
determined by the Department. 

c. Final wear surface of asphalt pavement installed on all highways and 
sidewalks and all associated striping and signage.  

d. All final grades, elevations and final vegetation within the right of way are 
complete, established and functioning as determined by the Department of 
Public Works 

e. Drainage ditches have been stabilized; where grass is the stabilizer, a 
minimum of 90% growth has occurred as determined by the Department. 

f. All stormwater, drinking water and wastewater facilities are complete and 
functioning as determined by the Department of Public Works 

g. All on-site amenities such as highway trees, walking paths, gazebos, 
highway furniture, other structures, and landscaping required by the 
Planning Board are complete and functional as determined by the 
Department of Public Works 

h. Adequate surety remains to complete the balance of the work as approved 
by the Planning Board 

11/30/2023 

Page 59 of 150 



:

19 

 

i. A minimum of 75% of dwelling units or structures have obtained certificate 
of occupancy and all infrastructure required to support full function of at 
least such number of units is completed and functioning as determined by 
the Department of Public Works 

D. The City Council shall hold a public hearing on the proposed acceptance with 
public notice furnished by the City by certified mail (RSA 231:10). Upon 
acceptance by the City Council as a City highway, the following shall be 
submitted to the City Clerk with copies to the Planning Department, Legal 
Department and Department of Public Works within 30 days: 

a. Signed warranty deed(s), easements, Home Owner Association covenants, 
stormwater management plans,  if applicable and stamped recordable 
plan(s) for recording by the City Clerk 

E.     The acceptance of a private highway as a public highway shall not be construed 
to confer upon the municipality any notice of, or liability for, insufficiencies or 
defects which arose or were created prior to such acceptance (RSA 231:92).  

 
§ 223-34. Naming of Public Highways. 

 

 

A. Proposed highway names shall be approved by the City Council. Proposed names shall 

be submitted to the Planning and Development Department by application of private 

owner, developer or dedicator.  The proposed name shall be reviewed by the E911 

Committee. Following review the name and such name shall be presented to the City 

Council for approval.   Naming assignments shall be issued by letter to the applicant 

with copies to City departments and the State E911 Unit within the Division of 

Emergency Services and Communications (RSA 231:133). 

 

 

B. The City shall not be bound by any name previously assigned to the highway, highway 

or right-of-way by the private owner, developer or dedicator. No name for a highway, 

highway, or right-of-way shall be selected which is already in use, or which is 

confusingly similar to any other existing name, or which otherwise might delay the 

locating of any highway in an emergency. Names of highways shall not duplicate or beat 

phonetic resemblance to the name of existing highways within the City (RSA 231:133) 

 

C. The City Council may change an existing name on any public or private highway at 
any time when in its judgment there is occasion for so doing such as in adherence to 
the requirements of the enhanced 911 telecommunications system (RSA 231:133)..  

D. Whenever a change in name is proposed to any highway or right of way, the E911 
Committee shall make a recommendation to the City Council. Once approved, the E911 
Committee shall make a record of a new name or name change and shall forward a copy 
of such record to the Department of Transportation, in accordance with the 
requirements of RSA 231:133, as presently enacted or in accordance with the 
corresponding provisions of any recodification or amendment thereof. In the process 
of assigning names to highways, highways and right-of-way, the E911 Committee shall 
follow the New Hampshire Addressing Standards Guide, to the extent possible:  

 

11/30/2023 

Page 60 of 150 



:

20 

 

(1) No name shall be assigned to a highway, highway or right-of-way which shall 
duplicate the name of any other proposed or existing highway, regardless of the 
use of the suffix "highway," "avenue," "boulevard," "drive" or the like. 

(2) The extension of an existing highway shall have the same name as the existing 
highway. 

 
(3)  Before a new highway name is assigned to an existing highway, the proposed 

name of such highway shall be reviewed by the E911 Committee. The Committee 

shall submit their comments, if any, with regard to the proposed name to the City 

Council.   

E. The Planning and Development Department shall have the authority to assign a 

provisional name to all highways, highways and/or rights-of-way shown upon 

subdivision or site review plans being considered for approval by the Planning Board; 

provided, however, that no such provisional name shall be assigned to such highway 

unless it has been approved by the E911 Committee.  

 

§ 223-35. Address Numbers on Highways and Right-of-Ways.  

 

A. Pursuant to the provisions of RSA 231:133-a, the Planning and Development 

Department shall have the authority to assign numbers to vacant lots and all existing 

residential and/or commercial structures. 

 

B. Assignment of addresses for new construction shall be initiated through the driveway 

permit application process. Applicant shall provide with the application a plan or map 

showing road stationing and the proposed tax map and lot numbers.  

 

C. Driveway permit applications, plans or maps shall be reviewed by the Planning and 

Development Department to determine addressing. Driveway permits shall not be issued 

until addressing is assigned.  Addressing assignments shall be issued by letter to the 

applicant with copies to relevant City departments, the E911 Committee, the State E911 

Unit within the Division of Emergency Services and Communications, and the US Post 

Office. The Planning and Development Department may issue temporary addresses until 

final assignments are determined.  

 

D. Existing address assignments may be altered when they no longer conform with 

addressing standards.  

 

(1) When a proposed change would not impact any surrounding properties, the E911 

Committee may propose an address reassignment. The property owner is issued 

a letter that provides the new proposed address and includes the reason for the 

address reassignment. 

i. If the property owner agrees and signs a consent to the proposed change, 

the address reassignment process continues. 

ii. If the property owner does not agree with the proposed change, they may 

submit an appeal to the E911 Committee for reconsideration. The 

Committee may decide to grant the appeal or confirm their original 

11/30/2023 

Page 61 of 150 



:

21 

 

decision, at which the property owner may take the matter to City Council 

for a public hearing and final determination of the addressing concern. 

(2) When a proposed change impacts abutting properties or property owners do not 

provide consent, a public hearing shall be scheduled. In such cases, the City shall 

notify abutting property owners and hold a public hearing for which 10 days’ 

notice has been given in accordance with RSA 231:133-a. Full authority and 

discretion to re-assign addressing shall rest with the City Council.  

 

 

E. In assigning numbers to vacant lots and residential and/or commercial structures, the 

Planning and Development Department shall employ the following criteria:  

 

(1) For every 10 feet of right-of-way frontage within the Special Downtown 
District of the City of Rochester, as defined in Chapter 275, Zoning, of the 
Code of the City of Rochester, there shall be an individual number 
assigned. 

(2) For every 50 feet of right-of-way frontage outside of the Special 
Downtown District of the City of Rochester, as defined in Chapter 275, 
Zoning, of the Code of the City of Rochester, there shall be an individual 
number assigned. 

(3) Highways shall be numbered so that even numbers are located on the left 
side of the right-of-way and odd numbers are located on the right side of 
the right-of- way. The right and left sides of the right-of-way shall be 
determined by the relationship of the right-of-way to a person facing away 
from the center of the City of Rochester at the statue of Parson Main. 

(4) The numbering for cul-de-sac shall begin at the intersection of the cul-de-
sac and the collector right-of-way and shall proceed from the right-hand 
side of the collector right-of-way from right to left around the cul-de-sac. 

(5) Mobile home parks and condominium and apartment complexes shall, to 
the extent possible, name their private highways and number each unit 
consistent with the E-911 standards set forth in this section. 

(6) Each apartment building shall be given one highway number and each 
apartment unit within such building shall be assigned that highway number 
and unit number. 

(7) Existing numbering patterns for existing highways, highways and rights-of-
way which do not allow for the assignment of additional numbers for 
future development may be assigned new numbers by the Planning and 
Development Department.  

(8) The beginning of a highway shall be that end which intersects with a 
collector highway and, so far as possible, shall be that end closest in 
distance to the statue of Parson Main.  
 

F. Any building or structure for which a number has been designated shall have such 

number affixed thereto in such manner as to be plainly visible from the highway, 

11/30/2023 

Page 62 of 150 



:

22 

 

which abuts the main entrance to the property. Such numbers shall be a minimum 

of 4 inches in height with minimum stroke width of ½” in accordance with the 

Fire Code as adopted by the State of New Hampshire.  

G. Failure to display an assigned number in the manner set forth above shall be 

grounds for denial of a certificate of occupancy.  Any violation of the provisions 

of this article or any order of the Director or the Code Compliance Officer related 

thereto are subject to citation and the civil penalties set forth in RSA 47:17 and 

Code § 54-3. 

 

 

§ 223-36. Construction of Sidewalks. 

 

Sidewalks built by the City of Rochester for the use of the travelling public shall be in locations 

approved by the City Council. Sidewalks shall be constructed under the supervision of the 

Department. The Department will not maintain non-contiguous sidewalks which are of such 

limited in practical size such as sidewalks along a singular property frontage which are not 

served by adjacent sidewalks. 

 

Residents who wish to have new sidewalks built for their highway may by petition of abutters 

who by written application shall agree to pay a portion of the cost of construction of said 

sidewalk, said portion not exceeding 1/2 of the said cost, payment to be made over a period not 

to exceed 10 years. The portion of the cost to be borne by the petitioner shall be both 

reasonable and proportional to the benefits according to the land upon which such assessment is 

made (RSA 231:112). 

 

 

§ 223-37. Highway Lighting.  

 

The Department shall have supervision of all municipal lighting and location of electric light 

and utility poles within the City limits and is authorized to prescribe rules and regulations for 

any modifications of any poles, crossarms or supporting fixtures which are located within the 

public highway. Improvements made for private purposes to said poles, crossarms, or 

supporting fixtures shall require a permit from the Department and be made at the requestor’s 

expense.  

 

Highway lighting for new residential or commercial construction or highway layout shall be 

guided by the City’s Subdivision or Site Plan regulations and the professional judgement of 

City staff. 

 

Requests for new or enhanced highway lighting on public highways not appurtent to new 

construction or highway layout construction shall be considered by the City Council. In 

general, the following areas may considered: 

 

The termination area of dead end or no outlet highways. 

 

Intersections of public highways. 

 

Highway areas where multi-modal safety or general public safety can be enhanced. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 63 of 150 



:

23 

 

Crosswalks. 

 

Highway lighting shall be for the benefit of the traveling public and shall not be considered for 
the sole benefit of the property of abutters.   

 

It is unlawful to place any light along a highway so positioned to impact the vision of the 
travelling public (RSA 236:55).  
 

 

 § 223-38. “Adopt-A-Spot” Areas  

 

The City Manager, in the exercise of duties relative to the oversight of all real and personal 

property owned by  the City of Rochester, as specified in Section 14 of the Rochester City 

Charter, from time to time, designates certain areas of the City, primarily areas included within 

or closely related to the highways servicing the City of Rochester, as “Adopt-A Spot” areas. 

“Adopt-A-Spot” areas are maintained, landscaped and/or otherwise  beautified by designated 

individuals and/or entities that volunteer to preform such functions for the purpose of improving 

the appearance of the “Adopt-A-Spot” areas, as well as the appearance of the City of Rochester 

as a whole. The City Manager shall annually, on or about May 1 of each year, establish a list of 

"Adopt-A-Spot" areas for the ensuing calendar year beginning on such May 1 and ending on 

the following April 30. A copy of such list shall be maintained in the City Manager's office and 

in the office of the City Clerk. In the  event that the City Manager fails to update the "Adopt-A-

Spot" list on or about May 1 of a given year, the "Adopt-A-Spot" list then on file in the office of 

the City Manager shall be controlling for the purposes of this section. No person shall, within any 

"Adopt-A-Spot" area, erect or maintain any sign or other advertising material whether for political 

purposes or otherwise, except for such advertising material and/ or device as has been previously 

authorized in writing by the City Manager or his/her designee. Any person failing to comply with 

the provisions of this section shall be guilty of a violation. 

 

§ 223-39. Security. 

The Department may require any person seeking to perform any work affecting any highway, 

bridge, sidewalk or other public property to furnish surety in the form of a cash, or letter of 

credit to indemnity to the City of Rochester in such sum and with sureties as the Department 

may deem proper. Bonds will generally not be acceptable forms of security.  

 

§ 223-40. Violations and Penalties. 

        Any violation of the provisions of this article or any order of the Director or the Code 
Compliance Officer related thereto are subject to citation and the civil penalties set forth 
in RSA 47:17 and Code § 54-3. 

 

 

 

ARTICLE II 
Newsracks and Public Way Obstructions 

[Adopted 6-6-1995 as Ch. 35 of the 1995 Code] 

 
§ 223-19. Purpose. 

Commented [RO1]: Much of this seems no longer 

applicable. We could pull together a sidewalk obstruction / 

encumbrance section that outlines our current needs like 

addressing: outdoor seating, "sandwich boards", other 

marketing tools, and scaffolding or construction needs? 

11/30/2023 

Page 64 of 150 

https://ecode360.com/32216511#32216511


:

24 

 

The purpose of this article is to promote the public health and safety through the 
regulation of the placement of newsracks and public way obstructions. 

 

§ 223-20. Definitions. 

As used in this article, the following terms shall have the following meanings, unless the 
context clearly indicates that a different meaning is intended: 

CITY — The City of Rochester. 

NEWSPAPER or NEWS PERIODICAL — A daily or weekly publication containing all 
of the following: current news, editorials, feature articles and advertising.[Amended 3-
5-2019] 

NEWSRACK — Any self-service or coin-operated box, container, storage unit or other 
dispenser installed, used, or maintained for the display and sale of newspapers or news 
periodicals. 

PARKWAY — That area between the sidewalk and the curb of any highway, and where 
there is no sidewalk, that area between the edge of the highway and the property line 
adjacent thereto. "Parkway" shall also include any area within a highway which is not 
open to vehicular travel. 

PUBLIC WAY OBSTRUCTION — Any object other than a newsrack which obstructs 
the free passage of pedestrians or vehicles on the highways, sidewalks, parkways or 
highways. The term "public way obstruction" shall include, but not be limited to, signs 
and planters. 

HIGHWAY — That portion of a highway improved, designed, or ordinarily used for 
vehicular travel. 

SIDEWALK — Any surface provided for the exclusive use of pedestrians on any public 
right-of-way under the jurisdiction of the City. 

HIGHWAY — All that area dedicated to public use or public highway purposes and shall 
include, but not be limited to, highways, parkways, alleys, sidewalks, garages, parking 
lots, parks and playgrounds.[Amended 3-5-2019] 

 

Public Way Obstructions 

 

A. No person shall obstruct a public road or sidewalk, except with a permit issued by the 

Department of Public Works.  

 

B. No person shall, place, install, or locate any structure, fixture, object, or other 

encroachment within the limits of a public road or sidewalk, except as follows: 

 

 

a. Pursuant to a license issued by the department of public works 

 

b. A sign or fence permitted in accordance with the City’s Zoning Ordinance, or 

 

Commented [RO2]: Draft language which could include 

all types of encumbrances. This would require the creation of 

an Obstruction Permit.  

11/30/2023 

Page 65 of 150 



:

25 

 

c. For all other types of structures, fixtures, objects or other encroachments, pursuant 

to a revocable license from the Department of Public Works, which the Director 

may issue for good cause for non-intrusive structures, fixtures, objects, or other 

encroachments on such terms as the Director may determine and require. 

 
 

§ 223-21. Prohibited acts. 

A. No person shall install, use, attach or maintain any newsrack or public way 
obstruction which projects onto, into or over any part of the highway of any public 
highway or which rests, wholly or in part, upon, along or over any portion of the 
highway of any public highway. 

B. No person shall install, use, attach or maintain any newsrack or public way 
obstruction which in whole or in part rests upon, in or over any public sidewalk or 
parkway when such installation, use or maintenance endangers the safety of persons 

11/30/2023 

Page 66 of 150 



:

26 

 

§ 223-21 ROCHESTER CODE § 223-23 
 

or property, or when such site or location is used for public utility purposes,  public 
transportation purposes or other uses, or when such newsrack or public  way 
obstruction unreasonably interferes with or impedes the flow of pedestrian or 
vehicular traffic, including any legally parked or stopped vehicle, the ingress or 
egress for any residence or place of business, or the use of poles, posts, travel signs 
or insignias, hydrants, mailboxes or other objects permitted at or near said location. 

C. Within 60 days of the passage of this article every person or other entity shall 
comply with the provisions of this article with respect to each newsrack and/or 
public way obstruction owned by it within the City. [Amended 3-5-2019] 

 

§ 223-22. Permit required; application for permit. 

A. No person shall install or maintain any newsrack or public way obstruction which 
in whole or in part rests upon, in or over any public sidewalk or parkway without 
further applying for and being granted a permit from the Licensing Board. The 
permit application shall include the following: 

(1) The physical dimensions of each newsrack or public way obstruction to be 
installed or maintained in the City by the person; 

(2) The name, address, and telephone number of the person or entity to whom or 
to which the permit is to be issued; and 

(3) A diagram showing the location of the newsrack or public way obstruction and 
the dimensions of the sidewalk, if any, upon which it is to be located. 

B. Newsracks shall require the submission of a permit application, but the permit shall 
be granted by the Licensing Board on a ministerial basis provided that the proposed 
newsrack as installed will not violate the provisions of § 223-21 above. 

 

§ 223-23. Standards for installation, maintenance and operation. 

Any newsrack or public way obstruction which in whole or in part rests upon, in, or over 
any public sidewalk or parkway shall comply with the following standards: 

A. All newsracks and public way obstructions must be individually permitted by 
location. 

B. No newsrack or public way obstruction shall be chained, bolted or otherwise 
attached to any public property, or to any private property, without the written 
permission of the City, the owner, or the person in possession of the property to 
which the attachment is to be made. 

C. Newsracks and public way obstructions shall not be chained or otherwise attached 
to one another. 

D. The City shall issue a proof of permit in the form of a sticker or decal which shall 
be attached to the newsrack or public way obstruction at all times. 

E. All permits must be renewed annually prior to July 1. 

F. Unlicensed newsracks or public way obstructions will be considered abandoned and 

Commented [RO3]: I wasn’t able to locate this permit. I'm 

not sure its still applicable. 

11/30/2023 

Page 67 of 150 



:

27 

 

§ 223-23 HIGHWAYS AND SIDEWALKS § 223-28 
 

subject to removal without notice. 

G. All permits are nontransferable. 

H. The annual fee for each permit shall be fifty dollars ($50.), regardless of when 
during a year such permit is issued. 

I. Any permit may be revoked at any time, by action of the Licensing Board; provided, 
however, that any revocation initiated by the Licensing Board shall entitle the owner 
of the newsrack and/or public way obstruction to a pro rata refund of the annual 
permit fee paid pursuant to the preceding Subsection H of this section. 

 

§ 223-24.  Identification required. 

Within 30 days after this article becomes effective, every person or other entity which 
places or maintains a newsrack or public way obstruction on the highways of the City 
shall have his/her/its name, address and telephone number affixed thereto in a place 
where such information can be easily seen. 

 

§ 223-25. Hold harmless agreement; insurance. [Amended 3-5-2019] 

Every person or other entity which places or maintains a newsrack or public way 
obstruction on a public sidewalk, parkway, highway or highway in the City shall file a 
written statement with the Licensing Board, satisfactory to the City Attorney, whereby 
he/she/it agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, its officers, City Council 
members and employees from any loss or liability or damage, including expense and 
costs for bodily injury or damage to private or public property sustained by any person as 
a result of the installation, use or maintenance of a newsrack or public obstruction within 
the City. A certificate of insurance in a form approved by the City Attorney indicating 
no less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.) in general liability insurance coverage and 
naming the City as an additional insured shall be maintained on file with the Licensing 
Board by each such person or entity. 

 

§ 223-26. Removal of newsrack or public way obstruction. 

The City Manager or his/her designee shall remove any newsrack or public way 
obstruction placed on any highway, sidewalk, parkway or highway in violation of this 
article. 

 

§ 223-27. Severability. 

The provisions of this article are severable. If any provision of this article or its 
application to any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not  affect 
other provisions or applications of this article without the invalid provisions or 
applications. 

 

§ 223-28. Injunction. 

Any violation of this article is hereby declared to be a nuisance. In addition to any other 
relief provided by this article, the City Attorney may apply to a court of competent 
jurisdiction for an injunction to prohibit the continuation of any violation of this article. 
Such application for relief may include the seeking of a temporary restraining order, 

Commented [RO4]: I don’t believe we do this. 

Commented [RO5]: I don’t think we have a mechanism 

for enforcement or follow-up for this section 

11/30/2023 

Page 68 of 150 



:

28 
 

§ 223-28 ROCHESTER CODE § 223-30 
 

preliminary injunction and/or permanent injunction. 
 

§ 223-29. Damage to newsracks and public way obstructions. 

Any damage to newsracks or public way obstructions, whether or not properly licensed, by any cause 
whatsoever, including snowplowing and removal, shall be at the sole expense of the owner. 

 

§ 223-30. Violations and penalties. 

Any violation of the provisions of this article or any order of the Director or the Code Compliance 
Officer related thereto are subject to citation and the civil penalties set forth in RSA 47:17 and Code 
§ 54-3. 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 69 of 150 

https://ecode360.com/32216511#32216511


The following Code does not display images or complicated formatting. Codes should be viewed online. This 

tool is only meant for editing.  

Chapter 223  

Streets and Sidewalks  
[HISTORY: Adopted by the City of Rochester as indicated in article histories. Amendments noted 

where applicable.]  

GENERAL REFERENCES 

Parades — See Ch. 22, Art. III. 

Peddling and soliciting — See Ch. 171. 

Vehicles and traffic — See Ch. 254. 

 

Article I  

General Regulations  

[Adopted 6-6-1995 as Ch. 15 and § 26.7 of the 1995 Code]  

§ 223-1 Definitions.  

[Amended 3-5-2019]  

The following definitions shall be applicable for the purpose of this article: 

COMMISSIONER  

The Commissioner of Public Works or his/her designee. See § 7-18A of the City Code. 

COMMITTEE  

The subcommittee of the City Council (Public Works and Building Committee) having responsibility 

for overseeing expenditures, maintenance and control of public buildings, streetlights, public parks, 

sewerage, streets and highways and residential solid waste/recycle disposal. The Committee members 

shall be designated by the Mayor and shall enjoy membership according to rules and regulations as 

established by the City Council. The responsibilities of this Committee shall be enumerated by the City 

Council and shall further be as set forth within this article, and this Committee shall be referred to 

throughout this article as "Committee." 

§ 223-2 Repair of highway, bridge or sidewalk.  

[Amended 3-2-2004]  

Whenever any highway, bridge, or sidewalk shall, from want of necessary repair, or because of any repairs or 

construction being made therein by the Highway Division of the Department of Public Works, become 

unsafe for travel, the Commissioner, upon instruction of the City Manager, shall erect a suitable fence or 

railing to exclude all travelers from passing over the same and shall maintain at night such lights as may be 

necessary to warn the traveler of the hazard. If said repairs or construction is being made by any other 

department or person, the head of such other department or person shall erect and maintain the same guard 

fence, rails and lights. 

11/30/2023 

Page 70 of 150 



§ 223-3 Prohibiting use of highways.  

The Commissioner may make rules and regulations prohibiting the use of any or all highways to such 

vehicles as he/she may prescribe in order to prevent the use of said highways when said highways are 

unsuitable for travel thereon. Such rules and regulations shall be posted on each highway so regulated and at 

two other public places in the City. Any person violating the provisions of such posted rules and regulations 

shall be fined not more than one hundred dollars ($100.) and shall be liable for all damage occasioned 

thereby. 

§ 223-4 Elevation.  

The datum from which all elevations for street and other City work shall be calculated shall be that of the 

U.S. Geodetic Survey, as given on the standard discs of the survey. 

§ 223-5 Permit for excavation upon highway or sidewalk.  

A. No person shall break or dig up the ground, stone or concrete in any street, lane or alley, or in any 

sidewalk or common in the City, or erect any staging for building, or fence off any portion of said street 

or sidewalk, or place or deposit any stone, brick, timber, or other building material thereon, without first 

obtaining a written permit from the Commissioner and complying in all respects with conditions said 

Commissioner may impose. Whenever any street, lane, alley, sidewalk, or other public place in the City 

shall, under any permit granted, be dug up, obstructed or encumbered, and thereby rendered unsafe or 

inconvenient for travelers, the person so digging up, obstructing or encumbering shall put, and at all 

times keep up, a suitable railing or fence around the section or parts of any street, lane, alley, or 

sidewalk or other public place so dug up, obstructed or encumbered, so long as the same shall be, or 

remain, unsafe or inconvenient as aforesaid, and shall also keep such fence adequately illuminated every 

night from dusk until dawn so long as such railing or fence shall be kept standing. He/she shall also, at 

his/her expense, to the acceptance of the Commissioner, and within such reasonable time as the 

Commissioner shall direct, repair such street, lane, alley, sidewalk or public place. [Amended 3-5-2019]  

B. For a period of five years, beginning with the date of completion of the final paving of a public street or 

way relating to the construction or reconstruction of said street or way, no person, firm or corporation or 

any agent or servant thereof shall excavate, construct or in any way encumber the paved or traveled 

portion of the street or way in the City of Rochester at any time, except for emergencies as may be 

deemed necessary by the Commissioner of Public Works and then only upon the posting by such entity 

of sufficient security, as determined by the Commissioner of Public Works and the agreement of such 

entity, to pay the cost of restoring such street or way to its original condition or with the approval by 

majority vote of the City Council. For one year after being notified of the completion of such restoration 

by such entity, the Commissioner may reduce the amount of the security posted by such entity; 

however, the Commissioner shall retain sufficient security to ensure that such restoration has been 

performed in a manner that will ensure that said street or way has been restored to its original condition. 

One year after being notified of the completion of such restoration, the Commissioner shall inspect the 

area restored and shall release such security if, in the judgment of the Commissioner, such restoration is 

satisfactory. [Amended 3-2-2004; 4-7-2015; 4-5-2016]  

C. Any other provision of this article notwithstanding, any person, firm or corporation or any agent or 

servant thereof that shall violate the provisions of this section shall be subject to a fine of not more than 

five hundred dollars ($500.).  

§ 223-6 Fire Chief to be notified.  

Any person or corporation or department of the City, before digging up, obstructing or encumbering in any 

11/30/2023 

Page 71 of 150 



way any street, lane, alley, sidewalk, or other public place in the City, shall, before beginning such work, 

notify the Fire Chief as to where such work is to be done and shall, immediately upon the completion of such 

work and the restoration of the place to its normal condition, notify the Fire Chief. 

§ 223-7 Moving of buildings through streets.  

[Amended 3-5-2019]  

A. No person shall move, or assist in moving, any house, shop or other building through any street, lane, or 

alley without first obtaining a written license from the Licensing Board. Whenever the Licensing Board 

shall as aforesaid grant permission to any person to encumber any street, sidewalk, or public square for 

the purpose of erecting, altering or moving buildings or to dig up or encumber the same in any other 

manner, it may, as a condition to granting such permission, require the party obtaining the same to 

furnish a bond of indemnity to the City of Rochester, in such sum and with such securities as the 

Licensing Board may deem proper.  

B. The fee for such license shall be twenty-five dollars ($25.).  

§ 223-8 Conduct on public streets and highways.  

The following conduct with respect to the use of the City streets and highways shall be regulated as more 

fully set forth below: 

A. No person shall place, establish, or maintain any sign, awning or shade before his/her place of business, 

dwelling house or tenement, over any part of any street or sidewalk, unless the same is safely fixed and 

supported so as in no way to endanger persons passing upon such street or sidewalk, and so that the 

lowest part of such sign, awning or shade shall be at least seven feet above the sidewalk; nor shall any 

person hang, affix, fasten, place or allow to remain upon the outer edge of any sidewalk any sign or 

showcase whatever, or there display any goods, merchandise, or samples of any business calling, trade, 

art or craft, so as to obstruct the free passage and view to and from the street and sidewalk.  

B. No person shall sell at auction or otherwise upon any street or public square in the City any furniture, 

goods, wares or merchandise whatever, or place or in any manner encumber such street or square 

therewith, without first obtaining a permit from the City Manager and obtaining a secondhand 

dealer's/hawker's license from the Department of Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services. [Amended 

5-1-2007; 10-15-2013]  

C. No person shall draw or cause to be drawn, move or cause to be moved, upon any public highway or 

street in said Rochester, any harrow, plow, or other instrument or implement liable to cause injury to the 

surface of said public highway or street, unless the same is being carried or transported upon a drag, 

vehicle or other conveyance.  

D. No theatrical or dramatic representation shall be performed or exhibited, and no parade or procession 

upon any public street or way, unless a special license shall first be obtained from the Licensing Board. 

(See Chapter 22, Amusements and Entertainment, Article III, Public Dances, Circuses and Parades.) 

[Amended 3-5-2019]  

E. Dumping on highways. No person shall deposit or dump bottles, glass, crockery, cans, scrap metal, 

junk, paper, garbage, old automobiles, automobile parts, or any other stones, snow, residential solid 

waste, dirt, ashes, lumber or any other thing either in or upon any highway, street, lane, alley, sidewalk, 

11/30/2023 

Page 72 of 150 



or other public place within the City limits of Rochester. [Amended 12-5-1995; 3-5-2019]  

§ 223-9 Proposal for new street or highway or public improvements; sewer and water assessments.  

No proposed new street or highway or new public sewer, water, street surfacing, or other public 

improvements, or any combination of the above, shall be laid out, accepted or constructed on behalf of the 

City by the City Council which is not subject to review by the Planning Board under Rochester Subdivision 

Regulations until the following requirements have in all respects been complied with: 

A. The person or persons offering said street or highway layout or requesting new public sewer, water, 

street surfacing or other public improvements, or any combination of the above, shall proceed as 

follows: 

(1) Make written petition to the Planning Board, which shall provide the following: 

(a) A description of or reference to a map or plan, showing the starting points, courses, and termini of the 

street or highway, and requested sewer, water, street surfacing and other public improvements, as may 

be necessary.  

(b) A description of the lands affected by said street and public improvements.  

(c) The names of the owners of such lands.  

(d) The estimated cost for the construction of said streets or highways and other necessary public 

improvements.  

(e) A separate form of sewer or water agreement, providing that a person shall pay for the total cost of any 

sewer or water extensions, which said costs shall be determined by the Commissioner of Public Works, 

and each agreement shall further provide for the payment of the total cost of said sewer or water 

extensions plus full payment of interest on account of any debt to be incurred by the City in the 

construction of said sewer or water extensions. Each agreement shall further provide that the total cost 

of said sewer or water extensions and payment in full of the interest on any debt to be incurred by the 

City in the construction of said sewer or water extensions shall be paid by the person desiring such 

construction by means of a special sewer or water assessment and shall constitute a lien on all land of 

said person. Said lien shall be transferable upon the conveyance of said improved land, provided that all 

prior installments thereon have been paid. Each agreement shall further provide that said special sewer 

or water assessment shall be based upon the total cost of the construction plus the payment of interest on 

any debt incurred by the City, and may further provide that said cost and interest may be prorated over a 

period not exceeding 10 years. Each agreement shall further provide that in the event of a transfer or 

sale by the original petitioner of the property serviced by said extension, the balance then owing to the 

City for said extension shall be paid in full. Said agreement shall be recorded in the Strafford County 

Registry of Deeds, and said lien shall have the full force and effect of a tax lien and be collectable as 

such as provided by RSA 80:88 to 80:91 as presently enacted or the corresponding provisions of any 

recodification or amendment of these sections. Said agreement shall also be signed and shall be duly 

witnessed and acknowledged. Any agreement for sewer or water shall be limited to individual owners of 

residential homes only, who shall be reimbursed for any payment made as above provided in the event 

that Phase II of the Water Pollution Abatement Program of the City of Rochester is adopted. Any 

commercial, industrial or real estate development owners shall pay their pro rata share of such sewer 

11/30/2023 

Page 73 of 150 



and water improvements in cash prior to construction. [Amended 3-5-2019]  

(2) Said street or highway shall be a minimum of 50 feet in width.  

(3) Give a warranty or other satisfactory fiduciary deed of conveyance describing said property to the City 

of Rochester.  

B. The Planning Board shall review said petition and agreement and shall report in writing to the City 

Council and to the Commissioner of Public Works the following: 

(1) The need of such street or highway and any necessary public improvements.  

(2) The character of the proposed street layout and necessary public improvements and their relationship to 

the future development of the City as a whole.  

(3) The necessity, if any, for sewer, water, street surfacing and other public improvements.  

C. The Commissioner of Public Works shall report in writing to the City Council the following: 

(1) The estimated cost of final surfacing for any of said street or highway by the City.  

(2) The estimated cost for any necessary sewer, water or other public improvements.  

(3) The estimated period of time required to complete said street or highway surfacing and to construct said 

sewer, water and other necessary public improvements.  

D. The City Council shall proceed as follows: 

(1) Review the petition and agreement of the person or persons offering said street or highway and each 

person desiring necessary sewer, water or other public improvements; review the action and 

recommendations of the Planning Board; and examine the report of the Commissioner of Public Works. 

The petition of the person or persons, the action and recommendations of the Planning Board, if any, 

and the report of the Commissioner of Public Works shall be first accepted by the City Council by a 

majority vote of the entire membership of the Council.  

(2) If the above petition, action and report are all accepted by a majority vote of the City Council, the City 

Council shall require each person to provide the City with a written agreement, signed and duly 

witnessed and acknowledged, in which each person agrees to pay his/her pro rata share of the special 

assessment hereinabove provided. No agreement and no deed shall be accepted by the City without a 

two-thirds roll call vote of the Council. Said two-thirds roll call vote shall be based upon the entire 

membership of the City Council.  

E. Any person who refuses to sign an agreement to pay his/her pro rata share of the special assessment for 

new construction of said sewer or water extension prior to said construction or any other person who 

shall refuse to sign such an agreement at a later date to pay his/her pro rata share of the special 

assessment shall be prohibited from joining in any new sewer or water extensions in the City of 

Rochester without paying his/her pro rata share of the special assessment, as the case may be, for the 

construction of said sewer or water extensions in the City of Rochester.  

11/30/2023 

Page 74 of 150 



F. The pro rata share of each person shall be determined by dividing the total cost of construction of said 

sewer or water extensions plus any necessary interest to be incurred in financing of said sewer or water 

construction by the number of lots as laid out on said plan or map in order to determine each person's 

pro rata share of the special assessment.  

G. The funds received from the collection of such special sewer or water assessments shall be kept as 

separate and distinct funds and shall be known by their respective names as the "Sewer Fund" or the 

"Water Fund" as the case may be. Any surplus in any such fund or funds may be used for the 

enlargement or replacement of said sewer or water extensions but shall not be used for the extension of 

said sewer or water to serve unsewered or unwatered areas or for any purpose other than for cost of 

construction and payment of interest on any said newly constructed sewer or water extensions.  

H. A copy of this amendment shall be recorded in the Strafford County Registry of Deeds under the title of 

"City of Rochester Sewer or Water Liens" and any other indexing as the Register of Deeds may deem 

appropriate.  

I. Any lien created by this amendment or by said original ordinance or other prior amendment thereto shall 

also be deemed to be in the form of a tax lien, and any default thereon shall also be collectable by an 

action in debt, or other appropriate action, and said lien shall also have the full force and effect of a real 

estate attachment, as well as a tax lien.  

J. This amendment shall take effect upon its passage and no petition shall be considered without complete 

compliance with said section and all amendments thereto.  

§ 223-10 Naming of public streets and rights-of-way.  

A. Every highway, street or right-of-way under the control of the City and which is to receive, or has 

received, legal status by acceptance shall have a name which shall be given it by the City Council in 

accordance with the provisions of RSA 231:133, as presently enacted, or in accordance with the 

corresponding provisions of any recodification or amendment of such section. Said name shall be 

legibly marked on a suitable signboard or other marker and placed in at least two conspicuous places on 

said street. The City Council may change the name of any such street, highway or right-of-way at any 

time when in its judgment there is occasion for so doing.  

B. The naming of any new street, highway or right-of-way shall form a part of the return of the layout of 

the street or highway, or of the acceptance of any dedicated way. The City shall not be bound by any 

name previously assigned to the street, highway or right-of-way by any private owner, developer, or 

dedicator. No name for a highway, street, or right-of-way shall be selected which is already in use, or 

which is confusingly similar to any other existing name, or which otherwise might delay the locating of 

any street in an emergency.  

C. Whenever a name is assigned to any new street, highway or right-of-way, or a change is made in the 

name of any street, highway or right-of-way, the City Council shall make a return of the same to the 

City Clerk, who shall make a record of a new name or name change and shall forward a copy of such 

record to the Commissioner of Transportation, in accordance with the requirements of RSA 231:133, as 

presently enacted or in accordance with the corresponding provisions of any recodification or 

amendment thereof. In the process of assigning names to streets, highways and rights-of-way, the City 

Council shall follow the following guidelines, to the extent possible: [Amended 6-5-2001]  

11/30/2023 

Page 75 of 150 



(1) No name shall be assigned to a street, highway, or right-of-way which shall duplicate the name of any 

other proposed or existing street, regardless of the use of the suffix "street," "avenue," "boulevard," 

"drive" or the like.  

(2) The extension of an existing street shall have the same name as the existing street.  

(3) Before a new street name is assigned to a street, highway or right-of-way by the City Council, or an 

existing street is renamed by the City Council, the proposed name of such street shall be reviewed by a 

committee consisting of the City Clerk, Fire Chief, Police Chief, Planning and Development Director, or 

their respective designees, and the Rochester Postmaster, or his/her designee, who shall submit their 

comments, if any, with regard to the proposed name to the City Council. No proposed name which 

receives a negative review by a member of the aforementioned committee shall be utilized.  

D. The Planning Board shall have the authority to assign a provisional name to all streets, highways and/or 

rights-of-way shown upon subdivision or site review plans being considered for approval by the 

Planning Board; provided, however, that no such provisional name shall be assigned to such street 

unless and until such time as the Planning Board shall have followed the procedures set forth in 

Subsection C above with respect to such proposed street name.  

§ 223-11 Address numbers on streets, highways and rights-of-way.  

[Amended 6-15-1999; 6-5-2001]  

A. Pursuant to the provisions of RSA 231:133-a, the Planning and Development Director of the City of 

Rochester, or his/her designee, shall have the authority to assign numbers to all existing residential 

and/or commercial structures and/or to vacant lots. In assigning numbers to residential and/or 

commercial structures and/or vacant lots, the Planning and Development Director, or his/her designee, 

shall employ the following criteria: [Amended 10-15-2013; at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, 

General Provisions, Art. II)]  

(1) For every 10 feet of right-of-way frontage within the Special Downtown District of the City of 

Rochester, as defined in Chapter 275, Zoning, of the Code of the City of Rochester, there shall be an 

individual number assigned.  

(2) For every 50 feet of right-of-way frontage outside of the Special Downtown District of the City of 

Rochester, as defined in Chapter 275, Zoning, of the Code of the City of Rochester, there shall be an 

individual number assigned.  

(3) Streets shall be numbered so that even numbers are located on the left side of the right-of-way and odd 

numbers are located on the right side of the right-of-way. The right and left sides of the right-of-way 

shall be determined by the relationship of the right-of-way to a person facing away from the center of 

the City of Rochester at the statue of Parson Main.  

(4) The numbering for culs-de-sac shall begin at the intersection of the cul-de-sac and the collector right-of-

way and shall proceed from the right-hand side of the collector right-of-way from right to left around the 

cul-de-sac.  

(5) Mobile home parks and condominium and apartment complexes shall, to the extent possible, as 

determined by the committee established in § 223-10C(3) above, name their private streets and number 

11/30/2023 

Page 76 of 150 



each unit consistent with the E-911 standards set forth in this section.  

(6) Each apartment building shall be given one street number and each apartment unit within such building 

shall be assigned that street number and unit number.  

(7) Existing numbering patterns for existing streets, highways and rights-of-way which do not allow for the 

assignment of additional numbers for future development may be assigned new numbers by the 

Planning and Development Director or his/her designee.  

(8) All new buildings and/or structures, as defined in Chapter 275, Zoning, Article 2, of the Code of the 

City of Rochester, or additions to existing buildings and/or structures, shall be required to obtain and file 

with the Department of Building, Zoning, and Licensing Services a foundation certification plan in 

accordance with the requirements of Chapter 40, Building Construction and Property Maintenance, 

§ 40-15.  

(9) The beginning of a street shall be that end which intersects with a collector street and, so far as possible, 

shall be that end closest in distance to the statue of Parson Main.  

(10) Any building or structure for which a number has been designated shall have such number affixed 

thereto in such manner as to be plainly visible from the street which abuts the main entrance to the 

property. Such numbers shall be a minimum height as to meet current Fire Code requirements.  

(11) The owner of any building or structure who shall fail to affix an assigned number to his/her mail box 

and building or structure within 30 days of written notice from the Planning and Development Director 

shall be fined not more than twenty-five dollars ($25.) for each day that such number is not affixed. Any 

number affixed in accordance with this subsection shall be visible from the street. With respect to new 

structures, failure to display an assigned number in the manner set forth above shall be grounds for 

denial of a certificate of occupancy.  

B. The assignation or alteration of numbers by the Planning and Development Director pursuant to the 

provisions of Subsection A above shall be provisional only until such time as such assignation or 

alteration of numbers shall be confirmed by the Planning and Development Director after the holding of 

a public hearing by the City Council in accordance with the provisions of RSA 231:133-a.  

§ 223-12 Construction of sidewalks.  

All sidewalks built by the City of Rochester shall be constructed under the supervision of the Commissioner. 

Preference in order of construction of cement sidewalk shall be given to petitioners who by written 

application shall agree to pay a portion of the cost of construction of said sidewalk, said portion not 

exceeding 1/2 of the said cost, payment to be made over a period not to exceed 10 years. The portion of the 

cost to be borne by the petitioner shall be both reasonable and proportional to the benefits according to the 

land upon which such assessment is made. 

§ 223-13 Obstruction of sidewalks.  

No person shall unnecessarily place any obstruction on any foot pavements or sidewalks. No person shall be 

permitted to construct a ramp up to and across the sidewalk adjacent to his/her property or place any other 

obstructions thereon without first securing a permit from the Commissioner to do so. 

§ 223-14 Streetlighting.  

[Amended 3-5-2019]  

11/30/2023 

Page 77 of 150 



The Commissioner shall have supervision of all municipal lighting and location of electric light and utility 

poles within the City limits and is authorized to prescribe rules and regulations for the marking or painting of 

any poles, crossarms or supporting fixtures which are located within the public highway. All persons owning 

or using said poles, crossarms or supporting fixtures shall paint or mark at their own expense said poles, 

crossarms, or supporting fixtures in accordance with the rules, regulations and directions of said 

Commissioner. 

§ 223-15 Prohibited use of poles.  

No person shall use said poles for the posting of bills or other advertising purposes or for any other purpose 

except that for which permission is given by the Commissioner. 

§ 223-16 "Adopt-A-Spot" areas.  

[Amended 3-2-2004; 5-1-2007]  

The City Manager, in the exercise of duties relative to the oversight of all real and personal property owned 

by the City of Rochester, as specified in Section 14 of the Rochester City Charter, from time to time, 

designates certain areas of the City, primarily areas included within or closely related to the highways 

servicing the City of Rochester, as "Adopt-A-Spot" areas. "Adopt-A-Spot" areas are maintained, landscaped 

and/or otherwise beautified by designated individuals and/or entities that volunteer to perform such functions 

for the purpose of improving the appearance of the "Adopt-A-Spot" areas, as well as the appearance of the 

City of Rochester as a whole. The City Manager shall annually, on or about May 1 of each year, establish a 

list of "Adopt-A-Spot" areas for the ensuing calendar year beginning on such May 1 and ending on the 

following April 30. A copy of such list shall be maintained in the City Manager's office and in the office of 

the City Clerk. In the event that the City Manager fails to update the "Adopt-A-Spot" list on or about May 1 

of a given year, the "Adopt-A-Spot" list then on file in the office of the City Manager shall be controlling for 

the purposes of this section. No person shall, within any "Adopt-A-Spot" area, erect or maintain any sign or 

other advertising material whether for political purposes or otherwise, except for such advertising material 

and/or device as has been previously authorized in writing by the City Manager or his/her designee. Any 

person failing to comply with the provisions of this section shall be guilty of a violation. 

§ 223-17 Bonds.  

The Commissioner may require any person seeking to perform any work affecting any highway, bridge, 

sidewalk or other public property to furnish a bond of indemnity to the City of Rochester in such sum and 

with such sureties as the Commissioner may deem proper. 

§ 223-18 Violations and penalties.  

Except as otherwise provided herein, whoever is in violation of any of the provisions of this article shall be 

subject to a fine of not more than one hundred dollars ($100.). 

Article II  

Newsracks and Public Way Obstructions  

[Adopted 6-6-1995 as Ch. 35 of the 1995 Code]  

§ 223-19 Purpose.  

The purpose of this article is to promote the public health and safety through the regulation of the placement 

of newsracks and public way obstructions. 

§ 223-20 Definitions.  

As used in this article, the following terms shall have the following meanings, unless the context clearly 

indicates that a different meaning is intended: 

11/30/2023 

Page 78 of 150 



CITY  

The City of Rochester. 

NEWSPAPER or NEWS PERIODICAL  

A daily or weekly publication containing all of the following: current news, editorials, feature articles 

and advertising. 

[Amended 3-5-2019]  

NEWSRACK  

Any self-service or coin-operated box, container, storage unit or other dispenser installed, used, or 

maintained for the display and sale of newspapers or news periodicals. 

PARKWAY  

That area between the sidewalk and the curb of any street, and where there is no sidewalk, that area 

between the edge of the roadway and the property line adjacent thereto. "Parkway" shall also include 

any area within a roadway which is not open to vehicular travel. 

PUBLIC WAY OBSTRUCTION  

Any object other than a newsrack which obstructs the free passage of pedestrians or vehicles on the 

streets, sidewalks, parkways or roadways. The term "public way obstruction" shall include, but not be 

limited to, signs and planters. 

ROADWAY  

That portion of a street improved, designed, or ordinarily used for vehicular travel. 

SIDEWALK  

Any surface provided for the exclusive use of pedestrians on any public right-of-way under the 

jurisdiction of the City. 

STREET  

All that area dedicated to public use or public street purposes and shall include, but not be limited to, 

roadways, parkways, alleys, sidewalks, garages, parking lots, parks and playgrounds. 

[Amended 3-5-2019]  

§ 223-21 Prohibited acts.  

A. No person shall install, use, attach or maintain any newsrack or public way obstruction which projects 

onto, into or over any part of the roadway of any public street or which rests, wholly or in part, upon, 

along or over any portion of the roadway of any public street.  

B. No person shall install, use, attach or maintain any newsrack or public way obstruction which in whole 

or in part rests upon, in or over any public sidewalk or parkway when such installation, use or 

maintenance endangers the safety of persons or property, or when such site or location is used for public 

utility purposes, public transportation purposes or other uses, or when such newsrack or public way 

obstruction unreasonably interferes with or impedes the flow of pedestrian or vehicular traffic, including 

any legally parked or stopped vehicle, the ingress or egress for any residence or place of business, or the 

use of poles, posts, travel signs or insignias, hydrants, mailboxes or other objects permitted at or near 

11/30/2023 

Page 79 of 150 



said location.  

C. Within 60 days of the passage of this article every person or other entity shall comply with the 

provisions of this article with respect to each newsrack and/or public way obstruction owned by it 

within the City. [Amended 3-5-2019]  

§ 223-22 Permit required; application for permit.  

A. No person shall install or maintain any newsrack or public way obstruction which in whole or in part 

rests upon, in or over any public sidewalk or parkway without further applying for and being granted a 

permit from the Licensing Board. The permit application shall include the following: 

(1) The physical dimensions of each newsrack or public way obstruction to be installed or maintained in the 

City by the person;  

(2) The name, address, and telephone number of the person or entity to whom or to which the permit is to 

be issued; and  

(3) A diagram showing the location of the newsrack or public way obstruction and the dimensions of the 

sidewalk, if any, upon which it is to be located.  

B. Newsracks shall require the submission of a permit application, but the permit shall be granted by the 

Licensing Board on a ministerial basis provided that the proposed newsrack as installed will not violate 

the provisions of § 223-21 above.  

§ 223-23 Standards for installation, maintenance and operation.  

Any newsrack or public way obstruction which in whole or in part rests upon, in, or over any public sidewalk 

or parkway shall comply with the following standards: 

A. All newsracks and public way obstructions must be individually permitted by location.  

B. No newsrack or public way obstruction shall be chained, bolted or otherwise attached to any public 

property, or to any private property, without the written permission of the City, the owner, or the person 

in possession of the property to which the attachment is to be made.  

C. Newsracks and public way obstructions shall not be chained or otherwise attached to one another.  

D. The City shall issue a proof of permit in the form of a sticker or decal which shall be attached to the 

newsrack or public way obstruction at all times.  

E. All permits must be renewed annually prior to July 1.  

F. Unlicensed newsracks or public way obstructions will be considered abandoned and subject to removal 

without notice.  

G. All permits are nontransferable.  

H. The annual fee for each permit shall be fifty dollars ($50.), regardless of when during a year such permit 

is issued.  

11/30/2023 

Page 80 of 150 



I. Any permit may be revoked at any time, by action of the Licensing Board; provided, however, that any 

revocation initiated by the Licensing Board shall entitle the owner of the newsrack and/or public way 

obstruction to a pro rata refund of the annual permit fee paid pursuant to the preceding Subsection H of 

this section.  

§ 223-24 Identification required.  

Within 30 days after this article becomes effective, every person or other entity which places or maintains a 

newsrack or public way obstruction on the streets of the City shall have his/her/its name, address and 

telephone number affixed thereto in a place where such information can be easily seen. 

§ 223-25 Hold harmless agreement; insurance.  

[Amended 3-5-2019]  

Every person or other entity which places or maintains a newsrack or public way obstruction on a public 

sidewalk, parkway, roadway or street in the City shall file a written statement with the Licensing Board, 

satisfactory to the City Attorney, whereby he/she/it agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City, its 

officers, City Council members and employees from any loss or liability or damage, including expense and 

costs for bodily injury or damage to private or public property sustained by any person as a result of the 

installation, use or maintenance of a newsrack or public obstruction within the City. A certificate of 

insurance in a form approved by the City Attorney indicating no less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.) 

in general liability insurance coverage and naming the City as an additional insured shall be maintained on 

file with the Licensing Board by each such person or entity. 

§ 223-26 Removal of newsrack or public way obstruction.  

The City Manager or his/her designee shall remove any newsrack or public way obstruction placed on any 

street, sidewalk, parkway or roadway in violation of this article. 

§ 223-27 Severability.  

The provisions of this article are severable. If any provision of this article or its application to any person or 

circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of this article 

without the invalid provisions or applications. 

§ 223-28 Injunction.  

Any violation of this article is hereby declared to be a nuisance. In addition to any other relief provided by 

this article, the City Attorney may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for an injunction to prohibit the 

continuation of any violation of this article. Such application for relief may include the seeking of a 

temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction and/or permanent injunction. 

§ 223-29 Damage to newsracks and public way obstructions.  

Any damage to newsracks or public way obstructions, whether or not properly licensed, by any cause 

whatsoever, including snowplowing and removal, shall be at the sole expense of the owner. 

§ 223-30 Violations and penalties.  

Any person, firm or corporation violating any provision of this article shall be fined one hundred dollars 

($100.) for each offense, and a separate offense shall be deemed committed on each day during or on which a 

violation occurs or continues to occur. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 81 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 82 of 150 



City of Rochester Formal Council Meeting 

AGENDA BILL 

NOTE: Agenda Bills are due by 10 AM on the Monday the week before the City Council Meeting. 

COMMITTEE SIGN-OFF 
COMMITTEE 

CHAIR PERSON 

DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER 

CITY MANAGER 

FINANCE & BUDGET INFORMATION 
FINANCE OFFICE APPROVAL 

SOURCE OF FUNDS 

ACCOUNT NUMBER 

AMOUNT 

APPROPRIATION REQUIRED     YES       NO  

LEGAL AUTHORITY 

AGENDA SUBJECT 

COUNCIL ACTION ITEM 
INFORMATION ONLY  

FUNDING REQUIRED?   YES    NO 
* IF YES ATTACH A FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM

RESOLUTION REQUIRED?   YES    NO FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM?   YES    NO 

AGENDA DATE 

DEPT. HEAD SIGNATURE 

DATE SUBMITTED 

ATTACHMENTS         YES   NO  * IF YES, ENTER THE  TOTAL NUMBER OF
PAGES ATTACHED 

AB Form - revised 8/17/2016

11/30/2023 

Page 83 of 150 



SUMMARY STATEMENT 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 

AB Form - revised 8/17/2016

11/30/2023 

Page 84 of 150 



City of Rochester, New Hampshire 
OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 

31 Wakefield Street • Rochester, NH 03867 
(603) 332-1167 

www.RochesterNH.gov 
 

CITY MANAGER'S REPORT 

November 2023 

Contracts and documents executed since last month: 

 

• Department of Public Works 

o Change Order, Strafford Square Roundabout – S.U.R.P. 87  

o ARPA Grant Agreement - Water Treatment Facility P. 88  

o Change Order, City Hall/Opera House Egress – Careno P. 89  

• Economic Development 

o FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Elizabeth St P. 90 

o FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – S. Elderberry P. 91  

o FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Whispering Winds P. 92 

o FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Nola Ave P. 93  

o FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Joshua St P. 94 

o FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Reagan Dr P. 95  

o FY23-24 CAP Weatherization – Cattail P. 96  

The following standard report has been enclosed: 

 

• Personnel Action Report Summary P. 97   

 
 

11/30/2023 

Page 85 of 150 

http://www.rochesternh.gov/


 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 86 of 150 



City of Rochester, New Hampshire 
PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

209 Chestnut Hill Road • Rochester, NH 03867 
(603) 332-4096 

www.RochesterNH.gov 
 

 

 

            

 

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO: KATIE AMBROSE, CITY MANAGER 
 

FROM: LISA J. CLARK, DPW DEPUTY DIRECTOR OPERATIONS & ADMINISTRATION 

DATE: November 6, 2023 

SUBJECT: Strafford Square Roundabout Project 
SUR Construction Contract Change # 
Reduction Amount $-11,087.50  
 

CC:  Peter C. Nourse, PE, Director of City Services 
Timothy Goldthwaite, Assistant City Engineer   

               

Attached please find (1) one copy of the SUR Construction Contract Change Order #1.  The reduction amount 

of this Change is $- 11,087.50.  This change is due to a net increase in some items and a decrease in other actual 

contracted quantities.  See attached documentation for breakdown of items.  

 

 

 

 

If you have any questions, please let us know, if none please return executed Change Order #1 to me at the 

DPW for distribution..  

11/30/2023 

Page 87 of 150 



City of Rochester, New Hampshire 
PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

209 Chestnut Hill Road • Rochester, NH 03867 
(603) 332-4096 

www.RochesterNH.gov 
 

 

 

            

 

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO: KATIE AMBROSE, CITY MANAGER 

FROM: LISA J. CLARK, DPW DEPUTY DIRECTOR OPERATIONS & ADMINISTRATION 

DATE: November 13 2023 

SUBJECT: Water Treatment Facility 
Cyber Security ARPA Grant Agreement 

 AMOUNT $50,000 

CC:  Peter C. Nourse, PE, Director of City Services 
Timothy Goldthwaite, Assistant City Engineer   

               

 

Attached please find (1) one copy of the Water Treatment Cyber Security American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) 

Grant Agreement for City Manager Signature.  The City Council authorized the submission of this ARPA Grant 

Application, designated authority for the City Manager to execute all grant associated documents and 

authorized the Finance Director to establish the accounts necessary for this grant.  See attached City Council 

Minutes of the 7/11/2023 Regular City Council Meeting. Reference Item 13.0 

 

The funds for this Water Treatment Facility Cyber Security Project are in the following account: 

 

55016010-773800-24525 – WTP Cyber Security = $50,000 

 

 

If you have any question, please call, if not please sign and return document to me at the DPW for Distribution  

 

 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 88 of 150 



City of Rochester, New Hampshire 
PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

209 Chestnut Hill Road • Rochester, NH 03867 
(603) 332-4096 

www.RochesterNH.gov 
 

 

 

            

 

 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO:  
 

FROM:  

DATE:  

SUBJECT:  
   

   
 

CC:    
   

               

Attached please find (1) one copy of the Careno Construction Contract Change Order #3.  The additional 

$18,865.77 is for the application of 3M Firedam Spray Coating in City Hall basement as requested by the City.  

This is additional work outside the original contract agreement.  See attached documentation.  

 

Funds are available in the following project accounts: 

 

15013010-772000-23586 = $10,399.16 

11090051-543000-23586 = $8,466.61  

 

 

If you have any questions, please let us know, if none please return executed Change Order #3 to me at the 

DPW for distribution. 

KATIE AMBROSE,  CITY MANAGER

LISA J. CLARK,  DPW DEPUTY DIRECTOR OPERATIONS & ADMINISTRATION

November  6, 2023

City Hall / Opera  House Egress Project
Careno  Construction  Contract Change #3  $18,865.77

Peter C. Nourse,  PE, Director of City Services
Timothy Goldthwaite, Assistant City Engineer

11/30/2023 

Page 89 of 150 



   

City of Rochester, New Hampshire 

Economic Development Department 

33 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 

(603) 335-7522, www.RochesterEDC.com    

 
 
 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Kathryn Ambrose, City Manager 

FROM: Kiersten Wright, Community Development Coordinator/Grants 

Manager 

DATE: November 7, 2023 

SUBJECT: FY 23- 24 CAP Weatherization Assistance Program- Elizabeth St 

 

CC: Cassie Givara, Deputy City Clerk 

 
 

Please see attached the environmental review statement for the Community 

Action Partnership of Strafford County’s planned repair and maintenance 

activities for FY 2023-2024. As per 24 CFR 58, the City of Rochester is the 

responsible entity for conducting environmental reviews for the Community 

Action Partnership Strafford County’s Weatherization Project. The environmental 

review statement requires the signature of the City Manager as the City of 

Rochester authority. 

 

The environmental review statement was prepared by the Community 

Development Coordinator with assistance from Community Action Partnership. 

 

Thank you very much. Please contact Kiersten with any questions or concerns. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 90 of 150 

http://www.rochesteredc.com/


   

City of Rochester, New Hampshire 

Economic Development Department 

33 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 

(603) 335-7522, www.RochesterEDC.com    

 
 
 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Kathryn Ambrose, City Manager 

FROM: Kiersten Wright, Community Development Coordinator/Grants 

Manager 

DATE: November 8, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: FY 23- 24 CAP Weatherization Assistance Program- S. Elderberry 

 

CC: Cassie Givara, Deputy City Clerk  
 
 

Please see attached the environmental review statement for the Community 

Action Partnership of Strafford County’s planned repair and maintenance 

activities for FY 2023-2024. As per 24 CFR 58, the City of Rochester is the 

responsible entity for conducting environmental reviews for the Strafford 

Community Action Partnership Weatherization Program. The environmental 

review statement requires the signature of the City Manager as the City of 

Rochester authority. 

 

The environmental review statement was prepared by the Community 

Development Coordinator with assistance from Community Action Partnership. 

 

Thank you very much. Please contact Kiersten with any questions or concerns. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 91 of 150 

http://www.rochesteredc.com/


   

City of Rochester, New Hampshire 

Economic Development Department 

33 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 

(603) 335-7522, www.RochesterEDC.com    

 
 
 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Kathryn Ambrose, City Manager 

FROM: Kiersten Wright, Community Development Coordinator/Grants 

Manager 

DATE: November 9, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: FY 23- 24 CAP Weatherization Assistance Program- Whispering 

Winds 

 

CC: Cassie Givara, Deputy City Clerk  
 
 

Please see attached the environmental review statement for the Community 

Action Partnership of Strafford County’s planned repair and maintenance 

activities for FY 2023-2024. As per 24 CFR 58, the City of Rochester is the 

responsible entity for conducting environmental reviews for the Strafford 

Community Action Partnership Weatherization Program. The environmental 

review statement requires the signature of the City Manager as the City of 

Rochester authority. 

 

The environmental review statement was prepared by the Community 

Development Coordinator with assistance from Community Action Partnership. 

 

Thank you very much. Please contact Kiersten with any questions or concerns. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 92 of 150 

http://www.rochesteredc.com/


   

City of Rochester, New Hampshire 

Economic Development Department 

33 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 

(603) 335-7522, www.RochesterEDC.com    

 
 
 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Kathryn Ambrose, City Manager 

FROM: Kiersten Wright, Community Development Coordinator/Grants 

Manager 

DATE: November 14, 2023 

 

SUBJECT: FY 23- 24 CAP Weatherization Assistance Program- Nola Ave 

 

CC: Cassie Givara, Deputy City Clerk  
 
 

Please see attached the environmental review statement for the Community 

Action Partnership of Strafford County’s planned repair and maintenance 

activities for FY 2023-2024. As per 24 CFR 58, the City of Rochester is the 

responsible entity for conducting environmental reviews for the Strafford 

Community Action Partnership Weatherization Program. The environmental 

review statement requires the signature of the City Manager as the City of 

Rochester authority. 

 

The environmental review statement was prepared by the Community 

Development Coordinator with assistance from Community Action Partnership. 

 

Thank you very much. Please contact Kiersten with any questions or concerns. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 93 of 150 

http://www.rochesteredc.com/


   

City of Rochester, New Hampshire 

Economic Development Department 

33 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 

(603) 335-7522, www.RochesterEDC.com    

 
 
 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Kathryn Ambrose, City Manager 

FROM: Kiersten Wright, Community Development Coordinator/Grants 

Manager 

DATE: November 16, 2023 

SUBJECT: FY 23- 24 CAP Weatherization Assistance Program- Joshua St 

 

CC: Cassie Givara, City Clerk 

 
 

Please see attached the environmental review statement for the Community 

Action Partnership of Strafford County’s planned repair and maintenance 

activities for FY 2023-2024. As per 24 CFR 58, the City of Rochester is the 

responsible entity for conducting environmental reviews for the Community 

Action Partnership Strafford County’s Weatherization Project. The environmental 

review statement requires the signature of the City Manager as the City of 

Rochester authority. 

 

The environmental review statement was prepared by the Community 

Development Coordinator with assistance from Community Action Partnership. 

 

Thank you very much. Please contact Kiersten with any questions or concerns. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 94 of 150 

http://www.rochesteredc.com/


   

City of Rochester, New Hampshire 

Economic Development Department 

33 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 

(603) 335-7522, www.RochesterEDC.com    

 
 
 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Kathryn Ambrose, City Manager 

FROM: Kiersten Wright, Community Development Coordinator/Grants 

Manager 

DATE: November 29, 2023 

SUBJECT: FY 23- 24 CAP Weatherization Assistance Program- Reagan Dr 

 

CC: Cassie Givara, City Clerk 

 
 
 
Please see attached the environmental review statement for the Community Action Partnership 
of Strafford County’s planned repair and maintenance activities for FY 2023-2024. As per 24 CFR 
58, the City of Rochester is the responsible entity for conducting environmental reviews for 
Community Action Partnership of Strafford County. The environmental review statement 
requires the signature of the City Manager as the City of Rochester authority. 
 
The environmental review statement was prepared by the Community Development 
Coordinator with assistance from Community Action Partnership. 
 
Thank you very much. Please contact Kiersten with any questions or concerns. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 95 of 150 

http://www.rochesteredc.com/


   

City of Rochester, New Hampshire 

Economic Development Department 

33 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 

(603) 335-7522, www.RochesterEDC.com    

 
 
 

 
 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 
 

TO:  Kathryn Ambrose, City Manager 

FROM: Kiersten Wright, Community Development Coordinator/Grants 

Manager 

DATE: November 30, 2023 

SUBJECT: FY 23- 24 CAP Weatherization Assistance Program- Cattail  

 

CC: Cassie Givara, City Clerk 

 
 
 
Please see attached the environmental review statement for the Community Action Partnership 
of Strafford County’s planned repair and maintenance activities for FY 2023-2024. As per 24 CFR 
58, the City of Rochester is the responsible entity for conducting environmental reviews for 
Community Action Partnership of Strafford County. The environmental review statement 
requires the signature of the City Manager as the City of Rochester authority. 
 
The environmental review statement was prepared by the Community Development 
Coordinator with assistance from Community Action Partnership. 
 
Thank you very much. Please contact Kiersten with any questions or concerns. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 96 of 150 

http://www.rochesteredc.com/


DEPARTMENT NAME POSITION #
 o

f 
E

m
p

lo
y
e
e
s

F
T

P
T

S
E

A
S

O
N

A
L

/T
E

M
P

N
E

W
 H

IR
E

R
E

H
IR

E

R
E

T
IR

E
M

E
N

T

S
E

P
A

R
A

T
E

D

S
T

E
P

 (
C

B
A

)

C
O

L
A

 (
C

B
A

)

M
E

R
IT

 P
A

Y
 A

D
J

N
U

 P
A

Y
 A

D
J

P
A

Y
 A

D
J

P
R

O
M

O
T

IO
N

O
T

H
E

R

MISC. INFO

ASSESSING DARCY FREER CHIEF ASSESSOR 1 X X

BLS JONATHAN STEVENS PLUMBING / MECHANICAL INSPECTOR 1 X X

DPW CLAIRE BLANCHETTE ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT I 1 X X

DPW KEVIN CUMMINGS GROUNDS LABORER 1 X X

DPW TODD BRISARD GROUNDS LABORER 1 X X X

DPW JARROD NORRIS ASSISTANT CITY ENGINEER 1 X X

DPW JEREMY WHITEHOUSE METER TECHNICIAN 1 X X

DPW GINA GOLDEN SILVESTRO GIS/ASSET MGMT TECHNICIAN 1 X X

DPW MARK DIXON LEAD W/S DISTRIBUTION 1 X X X

DPW MATTHEW RUSSELL METER TECHNICIAN 1 X X

DPW ROBERT PHILLIPS HEAVY EQUIPMENT OPERATOR 1 X X

DPW GRETCHEN YOUNG DEPUTY DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS - TECHNICAL SERVICES 1 X X

FIRE DUANE MARSH FIREFIGHTER 1 X X

FIRE BRIAN  SNYDER FIREFIGHTER 1 X X

IT BILLIE JAY JAVIER SYSTEMS ADMINISTRATOR 1 X X

POLICE HATTIE JOHNSON PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

POLICE JONATHAN LABOSIER PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

POLICE KENDALL DECOST PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

POLICE JACOB GARSTIN PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

POLICE BRENDEN CARLSON PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

POLICE JACOB BENJAMIN PATROL SERGEANT 1 X X

POLICE NICOLE KNOX PATROL SERGEANT 1 X X

POLICE KHRISTINE BIBEAU PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

POLICE ZACHARY MASSE PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

POLICE ELAINA WOODILL PATROL OFFICER 1 X X

RECREATION  CAMP COUNSELOR 1 X X X

TAX DEBORAH MILLSPAUGH ADMINISTRATIVE TECHNICIAN II 1 X X

TAX JAPHET FEKAY ADMINISTRATIVE TECHNICIAN II 1 X X

PERSONNEL ACTIONS, NOVEMBER 2023

11/30/2023

11/30/2023 

Page 97 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 98 of 150 



From: Dana Berlin <dana.berlin@rochesternh.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, November 15, 2023 8:59:38 PM 
To: Paul Callaghan <paul.callaghan@rochesternh.gov>; City Council <CityCouncil@rochesternh.net>; 
City Manager <CityManager@rochesternh.gov> 
Subject: resignation  
  
Dear Mayor Callaghan and City Council,  
I would like to start this letter by letting everyone know I greatly appreciate each and every one of you. 
Whether it was the smallest of interactions or a constant dialogue, I will take something with me from 
each of you.  I can’t thank you all enough for being part of my growth as a human being over the last 
two years.  I look back to when I was elected and know that because of all of you, and this great city of 
Rochester we all called home, I am a stronger, more confident, and, appreciative person today.   
With all that being said it is with sadness that I must resign, effective immediately, as I am no longer 
residing within the City of Rochester.  
Please know this is with sincere regret as I had planned to remain in Rochester for years to come, and 
continue working to better this City we all love. I have great hopes of being back in Rochester very soon!  
Best,  
Dana Berlin 
  
I am hoping this can be included in the minutes for your next meeting? 
  

 

Dana Berlin 
City Councilor, Ward 6 
Rochester, NH 
31 Wakefield Street 
Rochester, NH 03867  
  
Phone (603) 953-4075   
Web www.rochesternh.net  
Email dana.berlin@rochesternh.gov 
  

   
  

 

  

  
  

Email sent to and from this City of Rochester email address is subject to NH RSA 91-A (the NH Public Records Law) and may, subject to certain 
exemptions, be subject to disclosure to third parties. This email message and any attachments may contain information that is confidential 
and/or legally privileged in accordance with applicable laws or regulations. It is intended only for the use of the person and/or entity identified 
as recipient(s) in the message. If you are not an intended recipient of this message, please notify the sender immediately and delete the 
material. Do not print, deliver, distribute or copy this message, and do not disclose its contents or take any action in reliance on the information 
it contains unless authorized to do so. Thank you. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 99 of 150 

mailto:dana.berlin@rochesternh.gov
mailto:paul.callaghan@rochesternh.gov
mailto:CityCouncil@rochesternh.net
mailto:CityManager@rochesternh.gov
http://www.rochesternh.net/
mailto:dana.berlin@rochesternh.gov
https://www.facebook.com/berlin4rochester/


 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 100 of 150 



 From: Michael Scala
 Sent: Thursday, November 30, 2023 12:38 PM

 To: Cassie Givara
 Cc: Kelly Walters

 Subject: Ward 6 Selectman Position

Cassie,

Please accept this email as my formal resignation as a Selectman for Ward 6. 

Thank you,
Mike 

Michael Scala, CEcD
Director of Economic Development
City of Rochester, New Hampshire
31 Wakefield Street
Rochester, NH 03867
Office: (603) 335-7522 

 

"Far and away the best prize that life has to offer is the chance to work hard at 
work worth 
doing" - T. Roosevelt

Email sent to and from this City of Rochester email address is subject to NH RSA 
91-A (the NH Public Records Law) and may, subject to certain 
exemptions, be subject to disclosure to third parties. This email message and any 
attachments may contain information that is confidential 
and/or legally privileged in accordance with applicable laws or regulations. It is 
intended only for the use of the person and/or entity identified 
as recipient(s) in the message. If you are not an intended recipient of this 
message, please notify the sender immediately and delete the 
material. Do not print, deliver, distribute or copy this message, and do not 
disclose its contents or take any action in reliance on the information 
it contains unless authorized to do so. Thank you.

11/30/2023 

Page 101 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 102 of 150 



DRAFT 

1 
 

Finance Committee 

 

Meeting Minutes 

 

 

 

Meeting Information  

Date: November 14, 2023 

Time: 6:00 P.M. 

Location: 31 Wakefield Street 

 

 

 

Committee members present: Mayor Callaghan, Councilor Beaudoin, Councilor Gray, Councilor 

Hainey, Councilor Hamann, Deputy Mayor Lachapelle, and Councilor Larochelle 

 

City staff present: City Manager Katie Ambrose. Finance Director Mark Sullivan. Lauren Krans, 

Director of Recreation. Peter Nourse, Director of City Services.  

 

Others Present: Tom Kaczynski, resident.  

 

Agenda & Minutes 

 

1. Call to Order 

 

Mayor Callaghan called the Finance Committee meeting to order at 6:00 PM.  

 

Councilor Beaudoin led the Committee in the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

Deputy City Clerk Cassie Givara took the roll call attendance. Councilors Beaudoin, Gray, 

Hainey, Hamann, Larochelle, Deputy Mayor Lachapelle, and Mayor Callaghan were present.  

 

Councilor Lachapelle MOVED to AMEND the agenda to add item 5.1.2 “Proposed transfer 

of City ARPA Funds” and to postpone the “Waste Management Closure Fund Ordinance” discussion 

until 5.1.3.  Councilor Hamann seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice 

vote.  

 

2. Acceptance of Minutes: October 2023 

 

 Councilor Lachapelle MOVED to ACCEPT the minutes of the October 10, 2023 Finance Committee 

meeting. Councilor Hamann seconded the motion. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous voice vote.  

         

3.       Public Input 

 

Tom Kaczynski, resident, addressed the Committee in regards to the establishment of a Waste 

Management closure fund.  

11/30/2023 

Page 103 of 150 



DRAFT 

2 
 

 

4. Unfinished Business: 

 

4.1.1 None 

 

5. New Business: 
 

5.1.1 Recreation Department-Lilac Family Fun Festival- 2024 Funding 
 

Lauren Krans, Director of Recreation, detailed the request for $45,000 for the July 2024 Lilac 

Family Fun Festival.  She stated that the year prior, there had been $43,000 allocated to the event after 

Council had requested an enhanced event over the prior year. These additional funds had been used for 

live entertainment and family-friendly attractions, doubling the number of kiddie rides, and an enhanced 

fireworks display.  

 

Director Krans reported that the prior year’s event had cost just over $40,000, and with this 

additional funding requested this year along with the remainder from the prior year, it would equate to an 

increase of $7,000 over the prior year.  This additional funding would be used not only for supplies and 

signage, but for offerings for the pre-teen and teen population.  

 

Councilor Lachapelle MOVED to recommend to full Council the allocation of $45,000 for the 

2024 Lilac Family Fun Festival. Councilor Hamann seconded the motion. Councilor Beaudoin stated that 

he did not support an increase over 10%. There was clarification that the prior year’s allocation had been 

$43,000 with approximately $2,000 unexpended. This unexpended funding would be added to the current 

year’s allocation for a total of just over $47,000. Finance Director Mark Sullivan explained the use of a 

non-lapsing fund for this event and stated that starting in FY25, these funds would be put into the City 

budget. The MOTION CARRIED by a majority voice vote.  

 

5.1.2 Proposed transfer of City ARPA Funds (agenda amendment) 
 

Peter Nourse, Director of City Services, explained that there had been $2 million in ARPA funds 

allocated towards the relining of one of the water mains which runs 10,000 feet between the water 

treatment plant and the City’s distribution system.  This project was initiated in spring of 2023, with the 

water line being “camera’d,” cleaned, and infrastructure added for future cleaning and maintenance. 

However, upon the initiation of this project, it was discovered that the water line was in good condition 

and did not need to be relined. The majority of the funding allocated for the project was not expended, 

and there will be approximately $1.5 million remaining. Director Nourse proposed the repurposing of this 

funding to a different water infrastructure project; the rehabilitation of the Salmon Falls Booster pump 

station. This drinking water pump station is nearly 40-years old and is underpowered, which will be an 

issue with increasing development in the area. The total cost pf this rehabilitation would be approximately 

$3,275,000, which could be offset with the $1.5 million remaining from the original allocation.  The 

balance of the funding needed will be requested in the FY25 budget. 

 

Mayor Callaghan asked how far along the Salmon Fall water pump station was into the design 

process.  Director Nourse responded that the station is a skid-mounted, pre-fabricated structure. There 

would not be much sitework or design required; it would be a relatively simple installation and connection.    

11/30/2023 

Page 104 of 150 



DRAFT 

3 
 

 

Mayor Callaghan asked if this project was in development prior to the approval of the new school 

on Salmon Falls Road. Director Nourse confirmed that initial funding for this project was obtained in 

FY19 and it has been on the City’s radar for many years.  

 

Mayor Callaghan clarified that these ARPA funds need to be allocated by the close of 2024 and 

expended by 2026. He asked if the project cost was definite or if there would likely be additional requests 

due to increasing supply costs. Director Nourse stated that he could not guarantee the costs, but it was 

unlikely that there would be any issues and it would likely be completed within the given timeframe. 

 

Councilor Lachapelle asked when the total amount of unexpended funds would be known 

following the close of the revised water main re-lining project. Director Nourse said that the work on this 

project would be completed within the next few weeks and the remainder of ARPA funds would be known 

at that point.  

 

Councilor Lachapelle MOVED to recommend to full Council the reallocation of the remaining 

ARPA funds for the water main relining project to the Salmon Falls Booster Pump Station project, with 

the total reallocation to be determined at the completion of the original project. Councilor Hamann 

seconded the motion. Councilor Beaudoin spoke in favor of this use of ARPA funds as a long-term 

investment as well as a means to reduce the City’s water rates. The MOTION CARRIED by a unanimous 

voice vote.  

 

5.1.3 Waste Management Closure Fund Ordinance-Draft (addendum A) 
 

Finance Director Sullivan directed the Committee to the draft resolution for the Waste Management 

Closure fund, which is structured similarly to the previously approved Economic Development Non-Capital 

Reserve Fund.  He reminded the Committee that the landfill is slated to close in 2034. The host community fees 

generated from Waste Management have averaged $4.5 million over the past several fiscal years. Of this non-

property tax revenue, $878,000 is budgeted to the school side of the budget.  The revenue received from these 

host fees is used to reduce the amount raised by property taxes. When this revenue ends following the closure of 

the landfill, it will be a significant revenue shortfall. The proposal is that some of the money received from host 

fees will be set aside into a closure fund to prepare for this shortfall. Director Sullivan reviewed a chart showing 

the result of this annual deposit over the course of the next ten years. Director Sullivan also clarified that once the 

landfill has closed, the City will need to pay additional fees to have waste transferred to an outside location. 

 

Councilor Beaudoin suggested the resolution be reworded slightly to indicate that the financial reserve 

fund is being established in anticipation of the closure of the landfill in 2034. He also read an excerpt of RSA 

34:1(a) and suggested that this verbiage be reflected in the resolution to explicitly direct the Trustees of the Trust 

Fund on how to invest this money and for what purpose. Councilor Beaudoin referenced the portion of the draft 

resolution stating that the Trustees will hold the monies appropriated in a “separate liquid investment account.” 

He felt that having these funds put into a liquid account would put restrictions on how the Trustees could invest. 

Additionally, he felt that there needed to be additional verbiage stating that the funding would not be needed/ 

could not be expended until 2034. 

 

Mayor Callaghan inquired why the chart indicated that there would be $350,000 placed into the fund in 

FY24 as opposed to $1 million, as shown in the years following. Director Sullivan explained that this amount 

11/30/2023 

Page 105 of 150 



DRAFT 

4 
 

retained in the first year was the anticipated revenue over what was budgeted. The subsequent years show an 

increasing revenue reduction from host fees for which the City will budget. Mayor Callaghan asked if it would 

be possible to take an additional $650,000 from Unassigned Fund balance to make the first year allocation into 

the fund $1 million. Finance Director Sullivan confirmed this could be done if the Council approved. Director 

Sullivan stated he would follow up with the City Attorney regarding Councilor Beaudoin’s concerns with 

verbiage of the resolution versus what is stated in RSA 34:1(a).   

 

Reports from Finance & Administration 

 

5.2.1 Monthly Financial Report Summary-October 31, 2023 

 

Director Sullivan stated that overall, funds are trending to budget. Waste Management Host fees 

are above budget with 49% collected at 33% completion of the fiscal year. State of NH rooms and 

meals taxes are anticipated in mid to late December. The other expenses are trending just above budget; 

with overtime for police and fire still elevated. However, he stated there are no concerns at this point.  

 

Mayor Callaghan asked for a report at the next Finance Committee meeting showing the 

anticipated maintenance, energy, and security costs for the Nancy Loud School, which is now closed 

and has been returned to the custody of the City.  Councilor Gray suggested that if the school is to 

remain vacant, it could be winterized to cut down on ongoing maintenance costs to the City. He 

suggested that there be a cost analysis of the property to determine the costs for repair and operations 

and whether or not the building could be utilized for City purposes. Director Sullivan stated that Mike 

Riley, Director of Public Buildings and Grounds, had recommended maintaining the heat in the 

property at a low level, at least temporarily, to avoid adverse effects which could occur if there was no 

heat to the property. Councilor Beaudoin said that the fire suppression system could potentially be 

affected if the heat at the property were not maintained.  

 

Councilor Gray requested an agenda item be added to the November workshop meeting to 

discuss the future of the Nancy Loud School and determine whether it is more cost effective to tear it 

down, sell it, or maintain the vacant property. City Manager Ambrose reported that the City is awaiting 

results of a geotechnical study with a subsurface soil analysis to determine if the school building, or 

any property, is viable in this location. The results of this study will be reviewed along with the 

information gathered at the recent listening session of area residents, and this information will be 

presented to Council with potential options and recommendations for the property. Councilor Hainey 

stated that the Historic District Commission had discussed the Nancy Loud School and they have 

expressed that they would like the property preserved due to its historic nature; she requested that the 

HDC be involved in any future discussions for the property. The Committee discussed whether or not 

to discuss this matter with the current Council at a future workshop or to wait until the new Council is 

seated. It was decided to wait until the results of the geotechnical study are received to move forward 

with any further discussion.    

 

Councilor Beaudoin stated that building permits were trending behind budget. He asked if it 

would be anticipated that these revenues would even out in the spring when development projects in 

the City start up again. Director Sullivan acknowledged that these revenues do slow down in the colder 

months but said he does not anticipate any issues and has no concerns with permits at this time.     

 

11/30/2023 

Page 106 of 150 



DRAFT 

5 
 

6. Other 

 

No Discussion.  

 

7. Adjournment 

 

Mayor Callaghan ADJOURNED the Finance Committee meeting at 6:34 PM.  

 

 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

Cassie Givara 

Deputy City Clerk 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 107 of 150 



Resolution Pursuant to RSA 34:1-a Establishing an Waste Management Closure Reserve 
Fund 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS: 
 

By adoption of this Resolution, the City Council establishes a Non-Capital Reserve Fund 
pursuant to RSA 34:1-a for the purpose of creating a financial reserve for the anticipated closure 
of the Waste Management landfill in 2034. The reserve fund shall be the Waste Management 
Closure Reserve Fund.  

 
The City Council, at its sole discretion, may appropriate monies to said Waste 

Management Closure Reserve Fund through the annual budgeting process, however, in no case 
shall said annual appropriation be less than One Million  Dollars $1,000,000. Revenue sources 
can be Waste Management Host Fee Revenues, or General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance. 
Upon 2/3 Council vote General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance contributions outside of the 
annual budget appropriation may occur after the annual fiscal year audit confirms the net 
changes to General Fund Unassigned Fund balance, and results are presented by the independent 
auditor. Other unanticipated revenue sources may also be transferred to the fund upon a majority 
vote of Council.  

 
The City Council, at is sole discretion, may assign portions of the General Fund 

Unassigned Fund Balance as a reserve commitment to the Waste Management Closure Fund. 
This assigned status assures that an allocation of the General Fund Unassigned Fund balance is 
reserved for the Waste Management Closure Fund.  

 
 
Pursuant to RSA 34:6, the Trustees of Trust Funds shall have custody of all non capital 

reserves transferred to the Waste Management Closure Reserve Fund. The Trustees of the Trust 
Fund will hold the monies appropriated to the Waste Management Closure Reserve Fund in a 
separate liquid investment account. Appropriations made to the Waste Management Closure 
Reserve Fund will be submitted  to the Trustees of the Trust Fund after July 1 but prior to June 
30 of the fiscal year of the appropriation. 

 
The City Council may dissolve the Waste Management Closure Reserve Fund at its sole 

discretion. Upon dissolution all available funds will lapse to the General Fund Unassigned Fund 
balance.  

 
To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance Director is 

hereby authorized to designate and/or establish such accounts and/or account numbers as 
necessary to implement the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.  

 
 

 
  

10 

11/30/2023 

Page 108 of 150 

cassie.givara
Typewriter
Addendum A (pg 1 of 2)



Waste Management Closure Fund
Forecast

Annual Tonnage 1,100,000
Budget Retained Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative

Year Fee Revenue Commitment Revenue Principal Captured P&I Interest
2024 $4.50 $4,950,000 $4,600,000 $350,000 $350,000 $360,500 $10,500
2025 $4.64 $5,098,500 $4,000,000 $1,098,500 $1,448,500 $1,502,770 $54,270
2026 $4.77 $5,251,455 $4,000,000 $1,251,455 $2,699,955 $2,836,852 $136,897
2027 $4.92 $5,408,999 $3,500,000 $1,908,999 $4,608,954 $4,888,226 $279,272
2028 $5.06 $5,571,269 $3,500,000 $2,071,269 $6,680,222 $7,168,279 $488,057
2029 $5.22 $5,738,407 $3,500,000 $2,238,407 $8,918,629 $9,688,887 $770,258
2030 $5.37 $5,910,559 $3,000,000 $2,910,559 $11,829,188 $12,977,429 $1,148,241
2031 $5.53 $6,087,876 $3,000,000 $3,087,876 $14,917,063 $16,547,264 $1,630,200
2032 $5.70 $6,270,512 $3,000,000 $3,270,512 $18,187,575 $20,412,309 $2,224,733
2033 $5.87 $4,843,970 $2,000,000 $2,843,970 $21,031,546 $23,953,968 $2,922,422
2034 $6.05 $3,326,193 $2,000,000 $1,326,193 $22,357,739 $26,038,565 $3,680,827

$58,457,739 $36,100,000 $22,357,739 $22,357,739 $26,038,565 $3,680,827

Assumptions
Annual Tonage 1,100,000

Host Fee-Annual CPI 3.00%
Invest Interest Rate 3.00%

9 

11/30/2023 

Page 109 of 150 

cassie.givara
Typewriter
Addendum A (pg 2 of 2)



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 110 of 150 



Resolution Authorizing Supplemental Appropriation of $45,000 to the Recreation Special 

Events Fund-Lilac Family Fun Festival 
 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 
  

  

 

 

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ROCHESTER, AS FOLLOWS:

That  the  sum  of  Forty-Five Thousand  Dollars  ($45,000.00)  is  hereby  appropriated  to  the

Recreation Special Events Fund  for the purpose of paying costs associated with the  annual Lilac 

Family Fun Festival.  Advanced appropriation is needed in order to prepay costs associated with 

the event.  The  entirety of the supplemental appropriation  shall be  derived from the  General Fund 

Unassigned Fund Balance.

The  City  of  Rochester  Recreation  Department  shall  manage  the  use  of  funds  under  the  City’s 

established purchasing policies. Funds shall be expended solely on the annual Lilac Family Fun 

Festival event.  Eligible uses of funds shall be for fireworks,  various entertainment activities,  and 

other miscellaneous expense pertinent to  assuring a safe and successful community event.

To  the  extent  not  otherwise  provided  for  in  this  Resolution,  the  Finance  Director  is  hereby 

authorized  to  establish  and/or  designate  such  multi-year,  non-lapsing  accounts  and  or  account 

numbers  as  are  necessary  to  implement  the  transactions  contemplated  in  this  Resolution  and  to 
establish  special  revenue,  non-lapsing,  multi-year  fund  account(s)  as  necessary  to  which  said 

sums shall be recorded.

11/30/2023 

Page 111 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 112 of 150 



City of Rochester Formal Council Meeting  

AGENDA BILL 

NOTE: Agenda Bills are due by 10 AM on the Monday the week before the City Council Meeting.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

COMMITTEE SIGN-OFF 
COMMITTEE Finance Committee 

CHAIR PERSON 
 

Mayor Callaghan 

DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER  

 

CITY MANAGER  

FINANCE & BUDGET INFORMATION 
DIRECTOR OF FINANCE APPROVAL  

 

SOURCE OF FUNDS 
 

 

General Fund Unassigned Fund Balance 

ACCOUNT NUMBER  
 

AMOUNT  
 

APPROPRIATION REQUIRED     YES       NO   
 

 

 

LEGAL AUTHORITY 
City Council Resolution 
 

 
 

 
   

COUNCIL ACTION ITEM    
INFORMATION ONLY   

FUNDING REQUIRED?   YES    NO  

* IF YES ATTACH A FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM 

RESOLUTION REQUIRED?   YES    NO  
 

FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM?   YES    NO  
 

AGENDA DATE 
 

  

DEPT. HEAD SIGNATURE  

 

DATE SUBMITTED 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS         YES   NO   
  

* IF YES, ENTER THE TOTAL NUMBER OF 
PAGES ATTACHED 

 

$45,000

December 5, 2023

AGENDA SUBJECT
Resolution  Authorizing  $45,000  Supplemental Appropriation to the Recreation Special Events Fund

Mark Sullivan

11/30/2023 

Page 113 of 150 



 
 

 
 

 

  
  

 
  
 
 

 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION 
Authorize resolution to appropriate the funds. 

 

SUMMARY STATEMENT
    Finance Committee voted at their November 14  meeting to recommend a $45,000 
supplemental appropriation to the Recreation Special Events Fund  for the Lilac Family Fun 
Festival. The 2023 Lilac Family Festival was a large success. With the increase in funding from 
the 2022to 2023 event, more live entertainment, family activities and double the amount of 
kiddie carnival rides were offered. To maintain this high quality, family friendly community 
tradition,the Recreation Department is requesting $45,000 for the return of this event in July 
of 2024.
        The funding for this event has historically crossed fiscal years, and presented funding 
challenges. The recent practice has been to maintain a level of funding in a non-lapsing multi-
year fund. The advantage to this approach is Council can decide on the level of funding for 
the event, and control annual funding. If funds are not utilized they carry over to the next 
fiscal year. Beginning in FY25 the funding request will be part of the annual budget process.   

11/30/2023 

Page 114 of 150 



Resolution Authorizing the Repurposing of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($1,500,000.00) of ARPA Funds 

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ROCHESTER: 

 

The City hereby repurposes One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($1,500,000.00) of 

ARPA funds appropriated for the Water Transmission Main Relining Project to the Salmon Falls 

Booster Pump Station Rehabilitation Project.  

 

To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance Director is hereby 

authorized to establish and/or designate such accounts and or account numbers as are necessary to 

implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution and to establish special revenue, non-

lapsing, multi-year fund accounts(s) as necessary to which said sums shall be recorded.  

 
 

11/30/2023 

Page 115 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 116 of 150 



Page 1 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

City of Rochester Planning Board 
Monday, November 6, 2023 
City Hall Council Chambers 

31 Wakefield Street, Rochester, NH  03867 
(These minutes were approved on,2023) 

 
 

Members Present 
Mark Collopy, Chair  
Robert May, Vice Chair  
Alan Dews 
Keith Fitts  
James Hayden  
Matthew Richardson 
Dave Walker 
Don Hamann 
 
Members Absent 
Michael McQuade, excused 
 
Alternate Members Present 
Alexander de Geofroy 
Rick Healey 
 
Staff: Shanna B. Saunders, Director of Planning & Development 
 
  
(These are the legal minutes of the meeting and are in the format of an overview of the meeting. A recording of 
the meeting will be on file in the City Clerk’s office for reference purposes. They may be copied for a fee.) 

 

I. Call to Order 
 

Chair, Mark Collopy, called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 

 

 

II. Roll Call 
 
 Planning Department Director, Shanna B. Saunders, conducted roll call. 
 

III. Seating of Alternates 
 

No alternates were needed. 
 

IV. Communications from the Chair 
 
Mr. Collopy reminded the Board to vote on Tuesday November 7th. 
 
 

 
 

V. Approval of Minutes 

11/30/2023 

Page 117 of 150 



Page 2 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

 
A. October 16, 2023 

 
A motion was made by Mr. Walker to approve the October 16, 2023 Planning Board meeting 
minutes and seconded by Mr. Hamann. The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

VII. Opening Discussion/Comments 
   

A. Public Comment 
 

There were no comments from the public to discuss. 
 
B. Discussion of general planning issues 

 
Mr. Dews explained he spoke to his colleagues at Public Works after the approval of the 19 Old 
Gonic Road project.  He said by allowing the developer to put markings on the road between the fog 
line and the edge of the road could create a problem.  He said it would designate an area, and the 
City would be liable if someone were to get hit.  Mr. Dews said if the Board isn’t going to require a 
full sidewalk the developer should put a fog line down. 
Ms. Saunders said the idea for the markings came from discussions between the developer and the 
Engineers at Public Works.  She went on to say the field inspectors need to be included in those 
discussions as well. 
Ms. Saunders said staff can work with the developer to come up with a more simple plan.  
Mr. Healey said back when the Board started approving painted sidewalks they were often mistaken 
as break down lanes.  He further explained the only reason to have the walking symbol is so drivers 
don’t mistake the walking lane for the break down lane. 
 
Mr. Collopy suggested adding the discussion to the November workshop meeting.  
 
C. Student Representative 

 
Ms. Saunders told the Board there were two Spaulding High School student representatives joining  to 
observe the meeting.  She explained they had expressed interest in a few months ago in attending      
the meeting and potentially being a long-term student representative.  
 

VII.  Extension Applications: 
 
Ms. Saunders explained the applicant is seeking an extension for Active and Substantial start of 

 construction.  She said they have submitted final plans however they haven’t started the work yet. 
 Ms. Saunders further explained State Statute says the Board can give a 12-month extension. 

 
A. Ossipee Aggregates Corp, 111 Northcoast Drive (Norway Plains Associates/Scott Lawler) 

Install additional railroad track Case# 210 – 16 – I – 21 Extension to December 20, 2024 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Dews to approve both extension requests 
to December 20, 2024.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
B. Ossipee Aggregates Corp, 99 & 79 Northcoast Drive (Norway Plains Associates/Scott 

Lawler) Install additional railroad track Case# 210 – 18&21 – I – 21  Extension to December 
20, 2024 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 118 of 150 

https://www.rochesternh.gov/planning-development/files/210-16-i-21-ext-app
https://www.rochesternh.gov/planning-development/files/210-1821-i-21-ext-app


Page 3 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

A motion was made by Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Dews to approve both extension requests 
to December 20, 2024.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

VIII.  New Applications 
  

A. 86 Church Street, LLC, 84 & 86 Church Street (by Norway Plains Associates/Aaron 
Lamond) Lot-Line Revision Case# 258 – 7&8 – A – 23  

 
Randy Tetreault of Norway Plains Associates presented the plan for a proposed lot line revision.  He 
said they are seeking a lot line adjustment for just under a quarter acre piece of land to be added to 
the larger parcel which contains a multi-family use.  Mr. Tetreault explained the applicant went 
through the Zoning Board of Adjustment to obtain a Variance to expand the multi-family use within 
the Agricultural zone. 
 
Mr. Collopy opened the public hearing. 
 
Daniel Connolly of 82 Church Street said he attended the Zoning Board meeting when the applicant 
was proposing a multi-family unit at 84 Church Street.  He said with the lot line adjustment for 86 
Church Street he wants to ensure they will not be able to put a unit in the area they are transferring. 
 
The applicant Greg Mahanna explained they will not build anything on the portion of the property 
that is being transferred from 84 Church Street as it had been discussed during the Zoning Board 
meetings.  He went on to say he took the abutters suggestion to move the building that was 
proposed at 84 Church Street down to the river end of the parcel. 
 
There was no one further from the public to speak; Mr. Collopy brought the discussion back to the 
Board. 
 
Ms. Saunders said the Board should be aware that at the time of the variance request for expansion 
of a non-conforming use in 2022 for multi-family on both 84 and 86 Church Street, the Zoning Board 
approved the request for 86 but denied it for 84.  There was concern from the abutter regarding a 
multi-family building overlooking his backyard on land that was owned by 84 Church Street.  She 
said the Zoning Board, as a condition of approval requires anything that is built on the land to be 
screened from the abutting property. 
Ms. Saunders said staff recommends the Board accept the application as complete. 
 
A motion was made Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to accept the application as 
complete. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Ms. Saunders reviewed the Staff Recommendations for the project and recommended approval. 
 
A motion was made Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to approve the lot line revision with 
the conditions stated including no structure is to be constructed on the land that was taken from 84 
Church Street.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

B. Road Runner Real Estate Development, LLC, 797 Portland Street  (by Berry Surveying & 
Engineering/Chris Berry) 16 – Lot Subdivision Case# 108 – 50 – A - 22  

 
Christopher Berry of Berry Surveying and Engineering presented the plans for a 16-lot, 32-unit 
subdivision.  Mr. Berry explained they took the comments from the Board and abutters during the 
preliminary review a year ago.  They have since updated the plans and have been through a number 
of TRG meetings as well as a number of third party reviews.  

11/30/2023 

Page 119 of 150 

https://www.rochesternh.gov/planning-development/files/258-78-a-23-llr-application
https://www.rochesternh.gov/planning-development/files/108-50-a-22-797-portland-resubmittal


Page 4 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

Mr. Berry said they are proposing a single cul-de-sac off from Crowhill Road which has been off set 
from the most immediate abutter while still providing functional access across the wetlands and 
through wetland buffers. He said while offsetting the entrance into the site, they are able to keep 
some of the existing vegetation which will provide a landscape buffer at the entrance to the roadway. 
Mr. Berry explained they prepared a stormwater management plan that was externally reviewed, 
however a waiver to Chapter 218 is required.  He said the stormwater management plan they 
designed will not increase the flooding Crowhill has seen in the past but will actually reduce the 
flooding events the area sees more regularly. 
Mr. Berry said they are required to have a Conditional Use Permit for any impact that takes place 
within 50 feet of a wetland buffer.  He said they have approximately 34,000 square feet of buffer 
impacts. 
 
Mr. Collopy opened the public hearing. 
 
Carl Steven of 61 Crowhill Road said he has put in a retention wall to save his yard from flooding 
due to the brook that runs through the property. He asked who he would call if the developers 
stormwater plans do not work. Mr. Stevens added, every time the property is logged the water gets 
worse. 
 
Dottie McLain of 63 Crowhill Road had photographs of 61, 63, and 67 Crowhill Road showing the 
flooding that takes place at least twice a year.  She said there is supposed to be a homeowners 
association formed, but there are no guarantees that will happen. 
Ms. McLain asked when the applicant will be required to submit a NHDES application.   
 
Susan Grier, Rochester resident thanked the Board and the Conservation Commission for the work 
they have done for this subdivision.  She said Crowhill Road is a small narrow country road with a lot 
of history.  Ms. Grier said Public Works has reviewed the plans however there is no mention of 
adding a sidewalk. She said if the developer is proposing 32 units she believes a sidewalk should be 
required.  
Ms. Grier asked if the culvert can withstand construction equipment driving over it. 
She went on to express her concerns regarding adding housing and access ways in wetlands.  She 
said there are species of concerns living in the wetlands which have not been reported. 
 
Christina Paquette of 9 Copper Lane said she recognizes property owners have the right to develop 
their property and at some point this parcel will likely be developed.  She asked that the property be 
developed in a way that is responsible and sensible for wildlife, wetlands, and the safety of people 
kept in mind.  Ms. Paquette asked the Board to consider how much land has been cleared over the 
last 10 years for three development projects, Smoke Street, Carole Court, and Ida Circle.  She said 
the Carole Court development was unnecessarily over cleared and left with an unsightly back lot and 
unresolved issues. 
Ms. Paquette said allowing duplexes on each lot will significantly increase the traffic on a road that 
was not designed for that many vehicles.  She asked if a traffic study had been conducted for 
Crowhill Road.  
 
Ms. Saunders read the following email:  
We are residents of 795 Portland Street East Rochester, NH 03868, abutting neighbors to the 
proposes development on 797 Portland Street map 108 lot 50.We are unable to attend the meeting 
tonight for personal reasons however there are several concerns we would like addressed 
concerning this proposal.  

   
1) We have never had water issues in the yard and or the basement until the Katie Lane 
development was put in. We have had a sump pump system installed to keep the basement dry. 
With this proposed development in this wet area, we can foresee more water issues when the 
ground is disturbed for the development.  

11/30/2023 

Page 120 of 150 



Page 5 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

   
 2) For the East Rochester Elementary School renovation, we were told the school could not be 
expanded towards the wooded area behind it for environmental/eco system concerns, primarily 
wetlands. How can this new development bypass these concerns?  

   
3) This new development would require a wider road for services such as fire trucks, snowplows, 
garbage removal, also sidewalks and streetlights for the children to remain safe.  

   
4) We also have a concern that school children will not walk down to E. Rochester then back up 
Portland Street to go to school but will cut thru the woods and the abutting properties as a shortcut. 
We have a well-maintained property with a swimming pool which we like our privacy.  

   
5) Our last concern is that there be no more road access from Portland Street as we are inundated 
with two road access points for the Carol Court housing development (60 plus houses), then two 
road access points for the East Rochester Elementary School with multiple school buses and car 
traffic backups heading up the street towards Salmon Falls Road. Also, Broadway Street comes into 
Portland Street. We do not need another road cut into Portland Streed for more congestion. Portland 
Streed is inundated with all these streets and resident driveways coming into it.  
In conclusion, we request these concerns be entered into the official record and considered by the 
Planning Board the same as if we were in attendance of this important meeting. Thank you.  

   If there are any questions or concerns, please call or e/mail us at:  
Colin & Gail Claffey, 795 Portland Street, East Rochester 
 
John McLain of 63 Crowhill Road said the parcel should not be developed but turned into 
conservation land like the abutting property. He said the parcel is constantly wet.  It is wet now, it is 
wet in the spring, and it is wet in the summer.  
Mr. McLain said the culvert and drainage on Ox Road has been neglected.  He said the City has 
decided that it is more important to drain it onto his property than it is to take care of the issue and 
correct it. 
Mr. McLain went on to say it was stated the water has been directed onto this parcel, he said it also 
runs down to his property. 
He said the City has advised East Rochester residents not to drink the city water because of 
contamination.  He said the City’s solution is to run a fire hydrant non stop every day. 
Lastly, Mr. McLain said the Katie Lane project cost the City a quarter of a million dollars to fix 
because the developer didn’t construct it properly, they didn’t mitigate water causing water issues to 
the surrounding properties. 
 
There was no one further from the public to speak; Mr. Collopy brought the discussion back to the 
Board. 
 
Mr. Berry explained his firm spent approximately 18 months working on the plans before the Board 
saw them.   
Mr. Berry said a traffic study was conducted at the intersection and traffic counts were taken on 
Crowhill Road and a trip generation and traffic analysis was included the application package to the 
Board.  He said a third party review of the traffic analysis agreed their findings in that Crowhill Road 
is generally safe and will be able to handle additional traffic.  He went on to say it isn’t the widest 
street as it’s only 20 feet in width but it meets the general standard, and pedestrians do walk on the 
street. Mr. Berry said no offsite mitigation is proposed, nor has it been recommended. 
Mr. Berry explained they conducted test pits and perk tests after the most recent logging activity and 
there was no change to the soils after logging activity. 
Mr. Berry went on to explain they are removing storm flow from the back yards of the abutters and 
said only high flow bypass from the ponding system is going to be pointed back in their direction but 
a much-reduced rate. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 121 of 150 



Page 6 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

Ms. Saunders reviewed the staff recommendations.  She reviewed the waivers that are being 
requested as well as the Conditional Use Permits, which staff supports.  She went on to say staff 
recommends the application be accepted as complete. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to accept the application as 
complete.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Ms. Saunders explained the project went through three TRG review meetings, two for the application 
and one specifically for stormwater.  
Ms. Saunders explained the third-party reviews that were completed.  She said as a result of the 
traffic review City Staff believes, as recommended in the review report at least two sets of Rapid 
Rectangular Flashing Beacons.  
Ms. Saunders said the City is expecting the street to become city accepted so it will become a public 
street.  She said the City is moving toward all stormwater infrastructure being maintained long term 
by a homeowners association, but does not mean a complete hands off approach by the City.   
 
Mr. May clarified that after third party review of stormwater things will be a the very least no worse 
as they are now for the abutters in terms of annual flooding issues. Mr. Berry said the abutters will 
see a drastic reduction in water after construction.  
 
There was discussion regarding a homeowners association being in charge of stormwater 
infrastructure maintenance. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to approve the waiver request 
from Section 5.3.7, Cul-de-sac Length, Chapter 218-10.F(2)d, Chapter 218-10.C(2)a&b, and 
Chapter 218-10.C(3)a&b.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to approve the Conditional Use 
Permits for Chapter 275-19.2 and Chapter 275-12.9.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to approve the subdivision with 
the conditions stated.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
 

C. Waste Management of New Hampshire, 38 Turnkey Way (by Sanborn, Head, and 
Associates/Eric Steinhauser) Site Plan for Stage III expansion to increase leachate treatment 
capacity of the existing Leachate Treatment Plant that supports operations at the TREE 
facility by adding UF and de-nitrification equipment. Case# 267 – 3 – R1 – 23   

 
A motion was made by Mr. May and seconded by Mr. Walker to have this project be considered as a 
Development of Regional Impact.  
 
Mr. May explained after reviewing the materials he believes this project fits the criteria for 56:35 as 
the property boarders on two neighboring towns, Dover and Barrington.  He went on to say this 
development will have impact beyond Rochester. 
Ms. Saunders explained the project before the Board the project before them is to construct an 
addition on either side of the existing TREE facility.  She said on addition is 1,500 square feet and 
the other is 1,000 square feet plus two additional tanks. Ms. Saunders said the article in Foster’s 
incorrectly called this project an expansion of the site which it is not. 
Mr. May said the news paper article said the case was to expand the landfill but it is clearly not the 
case.  He went on to say the case before them is a multi-plex of decisions being made which will 
result in the expansion of the landfill which the Regional Planning Commission and neighboring 
towns and cities deserve an opportunity to weigh in on the changes. 
 

11/30/2023 

Page 122 of 150 

https://www.rochesternh.gov/planning-board/files/2023-waste-manage


Page 7 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

Mr. Hamann recused himself as he is a member of the Committee that would be hearing the case if 
it were to be reviewed as a Development of Regional Impact. 
 
Mr. Collopy asked Mr. de Geofroy to vote in place of Mr. Hamann for this motion. 
 
Mr. May explained if the Board were to recommend this to be a regional impact it would give the 
towns of Dover and Barrington status as abutters.  They would have the right to attend the meeting 
to voice any concerns. 
Mr. May went on to read RSA 56:35 regarding Development of Regional Impact. He said they meet 
4 out of the 6 criteria.   
Mr. Walker clarified that the project was for two building expansions and two tanks.  Ms. Saunders 
said that is correct. 
Mr. Walker asked how two building additions and two tanks be a regional impact.  Mr. May explained 
the cover letter provided by Waste Management states the expansion is to support the functions of 
the landfill. 
Mr. de Geofroy said it’s less about the building expansion and more about additional capacity for 
processing that might have potential emissions. He said if the amount of emissions is being 
increased it would make sense to consider it a project of regional impact however, if that’s not the 
case he doesn’t feel there is enough argument for that. 
Mr. Healey said the expansion has already been approved, the Board is reviewing additions for 
phase III. 
 
The Board briefly discussed whether to call the motion or hear testimony from the applicant before 
taking a vote.  The Board decided to hear testimony before deciding. 
 
Construction Project Manager for Waste Management Anne Reichert explained phase I and phase II 
were approved in 2006 and 2011.  She said they are seeking approval for two building additions 
located in phase III of the project.  Ms. Reichert explained they are under permit with NHDES and 
with the City for an Industrial Discharge Agreement.  She went on to explain the purpose of the 
project is to get ready for the City’s upgrade to the Waste Water Treatment Plant to meet total 
nitrogen discharge limits and total phosphorus.  She said they are taking a proactive step to get 
ahead of the new limits that will be coming out in 2025. 
Ms. Reichert said they are proposing two building additions with overhead doors and two additional 
tanks which will be for chemical treatment. 
 
Mr. deGeofroy said after listening to the applicant’s testimony he doesn’t feel his concern with 
emissions is a factor.   
Mr. Walker said because it is two building additions and a closed tank addition it really isn’t an 
emissions issue.  He said he doesn’t feel this project would be a regional impact. 
 
Mr. Collopy called the vote for Mr. May motion.  A yes vote means you agree it’s a regional impact, a 
no vote means there is no impact. 
 
The motion failed by a 7-2 voice vote.  Mr. May and Mr. Dews voted in favor. 
 
Mr. Collopy opened the public hearing. 
 
Susan Rice of 159 Ten Rod Road asked where the treated material will eventually end up.  She 
asked if it will end up in the City’s waste water treatment plant, or if it will be gradually discharged 
onto Waste Management property.  
 
Ms. Reichert explained they have a sewer connection and a pump station to lift water after treatment 
through a force main to a city main on Rochester Neck Road.  She said they have been doing it for 

11/30/2023 

Page 123 of 150 



Page 8 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

years and is fully permitted with the State as well as with the community.  Ms. Reichert explained 
they have to do testing and reporting to the Department of Public Works.  
 
There was no one further from the public to speak; Mr. Collopy brought the discussion back to the 
Board. 
 
Ms. Saunders said staff recommends the application be accepted as complete because there is 
sufficient information to allow the Board to proceed with consideration and to make an informed 
decision.  
 
A motion was made Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to accept the application as 
complete.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Ms. Saunders said from the City’s perspective this was a simple project.  She went on to reviewed 
the staff recommendations and conditions of approval.  
 
A motion was made Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to approve the site plan with the 
conditions stated.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 

D. Craig and Jessica Hossfeld, 55 Gear Road (by Berry Surveying & Engineering/Chris 
Berry) Lot-Line Revision to increase size of Map 258 Lot 55 Case# 258 – 53&55 – A – 23  

 
Christopher Berry of Berry Surveying and Engineering presented the plan for a lot line revision to 
transfer 2.8 acres from a larger parcel that they own to parcel with the existing house located at 55 
Gear Road.  Mr. Berry said they are seeking a waiver from the requirement to show wetlands on the 
entire parcel.   
 
Mr. Collopy opened the public hearing. 
 
Richard Davis of 57 Gear Road passed out pictures of his property in relation to 55 Gear Road.  He 
said the whole point of the lot line revision is for the applicant to have cattle and other farm animals 
at this address.  Mr. Davis said having a farm at this address will greatly affect him and his family in 
a negative way.  He said he purchased his home three years ago and has invested all his money 
into the property. Mr. Davis said when he purchased his home in 2020 he was under the impression 
the neighboring property wouldn’t be a farm because it was under the required lot size.  He said he 
has put up a vinyl fence and has added trees to help minimize the view from his property but 
because his property is raised, he can see over the fence.  He said the smell of the farm and the 
insects it will attract will make it very unpleasant. Mr. Davis said the applicant does not reside on the 
property, they reside in Deerfield, and they have stated on their Zoning Board application this will be 
a hobby farm. 
 
Lucas Hart of 58 Gear Road said he is concerned about the smell that will be coming from the 
proposed farm.  He said he grew up living at 57 Gear Road and in the past they have had horses at 
55 Gear Road.  He said he has lived next to cattle farms in the past and they smell atrocious. 
 
John Ruzzi, owner of 53 Gear Road said he feels allowing a farm will affect his rental unit because 
of the smell.  He said he is concerned about the cattle being 10 feet from the driveway and 15 feet 
from the yard. 
 
There was no one further from the public to speak; Mr. Collopy brought the discussion back to the 
Board. 
 

11/30/2023 

Page 124 of 150 

https://www.rochesternh.gov/planning-development/files/258-53-55-a-23-llr-app


Page 9 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

Ms. Saunders told the Board the application is for a lot line revision to bring the property into 
compliance with the farm definition.   
Ms. Saunders reviewed the staff recommendation and conditions of approval.  
 
Mr. Hayden asked if the wetland restoration plan has been submitted. Mr. Berry said the plan has 
been submitted, approved, executed, and at least one round of review has been completed. 
 
A motion was made Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Hamann to approve the waiver request.  The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 
A motion was made Mr. Walker and seconded Mr. Hamann to approve the lot line revision with the 
conditions stated. The motion carried unanimously. 

 

 

 
IX. Other Business 

 
A.  Planning Update 

 
Ms. Saunders said Staff is continuing to work on the Natural Resources and Historic and 
Cultural Resources chapters of the Master Plan.  She said the Planning Department just 
received drafts to review and will bring to the Board for it’s review at an upcoming meeting. 
 
Ms. Saunders thanked Mr. May for volunteering to be the Planning Board representative on 
the Recreation Master Plan. 

 

B. Other 
 
The Board reviewed the 2024 meeting dates. Ms. Saunders said it follows the same 
deadline and meeting schedule as years past. 
 
Mr. Walker said an issue was brought to his attention regarding a property next to the 
Woodman Park site.  He said the property owner installed a concrete slab in front of the 
house to park his car and when the park was being worked on they installed curbing right 
along the front of the slab so now the owner drives over the curb to park his vehicle. 
Ms. Saunders explained the property owner applied for a curb cut and was denied so he 
should not be using that spot as a driveway. 
 
Mr. Fitts said he went to the new restaurant at the Ridge, which was at half capacity.  He 
said the parking lot was full and the adjacent retail space which is much larger than the 
restaurant is vacant.  Mr. Fitts asked the Board to keep parking in mind when phase two 
comes before the Board. 
 

 

 
X. Adjournment 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Walker and seconded by Mr. Fitts to adjourn the meeting at 
9:24pm. The motion carried unanimously. 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 125 of 150 



Page 10 of 10 

23 11 06 PBMinutes 

 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Crystal Galloway,    and  Shanna B. Saunders, 
Planner I       Director of Planning & Development 

11/30/2023 

Page 126 of 150 



Public Works & Building Committee Meeting Minutes 
November 16, 2023  

Public Works and Buildings Committee 

City Hall Council Chambers  

Meeting Minutes 

November 16, 2023 
 

MEMBERS PRESENT 

Councilor Donald Hamann, Chairman  

Councilor John Larochelle 

Councilor Alexander de Geofroy  

Councilor Steve Beaudoin 

MEMBERS ABSENT 

Councilor Jim Gray, Vice Chairman (excused) 

OTHERS PRESENT  

Peter C. Nourse PE, Director of City Service 

Dan Camara, Coordinator GIS & Asset Mgmt. 

Lisa Clark, Deputy Director, DPW 

John Bersue, Dry Hill Road 

MINUTES 

 

Councilor Hamann called the Public Works and Building Committee to order at 7PM  

1. Roll Call 

Ms. McDormand took the roll call attendance.  Chair Hamann, Councilor 

Larochelle, Councilor de Geofroy and Councilor Beaudoin were all present. 

Councilor Gray was excused. 

2. Approval of October de Geofroy made a motion to accept the minutes of the October 

19, 2023, meeting as presented.  Councilor Larochelle seconded the motion. The 

motion passed unanimously. 

3. Public Input 

John Bersue of Dry Hill Road was present for the paving plan that was being presented 

tonight. He is interested to know if Dry Hill and Sheepboro Road will be on the 2024 

paving list.  Councilor Hamman stated that this was next on the agenda.  

4. FY24 Proposed Paving List 

Mr. Nourse stated that the Fiscal Year 2024 CIP budget carried $1.5 Million for paving.  

He stated that there are rollover funds from the Fiscal Year 2023 program & the SB 401 

State Aid Block Grant that will result in a total of $1.7 million for the FY2024 Pavement 

Rehab Program.  Mr. Nourse stated the City has employed the Pavement Conditions Index 

(PCI) management system again and has run our annual pavement condition maintenance 

algorithm.  He stated that the streets that resulted from the algorithm have been field 

checked.  He displayed the attached final proposed list.  Councilor de Geofroy asked the 

question if there are streets that have a higher PCI that are already on the list, why are they 

not on this list?  Mr. Nourse stated that the algorithm is quite complex.  Mr. Nourse further 

stated it’s a cost deferral-based algorithm, it’s set up to keep good roads good, an as there 

is limited amount of money each year, it is set up to recommend roads that disperse those 

DRAFT

Page 1 of 7 

11/30/2023 

Page 127 of 150 



Public Works & Building Committee Meeting Minutes 
November 16, 2023  

funds to good condition or fair condition roads to keep them good or to move them into the 

good bracket.  Mr. Nourse noted that this philosophy is used by the New Hampshire 

Department of Transportation and other municipal agencies across the country.  Mr. 

Nourse stated that there is only so much money for the program and that money goes further 

when the money is directed to a fair or good condition road.  He noted that a full 

rehabilitation of a road could cost as much as a ½ million dollars per mile.  Mr. Nourse 

stated that a poor condition road rises to the surface depending on the PCI of the road and 

how much annual funding is available and what type of road it is.  Mr. Nourse stated he 

would attach the fiscal year 2024 recommended paving list to the minutes and he noted 

that the streets included are all or sections of the following streets: Old Dover Road, Shady 

Hill Drive, Brickyard Drive, Thomas Street, Yvonne Street, Darrell Street, Evergreen Lane, 

Sidney Street, Young Street, Lamy Road, Snow Street, Amanda Street, Given Circle, 

Mandela Drive, Cove Court, Haskell Avenue, Marketplace Boulevard and Columbus 

Avenue. Councilor de Geofroy MOVED to recommend the full City Council approve the 

FY24 proposed paving list.  Councilor Beaudoin seconded the motion.  The Motion was 

carried by unanimous voice vote.   

5. Public Information Meetings Upcoming 

Mr. Nourse stated that there will be 2 informational meetings coming. 

Route 11 Capacity and Safety Enhancements 

Mr. Nourse stated the Route 11 Capacity and Safety Enhancements project will have a 

Local Concerns meeting for this project.  He noted that a Local Concern Meeting is a 

requirement of Local Public Agency (LPA) projects that are a partnership for funding with 

NHDOT.  This meeting will be held on Wednesday January 31, 2024, at 7:00 PM at The 

Public Works Department, 209 Chestnut Hill Road, Rochester NH.  The public is 

encouraged to attend. 

Milton Road/Salmon Falls Road/Amarosa Drive Intersection Improvements  

Mr. Nourse stated that there will be a public informational meeting for the Milton 

Road/Salmons Falls Road/Amarosa Drive Intersection Improvements on Thursday January 

25, 2024, at 7:00PM at The Public Works Department, 209 Chestnut Hill Road, Rochester, 

NH.  Mr. Nourse further stated this is a City project. The public is encouraged to attend.  

Councilor de Geofroy asked if these meetings will be posted.  Mr. Nourse stated that both 

meetings will be posted on the website and that as part of the LPA requirements the abutters 

for the Rt.11 would be sent letters.  

6. Other 

Mr. Nourse reviewed the Standard Calculations Regarding the Cost of Transporting and 

Treatment (T and T) of Wastewater and Infiltration/inflow of the Sewer System.  See 

Attached; 

Trash Accumulating roadside & areas around WM Facility 

Councilor Larochelle said he had a constituent call regarding trash near her property. She 

lives on the southern edge of town on Route 125.  Councilor Larochelle said in the past 

Waste Management has picked up the trash that has accumulated from big loads that were 

not secured down.  He stated that he was not sure if this was their responsibility or if they 

were just being good neighbors in the past. He stated he remembers WM being diligent in 

the past about clean up.  Councilor Larochelle asked if Lisa Clark of DPW could call Waste 

Management to suggest maybe having this taken care of. 

 

DRAFT

Page 2 of 7 

11/30/2023 

Page 128 of 150 



Public Works & Building Committee Meeting Minutes 
November 16, 2023  

Clarification of Yard Waste in Trash Cart 

Ms. Clark stated that last month or the month before Ms. Raab from East Rochester came 

in to talk about yard waste collection and Ms. Clark had told her she could put that in her 

trash cart if there was room.  Ms. Clark stated that a recent conversation with WM 

suggested that they do not condone that practice.  Ms. Clark apologized for the confusion, 

but residents should not put yard waste in their trash or recycle carts.      

Strafford Square Round About 

Councilor de Geofroy wanted to congratulate everyone for the great work on the Strafford 

Square Round About.  Councilor de Geofroy asked the question how it was going and 

timeline for finishing touches.  Mr. Nourse stated that they opened the Strafford Round 

About 2 weeks ago tomorrow.  Mr. Nourse further noted to his knowledge there have been 

no fender benders reported and he noted that there were some motorists going the wrong 

way through the circle during the first couple of days.  Mr. Nourse noted they have started 

to install curbing, will have concrete next week.  Mr. Nourse stated that he will open up 

the double crosswalks when they get the Rapid Reflectorized Flashing Beacons 

operational.  Mr. Nourse further stated that the speed table is going to be installed in the 

next couple of weeks.  He stated that the final pavement will be down next spring and ne 

noted that there will be some shimming on both sides of the speed table, it is concrete.  In 

the springtime they will go out and put another 1 ½” of pavement and restripe the entire 

thing.  Councilor Beaudoin asked what the illumination was going to be.  Mr. Nourse stated 

that the lighting is like the historical lighting they have downtown.  The temporary lighting 

is out now until the permanent lighting is ready.   

 

Councilor Hamann adjourned the meeting at 7:47 PM 

Minutes respectfully submitted by Laura McDormand, DPW Administration & Utility Billing 

Supervisor 

DRAFT

Page 3 of 7 

11/30/2023 

Page 129 of 150 



Roadway Starting Cross Road Ending Cross Road PCI Rehabilitation Method Estimated Cost Running Cost

Old Dover Rd Columbus Ave Meadow St 43 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $462,006 $462,006

Shady Hill Dr Pickering Rd End 26 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $371,904 $833,910

Brickyard Dr Pickering Rd Brickyard Dr 45 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $9,030 $842,940

Thomas St Ten Rod Rd Darrell St 53 Full Width Mill and Overlay (2"-3") $21,511 $864,451

Yvonne St Darrell St Evergreen Ln 53 Full Width Mill and Overlay (2"-3") $49,568 $914,019

Darrell St Yvonne St Thomas St 53 Full Width Mill and Overlay (2"-3") $25,535 $939,554

Evergreen Ln Yvonne St Thomas St 53 Full Width Mill and Overlay (2"-3") $28,210 $967,764

Sidney St Charles St Wilson St 51 Full Width Mill and Overlay (2"-3") $34,169 $1,001,933

Young St Sidney St Broad St 51 Full Width Mill and Overlay (2"-3") $38,215 $1,040,148

Lamy Rd Oak St End 31 Reclaim and Pave (4") $65,504 $1,105,652

Snow St Amanda St Link St 31 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $76,800 $1,182,452

Amanda St Snow St Hale St 29 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $57,984 $1,240,436

Given Cir Anderson Ln End 30 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $115,840 $1,356,276

Mandela Dr Whitehall Rd End 29 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $116,832 $1,473,108

Cove Ct N Main St End 29 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $49,024 $1,522,132

Haskell Ave Winter St End 26 Full Width Mill and Overlay (>2"-3") $26,112 $1,548,244

Marketplace Blvd Rt 11 Roundabout 80 Microsurface $7,792 $1,556,036

Columbus Ave 250' north of Linscott Ct Wakefield St 62 Full Width Mill and Overlay (2"-3") $29,138 $1,585,174

Total Cost: $1,585,174

    

     

FY24 CIP Roadwork Proposed Assignments

Page 4 of 7 

11/30/2023 

Page 130 of 150 



A Review of the Standard Calculations Regarding the Cost of 
Transporting and Treatment (T and T) of Wastewater and 
Infiltration/Inflow of the Sewer System  
 
 
The Cost of Treating Wastewater in Rochester (2022): 
 
  

Cost to Treat 
Rochester 
Wastewater (2022)       

Item 
Avg Gallons 

Annually Avg Gallons per Day O&M and CIP Costs 

Admin and O&M 1,110,549,000 3,042,600 $3,101,029 

Capital Improvements 1,110,549,000 3,042,600 $2,467,500 

Debt Service 1,110,549,000 3,042,600 $3,305,079 

Total Cost     $8,873,608 

Cost to treat per 
gallon      $0.007990 

 
Rochester wastewater in 2022 cost $0.00799/gal to convey and treat. 
The actual user rate would be more than this value to run the enterprise 
system.  
 
 
The cost to treat and transport I/I is the same as to treat wastewater.  
A per-rate (flow-based) multiplier or index is needed to estimate the 
costs of treatment and transport of I/I and, to prioritize corrective 
measures to minimize I/I. 
 
This T and T index is calculated as the overall annual cost per average 
GPD transported and treated: For 2022: $8,873,608 per year / 3,042,600 
GPD for the year. The quotient is $2.91 / GPD for the year. Stated another 
way, this is $2.91 per gallon per day, per year, in the present time. This 
is considered the T and T cost and is an index for subsequent benefit-cost 
analysis. 

Page 5 of 7 

11/30/2023 

Page 131 of 150 



 
Note that the $2.91 / GPD is a 2022 figure. This index can change from 
year to year as the cost of transport and treatment changes.  
 
This quotient can also be derived from: 
$0.00799 / gallon x 365 days/yr = $2.91 / GPD per year.  
 
For Infiltration, we seek the T and T cost. The equation is: 
 
T and T Cost/year of Infiltration = (GPD of I/I) x ($2.91/GPD per year), or 
T and T Cost/year of Infiltration = (GPD of I/I) x ($0.00799/gal x 365 
day/yr) 
 
Ex.   
 
$419,969/yr  = (144,000 GPD Infiltration) x ($2.91/GPD per year), or 
$419,969/yr = (144,000 GPD Infiltration) x ($0.00799/gal x 365 day/yr) 
 
$2.91 / GPD is not directly related to the user rate. It is a rate-based 
quotient.  
 
The same approach is not used for Inflow. Whereas it is expected that  
about ½ of infiltration can be corrected, due to natural migration of 
groundwater from improved to unimproved areas of the collection 
system, Inflow is considered cost effective as it is ALWAYS an undesirable 
condition and is considered that it should be eliminated entirely. 
However, it can be used to perform a cost analysis to prioritize repairs.  
 
The $2.91 is a number related to the cost to treat and transport 
wastewater and I/I. But, more importantly, the $2.91/GPD number is an 
index, used to determine if the costs to implement structural 
improvements to infrastructure are cost effective over a set number of 
years or life-cycle (of a recommended rehab measure). Infiltration is 

Page 6 of 7 

11/30/2023 

Page 132 of 150 



considered excessive if the costs of the removal of its source are less than 
the costs for T and T of these flows. This is done by comparing the T and 
T cost to the cost of the improvement over the life cycle of the 
improvement.  
 
The present value of the T and T cost is obtained so that the annual O&M 
costs and capital costs are on an equal time basis, and it reflects the life 
cycle of the improvement. This planning period is generally 20 years. Per 
MA DEP annual percentage rate used is 2.5%. The Present Worth for the 
$2.91/GPD per year over a 20 year life cycle becomes $41.88/GPD per 
year 
 
Ex.  
 
For a pipe run, 864 GPD of infiltration has been determined to be 
removeable through improvements. Present Worth over 20 years of T 
and T cost is $41.88/GPD per year. 
 
864 GPD x $41.88 = $36,184. This is the value of the problem over 20 
years of no action. Compare this cost with the cost of near-term 
improvements, estimated to be $10,558. $10,558 < $36,184, therefore 
the improvements are considered recommended.  
 
The index is conservative. Infiltration varies throughout the year, 
generally being higher in spring/fall. Infiltration is however a 365 day 
per year event. The index is very conservative when applied to inflow, 
and not advised as inflow is a relatively short duration event as 
compared to infiltration. The index is not generally applied to inflow 
but can be used to prioritize areas of inflow removal.   
 
 
 

Page 7 of 7 

11/30/2023 

Page 133 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 134 of 150 



Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester Regarding the Code of 

Ethics and Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials 

THE CITY OF ROCHESTER ORDAINS: 

That Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester and currently before the Rochester City 

Council, be amended as follows (deletions struckout additions in RED): 

ARTICLE XI 

Code of Ethics and Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials 

§ 7-83 Board of Ethics.  

A. A Board of Ethics (“BOE”) is hereby created. This BOE shall consist of three (3) persons: one member 

shall be appointed by the Mayor from the City Council, one member shall be appointed by the Chair of 

the School Board from the School Board, and one member shall be appointed by the Chair of the Police 

Commission from the Police Commission.   

B. Each BOE Member selected is required to serve unless the BOE Member is the subject of the 

Complaint, has a conflict of interest, or is excused due to unavailability or exceptional causes (such as a 

health issue).  

C. The BOE Members shall elect a chairperson and the BOE may adopt such rules for the conduct of its 

business as it sees fit. The BOE shall have the power to draw upon City departments for reports and 

information and stenographic and clerical help.  

§ 7-84 Ethics Investigation Officer.  

A. The position of Ethics Investigation Officer (“EIO”) is hereby created. The City Manager shall have the 

power to identify and retain an EIO, with approval from the BOE, to assist with the investigation and 

prosecution of any Complaint which has been referred for investigation. The EIO, with approval of the 

BOE, shall have sufficient experience and training to conduct the investigation. 

§ 7-85 Complaints, Investigations, and Hearing.  

A. Complaint Requirements. Any City official may submit a written complaint alleging one or more 

violations of the Code of Ethics and Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials (“Ethics Code”). Such 

complaint must be based on personal knowledge, and set forth facts with enough specificity and detail 

for a determination of sufficiency for investigation. The Written Complaint must be signed under oath. 

The Complaint shall be delivered to the City Attorney with a copy to the Mayor and City Clerk. The 

City Attorney shall promptly provide a copy of the Complaint to the Charged Party. 

B. Review for Sufficiency. 

  1. A Review for Sufficiency of the Complaint will be completed within thirty (30) days of 

receipt. This review will be based on the allegations contained in the Complaint and the immediately 

available public meetings or records referenced in the Complaint. 

  2. The City Attorney, Mayor, and City Manager in the case of a City Board, the City Attorney, 

Mayor, and Superintendent in the case of the School Board, or the City Attorney, Mayor, and Police 

Chief in the case of the Police Commission shall conduct the Review of Sufficiency, except in cases in 

which the Mayor is the subject of the Complaint. Complaints against the Mayor, School Board Chair, or 

Police Commission Chair shall be reviewed by the  City Attorney and the Deputy Mayor, School Board 

Vice Chair, or Police Commission Vice Chair, respectively. 

  3.If the Complaint is deemed insufficient, the Complainant will be notified in writing of that 

11/30/2023 

Page 135 of 150 



decision with a copy provided to the Charged Party. A Complaint will be deemed sufficient if it is 

determined that the Complaint establishes on its own that it is more probable than not that a violation of 

the Ethics Code may have occurred.  

  4. If the Complaint is deemed sufficient for further investigation, it shall be referred to the EIO 

for further action and all parties will be notified of this step through communication in writing.  

C. Investigation Phase. The EIO shall be provided the full cooperation of the City government to conduct 

such investigation as may be necessary to determine whether any violation may have occurred and next 

steps. The Charged Party shall have an opportunity to provide a response to the Complaint. 

 The EIO’s investigation shall be completed within forty-five (45) days of the date of referral unless the 

Charged party and the Chair of the BOE mutually agree to a longer period. 

 The EIO shall provide a written report with the conclusions reached in the completed investigation to 

the BOE. The EIO shall provide a non-binding recommendation as to the disposition of the Complaint 

to the BOE. Thereafter, all action with regard to the Complaint shall be taken by the BOE. 

D. Board of Ethics Hearing. 

  1. The BOE shall take no further evidence on any Complaint, but shall make its determination 

based upon the report received by the EIO. However, the BOE shall hold at least one (1) public hearing 

at which the EIO, the Complainant, and the Charged Party shall be afforded an opportunity to present 

oral and written argument to the BOE. The BOE may hear from such other and further parties as it 

determines appropriate. 

  2. Any party may be represented by legal counsel at his or her own expense at any stage of 

proceedings related to the Ethics Code. 

  3. The BOE shall issue a written decision within thirty (30) days of the final public hearing with 

findings and a disposition, dismissal, or referral for further action if a violation found. If a violation  has 

been found, the BOE shall recommend a sanction or penalty and refer the matter to the City Council, 

School Board, or Police Commission for disposition, sanction, or other action as set forth in the Ethics 

Code.  

§ 7-86 Conflict Between Ethics Code and this Article. To the extent a conflict arises between the Ethics 

Code and this Article, this Article shall prevail.  

 

  

 

Amendments are effective on January 1, 2024. 

 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 136 of 150 



Resolution Deauthorizing $1,305.59 of the Rochester Police Department Highway Safety 

Mobilization Grant  

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

ROCHESTER: 

 

That One Thousand Three Hundred Five and 59/100 Dollars ($1,305.59) of funds previously 

appropriated to the Rochester Police Department as part of the Highway Safety Mobilization Grant 

are hereby deauthorized. 

 

To the extent not otherwise provided for in this Resolution, the Finance Director is hereby 

authorized to establish and/or designate such accounts and or account numbers as are necessary to 

implement the transactions contemplated in this Resolution.  
 

11/30/2023 

Page 137 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 138 of 150 



11/30/2023 

Page 139 of 150 



11/30/2023 

Page 140 of 150 



11/30/2023 

Page 141 of 150 



 

 

 
 

Intentionally 
left blank… 

City Clerk’s Office 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 142 of 150 



Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester Regarding the Capital 

Improvements Program Committee 

THE CITY OF ROCHESTER ORDAINS: 

That Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester and currently before the Rochester City 

Council, be amended as follows (deletions struckout additions in RED): 

§ 7-38. Capital Improvements Program Committee.  

A. Purpose. This section is established by the Rochester City Council pursuant to RSA 674:5. The 

purpose of the Capital Improvements Program Committee (or “the Committee”) is to aid the City 

Council and City Manager in their consideration of the annual budget.   

B. Functions of the Committee. The Capital Improvements Program Committee is charged to review 

submittals to the City’s Capital Improvements Program in relation to the City’s Master Plan and 

growth goals. The Committee’s review is subject to the following procedure: 

(1) At such time the City Manager requests, each officer or Director of a Department shall submit 

an itemized request for capital projects for the departments or activities under its control. 

(2) Each capital request shall be for an item $10,000 or greater in value and with at least a 10 

year lifespan. 

(3) Each capital request shall be submitted using the Capital Projects Request form and explain 

how the project meets the evaluation criteria established by the Committee.  

 

(4) The Capital Improvements Program Committee shall score the proposals based upon the 

evaluation criteria. All scoring is submitted to the Planning Department to tabulate the 

ranking. 

(5) At the Committee’s meeting to review and discuss the ranking the Committee as a 

whole may make changes to the ranking for reason stated in the final report to the 

Planning Board. The Committee may not rescore, only amend the ranking. 

(6) The Committee’s Final Ranking Report shall be submitted to the Planning Board. The 

Planning Board may review scoring and change rankings based on knowledge of de-

velopment patterns and the Master Plan. The Planning Board may not rescore, only 

amend the ranking. 

(7) A Final Ranked Project report of projects is submitted to the City Manager for recommen-

dation to inform the proposed budget to the City Council. 

C. Structure of the Committee. 

(1) Composition. The Capital Improvements Program Committee shall consist of eight 

members, all of whom shall be regular voting members. The composition of the Com-

mittee shall be as follows: 

(a) Three members from the Planning Board 

(b) Three members from City Council  

(c) Two members at large – appointed by the City Manager with the approval of the City 

Council 

(2) Appointments. The members of the Committee shall be appointed pursuant to Section 74 of 

the City Charter for terms of two years.  

11/30/2023 

Page 143 of 150 



D. Administration. 

(1) Meetings and activities. The Committee shall meet as needed and shall prepare a report and 

recommendation to the City Manager in accordance with the specified budget preparation 

process and schedule. 

(2) Bylaws. The Committee may adopt bylaws to govern its operation. 

(3) City and state law. The Committee shall be regulated by all applicable City and state laws. 

(4) Staffing and resources. The City of Rochester will provide staffing and other support to the 

Capital Improvements Program Committee, as appropriate, subject to availability of staff 

resources. 

 

Amendments are effective upon passage. 

 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 144 of 150 



City of Rochester Formal Council Meeting  

AGENDA BILL 

NOTE: Agenda Bills are due by 10 AM on the Monday the week before the City Council Meeting.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

COMMITTEE SIGN-OFF 
COMMITTEE  

 
CHAIR PERSON 
 

 

DEPARTMENT APPROVALS 
DEPUTY CITY MANAGER  

 
CITY MANAGER  

FINANCE & BUDGET INFORMATION 
FINANCE OFFICE APPROVAL  

 
SOURCE OF FUNDS 
 

 

ACCOUNT NUMBER  
 

AMOUNT  
 

APPROPRIATION REQUIRED     YES       NO   
 

 

 
LEGAL AUTHORITY 

 
 

 

AGENDA SUBJECT   
 

COUNCIL ACTION ITEM    
INFORMATION ONLY   

FUNDING REQUIRED?   YES    NO  
* IF YES ATTACH A FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM 

RESOLUTION REQUIRED?   YES    NO  
 

FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM?   YES    NO  
 

AGENDA DATE 
 

 

DEPT. HEAD SIGNATURE  
 

DATE SUBMITTED 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS         YES   NO   
  

* IF YES, ENTER THE  TOTAL NUMBER OF 
PAGES ATTACHED 

 

11/30/2023 

Page 145 of 150 



 
SUMMARY STATEMENT 

 
 

 

 RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
 

11/30/2023 

Page 146 of 150 



 

 

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

City Hall Annex 

33 Wakefield Street, 

Rochester, New Hampshire 03867-1917 

(603) 335-1338 - Fax (603) 330-0023 

Web Site: www.rochesternh.net 
 

Planning Board 

Conservation Commission 
Historic District Commission 

Arts and Culture Commission 

Memo 
 
To:  Planning Board 
From:  Shanna B. Saunders, Planning Director 
Date:  February 27th, 2023 
Re:  Capital Improvements Plan Process 
 
 
State Statute sets out the jurisdiction and purpose of a CIP program in  RSA 674:5 – 8. (Check it out in 
your new blue Land Use Regulation books!)   The City is enabled to create a 6-year Capital Improvements 
Program where the Planning Board has adopted a Master Plan. The sole purpose and effect of the capital 
improvements program shall be to aid the City Council and City Manager in their consideration of the 
annual budget. 
 
The City’s CIP program serves as a cornerstone of the City’s long term planning program. It connects the 
City’s Capital asset and infrastructure needs to the City’s Land Use Master Plan and allows a 
measured growth footprint that does not unduly impact the City’s capacity or financial systems.   
 
Please find attached a recommended framework for a CIP committee. This framework was drafted with 
research into several communities including Dover, Portsmouth and Laconia. The framework 
contemplates a timeline from October to March in order to submit, score and prioritize projects. It also 
sets out a number of scoring criteria. the Planning Department, in concert with the City Manager’s office, 
act as lead administrative office for this program. This means that Departments will submit CIP  requests  
to the Planning Department. The Planning Department will help administer a process with a CIP 
Committee who will make recommendations to the full  Planning Board. The Planning Board will then 
make a final recommendation to the City Manager for consideration during the budget deliberations. 
This frame work will be used for FY 2025- FY2031 projects (next year)  
 
This year we do not have an appointed CIP Committee nor time for Departments presentations. 
However, we can work to to better connect the City’s Capital Asset and Infrastructure, its urgency and 
need as well as source funds and probable revenues to the City’s Master Plans.  
 
 

Economic Development Master Plan 2018 
Transportation Master Plan 2020 

Downtown Master Plan 2020 
 

All of these are on our website under Planning Department and then Plans and Studies Library  

11/30/2023 

Page 147 of 150 

http://www.rochesternh.net/
https://www.rochesternh.net/sites/g/files/vyhlif9211/f/uploads/full_rochester_nh_economic_plan_update_22_march_2018_revised.pdf
https://www.rochesternh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif9211/f/uploads/52552.00_report_final_feb2020_-_copy_1.pdf
https://www.rochesternh.gov/sites/g/files/vyhlif9211/f/uploads/rocheter_downtown_plan_091520.pdf


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

City Hall Annex 

33 Wakefield Street, 
Rochester, New Hampshire 03867-1917 

(603) 335-1338 - Fax (603) 330-0023 

Web Site: www.rochesternh.net 
 

Rochester Capital  Improvements Program 

Capital Improvements Procedure 

A. At such time as the City Manager requests, or the Administrative Code specifies, each officer or Director of a 

Department shall submit an itemized request for capital projects for the next fiscal year for the departments or activities 

under its control. 

B. Each capital request shall be for an item $10,000 or greater in price and with at least a 10 year lifespan.  

C. Each shall be submitted on the Capital Projects Request form and in the “Justification” section please explain how the 

project meets the following criteria: 

The City’s CIP Criteria are as follows:  

1. Is part of the goals and objectives in the City’s Master Plan 

2. Addresses a Public Health or Safety issue 

3. Improves the efficiency of existing services 

4. Addresses a current deficiency or lack of service 

5. Preserves or builds on a previous capital investment or current project 

6. Reduces future operating costs or increases future revenues 

7. Supports efforts to promote Economic Vitality 

8. Responds to a Federal or State requirement  

9. Eligible for outside funding sources with limited time and/or availability 

The City’s CIP Committee is made of the following membership/representatives, who shall score the proposals based on 

the criteria. Final Score shall determine rank of projects. 

3 Members of the Planning Board  

3 Members of the City Council  

2 Members at large – appointed by the City Manager 

Scoring is completed by giving each CIP item a score of 1-5 as to how well they meet one of the 9 criteria. A perfect project 

receives 45 points.  A 45 point project would be ranked first. With all other scored projects being ranked based on their 

score. Scoring is completed independently by CIP Comm Members without discussion with other CIP Comm Members.  

All scoring is submitted to the Planning Department who tabulates the ranking.  

At the CIP Committee’s meeting to discuss the ranking, the committee as a whole may make changes to the ranking, for 

reason stated in the final report to the Planning Board. CIP Committee may not rescore only amend the ranking. 

CIP Committee’s Final Ranking Report shall be submitted to the Planning Board. Planning Board may review scoring and 

change ranking based on knowledge of development patterns and the Master Plan. PB may not rescore only amend the 

ranking.  

A Final Ranked Project Report of projects is submitted to the City Manager for Recommendation to the City Council.   

11/30/2023 

Page 148 of 150 

http://www.rochesternh.net/


 

 

Planning & Finance 
Staff

•Orgainizes CIP 
schedule

•Recieves requests 
from 
Departments

•Organizes CIP 
booklet and 
spreadsheets

CIP Committee

•Meets with 
Departments to 
understnd 
requests

•Scores projects 
according to the 
criteria

• Compiles a 
recommnedation 
to the Planning 
Board

Planning Board

•Reviews CIP 
Comittee 
recommendation 
in relation to 
known 
development 
patterns and the 
Master Plan

•Compliles a 
recommendation 
to the City 
Manager

City Manager

•Uses the 
recommendation 
to aid in the 
consideration of 
the annual budget

11/30/2023 

Page 149 of 150 



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
City Hall Annex 

33 Wakefield Street, 
Rochester, NH 03867-1917 

(603) 335-1338  
Web Site: www.RochesterNH.gov 

 

TO: Capital Improvements Program Committee 

 3 PB Members 

 3 Council Members 

 2 City Manager Appointments, at Large 

   

FROM: Shanna B. Saunders, Planning Director 

 

DATE:              November 16, 2023  

 

SUBJECT: 2024 Schedule of Capital Improvements Program (CIP) Committee Meetings 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The newly formed CIP Committee is charged to review submittals to the City’s Capital Improvement Program in 
relation to the City’s Master Plan and growth goals. The sole purpose of the Committee shall be to aid the City Council 
and City Manager in their consideration of the annual budget.  The Committee is made up of City Council Members, 
Planning Board Members and City Manager Appointees. They will be scoring the CIP project against 9 criteria, which 
will result in a ranked list of projects by priority. The criteria are as follows:  
 

1. Is part of the goals and objectives in the City’s Master Plan 

2. Addresses a Public Health or Safety issue 

3. Improves the efficiency of existing services 

4. Addresses a current deficiency or lack of service 

5. Preserves or builds on a previous capital investment or current project 

6. Reduces future operating costs or increases future revenues 

7. Supports efforts to promote Economic Vitality 

8. Responds to a Federal or State requirement  

9. Eligible for outside funding sources with limited time and/or availability 

The meeting schedule of the CIP Committee is as follows.  All Meetings start at 6PM:  
 
November 7 – December 31 CIP Munis-based database available for project submittals.  
Tues Jan 9 – Planning Department receives CIP Books from Finance 
Thurs Jan 11 - CIP Committee Kick off Meeting. Draft CIP Book presented to CIP Committee 
Thurs Jan 18 – Department Presentations –BLS, Planning, Library 
Thurs Jan 25 - Department Presentations – Police and Fire 
Thurs Feb 1 - Department Presentations – Discussion on upcoming Department Presentations 
Thurs Feb 8 - Department Presentations – Water and Sewer, GS Biz Park TIF, Granite Ridge TIF, Public Works,      
                      Public Buildings,  Community Center, Recreation, Arena 
Thurs Feb 15 - Department Presentations – Econ Dev,  Finance, IT,  City Clerk, 
Thurs Feb 22 - NO MEETING Scoring due to Planning Office 
Thurs Feb 29 – CIP Committee Review of final Scoring/Ranking 
Monday March 4 - Planning Board review of CIP Committee ranking and recommendation made to City Manager 
 
 

11/30/2023 

Page 150 of 150 

http://www.rochesternh.net/

	Regular City Council Meeting agenda 12-5-23
	5. Acceptance of Minutes
	5.1 Regular City Council Meeting: November 8, 2023


	6.1 City Manager's report
	Contracts and Documents Executed since last month
	Department of Public Works
	Change Order, Strafford Square Roundabout - S.U.R.
	ARPA Grant Agreement - Water Treatment Facility
	Change Order, City Hall/Opera House Egress - Careno

	Economic Development
	FY23-24 CAP Weatherization - Elizabeth Street
	FY23-24 CAP Weatherization - South Elderberry
	FY23-24 CAP Weatherization - Whispering Winds
	FY23-24 CAP Weatherization - Nola Ave
	FY23-24 CAP Weatherization - Joshua St
	FY23-24 CAP Weatherization - Reagan Dr
	FY23-24 CAP Weatherization - Cattail


	Personnel Action Summary Report

	9. Nominations, Appointments, Resignations, and Elections
	9.1 Resignation: Dana Berlin, City Council Ward 6, Seat A
	9.2 Resignation: Michael Scala, Ward 6 Selectman

	10. Reports of Committees
	10.1 Finance Committee
	10.1.1 Resolution Authorizing Supplemental Appropriation of $45,000 to the Recreation Special Events Fund - Lilac Family Fun Festival 
	10.1.2 Resolution Authorizing the Repurposing of One Million Five Hundred Thousand Dolllars of ARPA funds

	10.2 Planning Board
	10.3 Public Works
	10.3.1 Committee Recommendation: To approve the FY24 proposed paving list


	11. Unfinished Business
	11.1 Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester Regarding the Code of Ethics and Conduct for Elected and Appointed Officials - Board of Ethics
	11.2 Amendments to Chapter 223 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester regarding Streets and Sidewalks 

	13. New Business
	13.1 Resolution Deauthorizing $1,305.59 of the Rochester Police Department Highway Safety Mobilization Grant 
	13.2 Amendment to Chapter 7 of the General Ordinances of the City of Rochester Regarding the Capital Improvements Program Committee


	AGENDA SUBJECT0: Resolution Establishing Creation of the Capital Improvements CIP Committee 
	COUNCIL ACTION ITEM INFORMATION ONLY1: 
	undefined2: On
	undefined_23: Off
	FUNDING REQUIRED YES4: Off
	NO5: On
	RESOLUTION REQUIRED  YES NO6: 
	undefined_37: On
	undefined_48: Off
	FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM YES NO9: 
	undefined_510: Off
	undefined_611: On
	AGENDA DATE12: December 5, 2023
	DEPT HEAD SIGNATURE13: 
	DATE SUBMITTED14: November 29, 2023
	ATTACHMENTS YES NO15: 
	undefined_716: On
	undefined_817: Off
	IF YES ENTER THE  TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES ATTACHED18: 
	COMMITTEE19: 
	CHAIR PERSON20: 
	DEPUTY CITY MANAGER21: 
	CITY MANAGER22: 
	FINANCE OFFICE APPROVAL23: 
	SOURCE OF FUNDS24: 
	ACCOUNT NUMBER25: 
	AMOUNT26: 
	APPROPRIATION REQUIRED27: NO_2
	APPROPRIATION REQUIRED YES NO28: 
	LEGAL AUTHORITY29: State Statute sets out the jurisdiction and purpose of a Capital Improvements Program in RSA 674:5 – 8. The City is enabled to create a 6-year Capital Improvements Program where the Planning Board has adopted a Master Plan. 
	SUMMARY STATEMENT30: The City’s CIP program serves as a cornerstone of the City’s long term planning program. It connects the City’s Capital asset and infrastructure needs to the City’s Land Use Master Plan and allows a measured growth footprint that does not unduly impact the City’s capacity or financial systems.  The sole purpose and effect of the capital improvements program shall be to aid the City Council and City Manager in their consideration of the annual budget.
 
The City’s CIP Committee will be made of the following membership/representatives, who  shall score the proposals based on the criteria.
 
Final Score shall determine rank of projects.
 
3 Members of the Planning Board 
3 Members of the City Council 
2 Members at large – appointed by the City Manager

	RECOMMENDED ACTION31: Approve the Resolution 
	AGENDA SUBJECT32: Revised Chapter 223 Highways and Sidewalks
	COUNCIL ACTION ITEM INFORMATION ONLY33: 
	undefined34: On
	undefined_235: Off
	FUNDING REQUIRED YES36: Off
	NO37: On
	RESOLUTION REQUIRED  YES NO38: 
	undefined_339: On
	undefined_440: Off
	FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM YES NO41: 
	undefined_542: Off
	undefined_643: On
	AGENDA DATE44: November 8, 2023
	DEPT HEAD SIGNATURE45: Peter C. Nourse, P.E., Director of City Services
	DATE SUBMITTED46: 02 November 2023
	ATTACHMENTS YES NO47: 
	undefined_748: Off
	undefined_849: Off
	IF YES ENTER THE  TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES ATTACHED50: 
	COMMITTEE51: 
	CHAIR PERSON52: 
	DEPUTY CITY MANAGER53: 
	CITY MANAGER54: 
	FINANCE OFFICE APPROVAL55: 
	SOURCE OF FUNDS56: 
	ACCOUNT NUMBER57: 
	AMOUNT58: 
	APPROPRIATION REQUIRED59: NO_2
	APPROPRIATION REQUIRED YES NO60: 
	LEGAL AUTHORITY61: City Charter, Section 4: Except as herein provided otherwise, the City Council shall have all powers conferred by law upon City Councils, Boards of Mayor and Aldermen, and the Selectmen of Towns so far as applicable to cities.
	SUMMARY STATEMENT62: In 2020 the City Council directed the Department to update the City Ordinances 
under its charge. 
 
Enclosed are the proposed changes to the Streets and Sidewalks ordinance. The proposed changes reflect a complete overhaul of the existing ordinance. 
 
Please see attached summary memo and attached Registry of Proposed Changes which provides the Council an expedited overview of the proposed changes. 
 
The City Attorney has reviewed the proposed changes. 
	RECOMMENDED ACTION63: City Council review, public hearing and adoption. 
	RECOMMENDED ACTION: City Council review, public hearing and adoption. 
	SUMMARY STATEMENT: In 2020 the City Council directed the Department to update the City Ordinances 
under its charge. 
 
Enclosed are the proposed changes to the Streets and Sidewalks ordinance. The proposed changes reflect a complete overhaul of the existing ordinance. 
 
Please see attached summary memo and attached Registry of Proposed Changes which provides the Council an expedited overview of the proposed changes. 
 
The City Attorney has reviewed the proposed changes. 
	LEGAL AUTHORITY: City Charter, Section 4: Except as herein provided otherwise, the City Council shall have all powers conferred by law upon City Councils, Boards of Mayor and Aldermen, and the Selectmen of Towns so far as applicable to cities.
	APPROPRIATION REQUIRED YES NO: 
	APPROPRIATION REQUIRED: NO_2
	AMOUNT: 
	ACCOUNT NUMBER: 
	SOURCE OF FUNDS: 
	FINANCE OFFICE APPROVAL: 
	CITY MANAGER: 
	DEPUTY CITY MANAGER: 
	CHAIR PERSON: 
	COMMITTEE: 
	 IF YES ENTER THE  TOTAL NUMBER OF PAGES ATTACHED: 
	undefined_8: Off
	undefined_7: Off
	ATTACHMENTS YES NO: 
	DATE SUBMITTED: 02 November 2023
	DEPT HEAD SIGNATURE: Peter C. Nourse, P.E., Director of City Services
	AGENDA DATE: November 8, 2023
	undefined_6: On
	undefined_5: Off
	FUNDING RESOLUTION FORM YES NO: 
	undefined_4: Off
	undefined_3: On
	RESOLUTION REQUIRED  YES NO: 
	NO: On
	FUNDING REQUIRED YES: Off
	undefined_2: Off
	undefined: On
	COUNCIL ACTION ITEM INFORMATION ONLY: 
	AGENDA SUBJECT: Revised Chapter 223 Highways and Sidewalks


